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Major Events of 2011
2011 FEKSERC

JANUARY — H

In January 2011, Hefei Yuzhou Skyline was awarded =
the “2011 The Model Property in Sales and Marketing i
in Anhui” by “The Third Annual Anhui Property N e

Online Ranking” and the “2011 Top Ten Property (T =N LERET |
Developments in Hefei” by “2011 Hefei Property ! B PR e
Billboard”.
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On 21 March 2011, Yuzhou Properties successfully
purchased a land in Jinshan, Shanghai at a
consideration of RMB280 million.

20113 A21H » BINE A2 8B T A RBKINZH S
EETE L [RREE = A B LA b 298855 i 18 o

-|“||-| I|.|.| IIII.IiI-H“ |

||
1]
T ERAAT

On 31 March 2011, Yuzhou Properties
announced its annual results for 2010.
Revenue and profit reached a historical
high, with core operating profit achieving a
substantial increase of 88.5% to RMB757
million.

201143A318 ' @MNHE A #2010F 2 F
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Major Events of 2011
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On 12 May 2011, Yuzhou
Properties successfully
acquired a land in Quanzhou
Fujian Province at a
consideration of RMB166
million through primary and
secondary development.
The purchased land plot is
approximately 125,000 sg.m.
in size, with a planned GFA of
approximately 491,800 sqg.m..
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On 31 May 2011, Yuzhou Properties held
its Annual General Meeting. Chairman
Lam Lung On chaired the meeting, with all
resolutions passed by Shareholders.

201195318 ' @M ERBPREFF KX
g HAREHBMNEESREBNELR
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Despite the credit tightening pressure on property developers, BEREMERSIEEZHNESN  2ME
Yuzhou Properties was granted a loan facility of RMB300 B D BlIpkTh#EEFIMA BEES T A B4R
million each from Bank of China in Xiamen and Bank of fTHAMXBIEITEAREIBITHNEEREE -
Communications in Hefei respectively.
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JULY £ A

On 1 July 2011, Yuzhou Properties’ first residential
project in Quanzhou — Yuzhou City Plaza held a grand 3 &
commencement ceremony to highlight the Groups Frn i ,_._mll_,_“,.'
breakthrough in development in the West Strait ¥ :
Economic Zone.
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On 25 August 2011, the Boao Forum — 2011 China Properties
Development and Ceremony of China Property Ranking was
held in Hainan Boao, China. Yuzhou Properties received three
awards in the event, namely “2011 The Most Valuable Brand
of China Property Sector”, “2011 Ten Best Leaders in China
Property Sector — Mr. Lam Lung On” and “2011 The Ten Model
Properties with Best Living Environment — Yuzhou Shoreline”.

201148H25H  BER B PEEHEZEE2011F = EiRiE
B0 R EEHEREHTER TR MmISEEERT
SMNERERNARG =I5 AR RMELE 20119
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On 31 August 2011, Yuzhou Properties held a
presentation for its interim results in Island Shangri-La
Hotel, Hong Kong. Chairman Lam Lung On presented
the corporate development strategies to almost 60
representatives from investment banks and financial
institutions.

201158 AR RMMEERERNESEREREE
RITPHRERM S - MEEL T EMIT60MI IR ERITH
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Major Events of 2011

2011 FEEKER
OCTOBER 1+ A
In October 2011, Yuzhou Properties repurchased a portion of 2011108 » A 71 i@ A 2R38 & (5 @ B8 20
the issued senior notes in US dollar by internal cash reserves. DETLRRAZE

NOVEMBER +— H

On 20 November 2011, the sales center of
Quanzhou Yuzhou City Plaza opened for visit
and attracted dozens of media and over 200
groups of customers.

20114E11 208 » SN &M o 3 T [ 15 & 84

DB A BIR - HOPE T B+ R 1288 2005 4
EEEIEEME.

In December 2011, Shanghai Yuzhou Land Dream was 20114E128 @ L/ @ MNe eE B4 ESE — 1
awarded “The Most Popular Property” by First Property [H{EAGESR| K [2011 B EFESEEE
and “2011 The Property with Highest Investment Value in (@ mmE iy 818 55N o i1 B 18
Shanghai”; Shanghai Yuzhou City Plaza was awarded “2012 KO [2012 LS E/EHSIERE ] -

The Most Anticipated Property in Shanghai”.
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHRE

To Shareholders:

| am pleased to present the annual results of Yuzhou Properties
Company Limited (“Yuzhou Properties” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) on behalf of the board of directors
(the “Board”) of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2011.

Year 2011 was a year of transition for the PRC’s property market
that brought both challenges and opportunities to Yuzhou
Properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, turnover and
gross profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB3,839.08 million and RMB1,884.46 million, respectively,
representing a decrease of 10.0% and an increase of 6.0%,
respectively, as compared with last year. Gross profit margin
was 49.1%, representing an increase of 7.4 percentage
points, as compared with last year. Profit for the year
was approximately RMB941.63 million and the net profit
margin was approximately 24.5%, representing a decrease
of approximately 2.3% and an increase of approximately
1.9 percentage points, respectively, as compared with last
year. The basic earnings per share were RMB39 cents,
representing a decrease of 2.5%, as compared with last year.
Core profit attributable to shareholders was approximately
RMB582.99 million. Core Profit attributable to shareholders
for second half year was approximately RMB574.52
million, representing an increase of 6,883.0% and 91.2%,
respectively, as compared with the first half year of 2011 and
the corresponding period of 2010.

BURR:
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DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of HK4 cents
per share and a bonus issue of 2 bonus shares for every 10
existing shares held.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2011, the most concerned topic of the PRC property market
was the macro control implemented by the central government.
In order to deflate the property bubble, the government imposed
credit tightening measures and purchase restrictions on property
markets in major cities to rationalize property prices, thus
ensuring a sustainable market and growth. This was a turning
point for the property market: since September 2011, property
markets in the first tier cities started to see the stubborn volume
and price finally falling at the same time. And by November in the
same year, this falling trend spread to second and third tier cities,
as once inelastic nature of property demand has succumbed to
the persistent suppressing measures. In addition, according to
the 12th five-year plan, the scale of social security housing has
been further expanded with the construction of over 4 million
units of social security housing which will naturally consume a
considerable portion of purchasing power for property. Under
such circumstances, property developers took more conservative
approaches with prudent cash flow management. And those
developers with weak financial resources started to fall over, and
that only fuelled the market consolidation further. Against such a
backdrop, Yuzhou Properties still recorded contracted sales of
RMB4,296 million in 2011.

Yuzhou Properties has adopted a prudent approach in this
tough market, concentrating its business strategically in the
West Strait Economic Zone while at the same time cautiously
expanding nationwide. In 2011, Yuzhou Properties achieved
a total contracted sales of RMB4,296 million, with an average
selling price of RMB8,926 per sg.m., from its 14 projects located
in Xiamen, Fuzhou, Shanghai, and Hefei. It launched 11 projects
in its core market of the West Strait Economic Zone. This area

11
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accounted for 64% of total contracted sales, of which 8 projects
or 43% were from Xiamen and 3 projects or 21% were from
Fuzhou. The Group sold a total GFA of 481,258 sqg.m., where
Xiamen and Fuzhou accounted for 43% and 10%, respectively.
Three major projects, namely Phase Il of Yuzhou University
City, Phase Il of Yuzhou Oriental Venice and Phase Il of Yuzhou
Skyline contributed 16%, 13% and 18%, respectively to the total
contracted sales in 2011.

LAND RESERVES

As of 31 December 2011, the aggregate saleable GFA of the
Group’s land reserves was 5.29 million sg.m. They are mainly
located in the West Strait Economic Zone, Yangtze River Delta
Region and Bohai Rim Region, with a proportion of 58%, 33%
and 9% of the total saleable GFA, respectively. Two land parcels
were acquired in 2011 with a total GFA of 700,000 sg.m. In
March 2011, the Group acquired a land in Shanghai at an
average land cost of RMB1,324 per sq.m. The GFA was 211,418
sg.m. and the land can be developed into a SOHO-style office
tower. In May 2011, the Group acquired its first land parcel in
Quanzhou. The GFA was 491,800 sg.m. with an average land
cost of RMB338. This project was collaborated with the local
government and has further reinforced the Group’s leading
position in the West Strait Economic Zone. The land in Quanzhou
can be developed into residential, office and commercial
properties.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

In the second half of 2011, the Group timely slowed down its
land acquisition cautiously, with an aim to enhance its cash
flow. Rental income for 2011 amounted to RMB59.54 million,
reaching a record high since the establishment of the Group.
Our investment properties have maintained a relatively high
occupancy rate; of which, Xiamen World Trade Center Phase
| and Il achieved over 90% of occupancy rate on average and
received “Xiamen Business Landmark Top 10 — Urban Trendy
Prize” from Xiamen Municipal Bureau of Commerce. The stable
rental income has backed the Group with a higher capacity for
steady cash inflow and becomes more important for the growth
of the Group.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Pursuing its corporate mission of “Serve the community and
requite the community”(fR 7+t & - Bl w4t &), the Group
has been actively committed to its social responsibility since
its incorporation. Alongside the Company’s development, we
always keep this in our mind. Yuzhou Properties has placed as
much emphasis upon fulfilling its social responsibilities of being a
good corporate citizen. During the year, the Group continued to
make contributions in various charity areas, including education,
art, poverty relief and national constructions. Total donations
amounted to over RMB3 million.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

2011 was a year of structural reform for the PRC property
market. The macro control implemented by the central
government put an end to the golden decade of rapid growth
in the property market as well as significantly slowed down the
market activities. Since the beginning of 2011, the government
deployed monetary tightening measures against the property
market, followed by restrictions on house purchasing and
the enlarged scale of social security housing, which led to
a turnaround point in the property market that resulted in a
significant drop in sales volume and price in late 2011. Most
of the developers have been influenced heavily by the macro
adjustments and some major concerns have popped up: (1) cash
flow management and financing; and (2) property sales.
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In view of this situation, Yuzhou Properties has planned a
series of strategies to tackle the difficulties. Yuzhou Properties
determines to be the leader in the West Strait Economic Zone.
Most of our projects are located in this area where we have
attained competitive advantages in land reserve and market
share. The Group has also stayed prominently in the top three
positions of property sales in the area. With our extensive social
network in Fujian and the surrounding regions, the Group will
continue to seize opportunities to collaborate with the local
government, and seek to replicate the successful track record
of the Quanzhou project acquired in May 2011. Learning from
the lesson in 2011, the Group’s project launch schedule will
be more evenly spread throughout the year to allow greater
flexibility. Targeting the solid demand from end users in Xiamen,
apartments will be our key focus in our product portfolio whereas
villas will be the minority. The stable sales in the West Strait
Economic Zone will be the key to drive Yuzhou Properties’ growth
during this challenging time in the property market.

Another priority for Yuzhou Properties in 2012 is to strengthen
our cash flow management and financial control. The financial
burden from land acquisition is relatively small, except a payment
of RMB110 million for land premium is expected to be due
within the year. Given the unused credit facilities of RMB3 billion
as at the end of 2011 and the lower loan interest through our
well-established regional relationship with the four largest state-
owned banks (weighted average interest rate of onshore and
offshore funding is as low as 9.1%), we believe that the Group
has sufficient capital for future development. Moreover, Yuzhou
Properties will also accelerate the inventory turnover to fortify
cash inflow.

2012 is expected to be another difficult year for the property
sector with intensified competition and consolidation. Yuzhou
Properties will face all upcoming challenges with a continual
effort to adhere to our faith and our mission in “building towns
with heart and building homes with love”( JA 5 22 3k - LA B 58
%), and with an unswerving dedication to deliver profitability and
sustainability.
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PROSPECT

The central government is determined to maintain curbs over the
PRC’s property market, aiming at bringing property prices down
to a reasonable level. The biggest challenge for developers will
be the sluggish sales volume in the market. As the consolidation
becomes more severe, weaker players lacking competitive edges
and financing resources will continue to be pushed out creating
new business opportunities for developers who have sufficient
funding and stable sales to further their pursuits. Under this
backdrop, Yuzhou Properties will move forward with its healthy
financial strength, flexible pricing strategy, and competitive
advantages in the West Strait Economic Zone, thereby delivering
satisfactory results to our shareholders.

Lam Lung On
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBEBZEmETH

BUSINESS REVIEW

2011 was a year with deepened policy tightening towards
property sector. The threat of global economic recession and the
spread of Europe’s financial crisis cast a shadow on the property
market in China. Against such challenging conditions, the Group
has taken timely measures to respond to market changes
capitalising on its strengths, such as 18 years of professional
experience in property development, competent management
team, superior land bank and steady financial performance, with
effective property development plan and marketing strategy, thus
obtaining satisfactory results.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

During the year, turnover of the Group was RMB3,839.08 million,
representing a decrease of 10.0% as compared with the previous
year. Gross profit was RMB1,884.46 million, representing an
increase of 6.0% as compared with the previous year. Gross
profit margin was 49.1%. Profit attributable to shareholders was
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RMB941.63 million and basic earnings per share was RMB39
cents. Core profit attributable to shareholders amounted to
RMB582.99 million while core basic earnings per share was
RMB24 cents. The Board proposed a final dividend of HK$96
million (HK4 cents per share) and a bonus issue of 2 bonus
shares for every 10 existing shares held for the year ended 31
December 2011.

LAND RESERVES

The Group possesses quality land reserves at low cost. As at
31 December 2011, the aggregate GFA of the Group’s land
reserves was 5.29 million sg.m., located in six first and second
tier cities in the West Strait Economic Zone, the Yangtze River
Delta Region and Bohai Rim Region, with an average land cost
of approximately RMB1,481 per sg.m. In view of the primary
land development qualification of two projects obtained by the
Company, the Group believes that its land reserves currently held
and managed are sufficient for future development over a period
of five to six years.

BN ERBERA A
—T——FFHR
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EEE & Wm R0

BREAREFABAREION - WREMHZOLE
A AREESES 2008 T FRAZLEREF
BARK24AD - EEGREFREHE20115F12
A318 R Hi % 2 89,6008 T ' Bl & %8
B4 A R E B A 100 R A IR IR X 2[R AL
% o

TR

AEEBRBEEMERNAN T HFEHE - EE
20115124318 - AL EK T M FEFEH A AT 435
EEAMBESE T H K FHEAKAS
FHAKHAREET4817T D BRI MG - K&
ZARRIENE— R - iR FE
SHRE—R T HAEEEMNIEER AEEE
EIRERA REIRMN LR R SR E B KK
AEANFHEET R

Yuzhou Golf
BileESEX
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Saleable GFA of Land Reserves (sq.m.)
T REEOTHEEEEERR (FHK)
As at 31 December 2011

2011612 HA31H

West Strait Economic Zone & & % &

Xiamen =P 2,220,669 .

Fuzhou = 334,345 B

Quanzhou SN 491,800 \

Sub-total INEF 3,046,814

Yangtze River Delta Region & = f & [E 3

Shanghai fnpi! 597,200 7y oL

Hefei A 1,142,308 ¢

Sub-total NGE 1,739,508

Bohai Rim Region R RERE .

Tianjin Xz 499,198 MR iamen P
[ Fuzhou @M

Sub-total NEF 499,198 I Hefei &2

- I Tianjin XE

Total %v@xﬁ‘l’ 5.285,520 - Shanghai o

I Quanzhou SN

Primary Land Development Qualification (sq.m.)
—RETEREE (FHK)
As at 31 December 2011

20119128318

West Strait Economic Zone & & & [

Quanzhou RN 1,746,200*
Bohai Rim Region RHERERE

Beijing Bl 1,946,676
Total st 3,692,876

It represents the aggregate GFA agreed under the framework
agreement

* I A HE 2R 1 o 6 T B AR R SR T AR

** It represents the site area under the framework agreement
SRR 0 R T B Quanzhou i
[ Bejjing b5
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During the year, the Group acquired 2 new parcels of quality A+ AREBEHIE A28 E S b3k - 4E 0] EiE5E
land with an aggregate GFA of 703,218 sg.m., at an average [ &703,218%F J5 2K » “F 1918 1 Ak 28 A8 K
land cost of approximately RMB634 per sq.m., which is far RWHEKFE  BLHBFHRKARBEE34T %S5
below the market level. The new parcels of land acquired are  ¥E& AR IR RN N & - FEH Al AR K
located in Shanghai and Quanzhou, and are expected to provide —ZE=FAEERHHENDOH-
satisfactory returns to the Group in the next three to four years.

Particulars of these parcels of land are set out in the following &R &5 ZE MRS
table:

West Strait Economic Zone

BEKER

Phase | of City Plaza* Quanzhou 166,000 491,800 338
YR TH 3% — HR S

Yangtze River Delta Region

R=EAEHE

Jinshan site Shanghai 280,000 211,418 1,324
calp: b =

Total 446,000 703,218 634
At

*

After the primary land development on this project, the Group — * ZMBMAAREBEI T R THFHEE  BAR
acquired it through public bidding and auction. FHERLS -
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SALE OF PROPERTIES MHEE
Recognized area sold and recognized sales of each project in K& &7 & EE B R2011FEMERBEEEE
2011 are set out in the following table: RIEREE R

West Strait Economic Zone

BT R

Yuzhou Castle above City Xiamen 1,656,711 108,744 15,235

SN o Ik 3k Er

Phase Il of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 905,045 138,464 6,536

BN o Kk — HA =

Phase Il of Yuzhou Oriental Venice Fuzhou 404,078 26,471 15,265

BN o R EEHT —HA =

Yuzhou Gushan No. One Fuzhou 286,556 15,041 19,052

SN e Bl —5% 2N

Yuzhou World Trade Center Xiamen 105,573 4,650 22,704

BN o & AL Er

Phase | of Yuzhou Oriental Venice Fuzhou 99,398 10,687 9,301

RN o T EEHT—HA &M

Yuzhou Galaxy Garden Xiamen 54,727 10,453 5,236
(Champagne City)

2N e 2MIEE (HHEH) =

Phase | of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 47,470 2,250 21,098

RN o RZE5k —HA EF

Yuzhou Golden Seacoast Xiamen 24,908 6,503 3,830

BN e EFLEF EF9

Others Xiamen 33,077 3,142 10,527

HAh =

Sub-total 3,617,543 326,405 11,083

NET

Yangtze River Delta Region

R=EAEBH

Phase | of Yuzhou Skyline Hefei 114,047 23,628 4,827

BN o KI5 —Hf &

Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 3,775 568 6,646

BN & ©E R &

Sub-total 117,822 24,196 4,869

INEE

Total 3,735,365 350,601 10,654

st
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During 2011, the Group’s recognized sales and area sold
were RMB3,735.37 million and 350,601 sg.m., representing
a decrease of 11.0% and 33.6% respectively as compared
with 2010. The average selling price per sq.m. increased from
RMB7,947 in 2010 to RMB10,654 in 2011.

Recognized area sold and recognized sales of each project in
2010 are set out in the following table:

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER
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BB Z & R

201145 - AEERRHEESHANRARES7
183,537 7t * if #E 7R 45 & E & A350,601F 77
K E20104F 5 Bl P#11.0% %.33.6% ° M
FHARFHEEINA2010F K AREET7,9477T
EAE2011FEMARE10,6547T

TREHIEEEE R2010F M R HEEIE
KIERHELR:

West Strait Economic Zone

BRI

Yuzhou Golden Seacoast Xiamen 1,009,387 115,864 8,712

Bl e EBRER =

Phase | of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 805,663 191,259 4,212

Bl o REH —H =

Yuzhou World Trade Center Xiamen 742,793 52,975 14,022

BN o B =

Yuzhou Galaxy Garden Xiamen 347,873 38,752 8,977
(Champagne City)

Bl o 2MIERE (FEM) =

Others Xiamen 50,249 7,488 6,711

HAth =

Sub-total 2,955,965 406,338 7,275

Nt

Yangtze River Delta Region

REZAESE

Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 906,054 58,127 15,587

Bl e &R =H L8

Phase | of Yuzhou Skyline Hefei 218,824 56,923 3,844

Bl e RIFE—H ahe

Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 117,194 6,894 16,999

Bl e EREER —H !

Sub-total 1,242,072 121,944 10,186

et

Total 4,198,037 528,282 7,947

st
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Contracted sales and area of each project in 2011 are set outin =~ RN REHJIZ BB R2011FEN S LNIHE L EE
the following table: i :

West Strait Economic Zone

B EE

Phase Il of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 683,867 93,393 7,322
(Huandong International)

SN o KBk —Hf GREEE) Er

Phase Il of Yuzhou Oriental Venice Fuzhou 567,830 29,691 19,125

RN o T EEHT —HA @

Yuzhou Castle above City Xiamen 404,141 23,063 17,523
(Diyuan Manor)

SN e 3k B3k (#FoTilAE) EF

Yuzhou Gu Shan No. One Fuzhou 291,696 15,372 18,976

SN e B L —5R &M

Yuzhou Sunshine Garden Xiamen 289,214 42,314 6,835

BN o BF K IEHK EF

Yuzhou Shoreline Xiamen 210,221 16,375 12,838

= = Bis] =

Yuzhou Golf Xiamen 66,260 5,750 11,524

=AREST: P =1

Phase | of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 52,246 2,575 20,290

BN o KEyk —Hj EF

Yuzhou Central Coast Xiamen 41,677 5,006 8,325

BN e ARG F EF

Phase | of Yuzhou Oriental Venice Fuzhou 32,452 2,204 14,724

SN o B EEHT —HA =

Others Xiamen 112,977 19,242 5,871

H At EF9

Sub-total 2,752,581 254,985 10,795

Nt

Yangtze River Delta Region

R=AEH

Phase Il of Yuzhou Skyline Hefei 789,406 156,281 5,051

@ o KI5 —Hf &

Phase IV of Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 472,671 22,150 21,340
(Land Dream)

BM o« B R IUE (EE =

Phase | of Yuzhou Skyline Hefei 262,560 47,2683 5,55

BN e R3F—H ahe

Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 18,730 579 32,349

BN e BB =5 &

Sub-total 1,543,367 226,273 6,821

INFT

Total 4,295,948 481,258 8,926

#Et
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During 2011, the Group’s contracted sales and area sold
were RMB4,295.95 million and 481,258 sqg.m., representing
a decrease of 17.7% and an increase of 26.3% respectively
as compared with 2010. The average selling price per sg.m.
decreased from RMB13,692 in 2010 to RMB8,926 in 2011.

Contracted sales and area of each project in 2010 are set out in
the following table:

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER

Management Discussion and Analysis

BB Z & R

2011 - AEESHHESERARKEWE
9,5958 7T & i & E & /481,258 F 77K -
E2010F 55 B T BE17.7% K £ F26.3% ° T &
FEHAEGHHEE FHEENH010500AR
#13,6027T P& ZE201146 0 AR #8,9267T °

TREHIEHEBN2010FNEHNHES R
[ER

West Strait Economic Zone

BEEE

Yuzhou Castle above City Xiamen 1,569,180 97,317 16,124
(Diyuan Manor)

B o 3 B3 (ATl ) =

Yuzhou Golden Seacoast Xiamen 668,835 40,457 16,532

BN e EERBE =

Yuzhou Gu Shan No. One Fuzhou 571,417 22,550 25,340

Bl o BRI —5% &M

Phase Il of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 561,676 84,074 6,681
(Huandong International)

BN o R — 8 (REREKR) =

Phase | of Yuzhou Oriental Venice Fuzhou 432,742 20,752 20,853

Bl o 75 ke Hr — Hf 2

Yuzhou World Trade Center Xiamen 394,113 20,932 18,828

BN o AL =

Yuzhou Galaxy Garden (Champagne City) Xiamen 68,331 10,469 6,527

Bl o 2MIERE (FEM) B

Phase | of Yuzhou University City Xiamen 62,276 7,792 7,992

Bl o R —H =

Others Xiamen 104,276 14,483 7,200

HA EF

Sub-total 4,432,846 318,826 13,904

Nt
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Saleable Average
Name of Project City Amount GFA Selling Price
AT
HE &R B (] EEEE FHEE
(RMB’000) (sg.m.) (RMB)
(AR®FT) (FFK) (AR®)
Yangtze River Delta Region
REZAREH
Phase lll of Yuzhou Jingiao International Shanghai 290,458 10,358 28,042
Bl e £BEIR =5 B
Phase | of Yuzhou Skyline Hefei 204,078 41,533 4,914
BN o RiFE—HA & e
Phase | and Phase Il of Shanghai 181,153 4,828 37,521
Yuzhou Jingiao International
(residual part)
Bl e /K — —H (B&) !
Phase IV of Yuzhou Jingiao Shanghai 108,739 5,488 19,814
International (Land Dream)
Bl e BERME (S !
Sub-total 784,428 62,207 12,610
Nt
Total 5,217,274 381,033 13,692
et

Bl ER =
=8 N TE TE
NN S == @E i
i =] m i
pu BT EH Ll W

* Yuzhou Central Coast
BillehRiBE
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Phase | and Phase Il of Yuzhou World Trade
Center (Xiamen)

The revenue of Yuzhou World Trade Center during the year was
derived from the shopping mall and amounted to RMB42.81
million (2010: RMB29.53 million), representing an increase of
45.0%. During the year, the mall at Phase | of World Trade Center
continued to maintain a high occupancy rate of approximately
100% (2010: 100%). The occupancy rate of Phase Il of
World Trade Center was 88% (2010: 84%) and we expect
the occupancy rate of this project will increase to the level of
Phase | of World Trade Center in the future. The mall not only
managed to retain its existing tenants but also attracted certain
renowned brands as new tenants including PCD Stores, Walmart,
Starbucks and Sony etc.

- "y g
Yuz-hou World Trade Center Phase |
o B et E AL —H

BMERNERAF
—E——FFR

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEZFmETH

YxRE
sMtEERO-— 28 (EF)

BiM ettt BR LB ARBEY PO FRE
ANR#4,2818 7T (20104 : AR¥E2 9538 7T)
# iR B45.0% ° F A -t E b — HEE Y D
BT = KR H E 2 49100% (2010%F -
100% ) » it 88 m 0 — HA H A 2R 588% (2010
F:84%) EBBHZEBEMNLEARRRR
CEAZHEFRL—HAKTE - KB O
NRBIRAW RS FN AL @ENERERR
B ARG EERREREREAH-

-4

ALY

B et B AL T
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Yuzhou Golden Seacoast (Xiamen)

The Yuzhou World Trade Plaza (&l e 8 A& E %) project
has a saleable area of approximately 40,000 sg.m. which
comprises Phase | and Phase II. Solicitation of retail tenants
will be carried out in phases. The plaza will be our commercial
flagship in Hai Cang District with large-scale complexes,
supermarkets and department stores. Initial business solicitation
for the commercial section is still in progress. We expect that
Yuzhou World Trade Plaza will generate a considerable increase
in rental income for the Group in the future.

Phase |, Phase Il and Phase Ill of Yuzhou
Jingiao International (Shanghai)

Yuzhou Jingiao International is designed as a one-stop
commercial complex of saleable area with approximately 14,000
sg.m. and features certain famous brands. Operations for Phase
| and Phase IlI, comprising a saleable area of approximately 8,500
sg.m., had been carried out. Business solicitation for Phase
lIl has been finished and the operation had commenced, thus
generating rental income. The rental income was RMB8.61 million
for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB2.28 million).

aMEGEEE (EM)
REAEAANEERENIBT I AROR
e E AR — ZHER - SRS
TRE HBERERMERE KRS
Bh BE— A2 -ESNERBENS
RPBHBN o tH B 4EFES S EEEAKL
B S U AADE EF o

BiMEEER—H
)

BN S BEK MR A HEEEBER4
BEAFARN—HAES TRAREBAROA
§to Hep—HY - — HiR) AT 85 S E 15 498,500
AR WERAEE  M=EEIEIAE TRA
7 B RTARR S WA - # 1E20116 12 531
RS WA BARES61EIT (20104 : ARE
2088 L) °

—HR=#H (L

—-.-""'frt

Yuzhou Jingiao International Phase |, Phase Il and Phase Il
BiMeEBER—H ZHRER=H

28



HOTEL OPERATION

The Group continues to expand the hotel business in a sound
and prudent manner so as to build a diversified property portfolio.
We believe the expansion into the hotel industry would widen
sources and stability of revenue, and reduce the risks of over-
reliance on any particular real estate segment. The hotel project
of the Group is still under development and construction. There
was no income generated from hotel operations during the year.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group aims at providing quality property management
services to, and creating a warm and harmonious community for,
our respected residents. The Group is committed to continuously
improving the living environment and enhancing service quality in
order to maintain high level of customer satisfaction.

In 2011, the property management service companies of the
Group recorded property management fee income of RMB52.3
million, representing an increase of 54.4% as compared with
2010. As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate GFA managed
by the property management service companies of the Group
in the Mainland China was over 180 million sg.m., and these
companies serviced more than 16,000 owners.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group increased by 6.0% from
RMB1,777.38 million in 2010 to approximately RMB1,884.46
million in 2011. The gross profit margin increased from 41.7%
in 2010 to 49.1% in 2011. It was mainly due to an increase in
average selling price resulting from the changes of the project
portfolio. The ratio of land cost to average selling price was
maintained at a reasonably low level of 16.6%, and this ratio is
expected to remain at a low level in the coming years.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased by 4.07 times from RMB18.40
million in 2010 to RMB93.37 million in 2011. It was mainly due to
the recognition of net gain on disposal of investment properties of
RMB37.03 million during the year.

EXPENSES ON SELLING AND MARKETING
COSTS

Selling and marketing expenses of the Group increased by
80.6% from approximately RMB64.43 million in 2010 to
approximately RMB116.36 million in 2011. It was mainly due to
the extensive promotional programs for new property projects.
Substantial investment for advertising in the market increased
the costs of advertising by 167.3%, from approximately
RMB28.07 million in 2010 to approximately RMB75.03 million in
2011. In addition, pre-sale of new property projects, including
Yuzhou Shoreline, Yuzhou Golf and Yuzhou Central Coast etc,
commenced in 2011, which also led to a rise in selling and
marketing costs during the year.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by 50.4% from
approximately RMB106.23 million in 2010 to approximately
RMB159.76 million in 2011. It was mainly because of more
experienced personnel recruited by the Group, and due to the
increase of more resources input for the subsidiaries in Beijing,
Tianjin, Quanzhou, Shanghai and Hefei. We expect administrative
expenses would remain stable in the coming years.

FAIR VALUE GAINS ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Fair value gains on investment properties increased from
RMB276.02 million in 2010 to RMB478.18 million in 2011. It was

mainly resulted from Yuzhou Square and Phase IV of Yuzhou
Jingiao International.
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Profit attributable to shareholders decreased by 2.3% from
approximately RMB963.60 million in 2010 to approximately
RMB941.63 million in 2011. Core profit attributable to
shareholders decreased by 22.9% from approximately
RMB756.59 million in 2010 to RMB582.99 million.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

BORROWINGS

The Group will continue to comply with the prudent financial
policies. As at 31 December 2011, the Group had bank loans
and bonds balance of RMB5,556.76 million, with maturities as
follows:

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER

Management Discussion and Analysis
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iR 3R BB 415 57

5% B2 A5 )5 R 20104 49 A R #59126,36085 7T
A2 3% E2011EH AR EIES 1638 7T  I%
HEEAZOFEBIR2010F 4 A R 785,659

e —

BT N #22.9% % A R#56188,2998 7T

81 755 [0 EA

R

RNEEGEEBRFENT IR - 1201146
128318 AEEMRITERREFBEBAA
R¥&55185,6768 L BRI T ¢

Within 1 year 1F 2K 1,335,211 1,038,023
1 to 2 years 1526 7 1,523,386 294,400
2 to 5 years 2FE5F 2 [H 2,431,659 3,142,347
Over 5 years b s Rakad 266,502 305,000
Total &3 5,556,758 4,779,770

As at 31 December 2011, the bank borrowings of the Group
was RMB3,035.06 million, and was secured by the investment
properties and properties under development of the Group with
an aggregate carrying value of RMB4,709.13 million.
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GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2011, the net current assets of the Group
increased by 12.2% to RMB6,054.04 million as compared with
2010. The current ratio decreased from 1.98 times in 2010 to
1.79 times in 2011. As at 31 December 2011, the net debt to
equity ratio (interest-bearing bank and other borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash divided by total equity)
of the Group increased to 63.7% (2010: 42.4%). It was mainly
due to cash proceeds from contracted sales were insufficient
to settle the land lease payments and construction expenses in
2011. We expect to see a considerable decrease in this rate in
2012 because of the improvement for proceeds from contracted
sales and revenue recognized.

FINANCE EXPENSES

During the year, the total cost of borrowings of the Group
was RMB506.78 million, an increase by RMB328.51 million
as compared with 2010, of which RMB350.54 million were
capitalised as cost of projects, representing an increase of
RMB211.46 million as compared with 2010.

&
Gl
-
-
1
"
-

BELR

MR2011F12H31 8 NE B R ENE EF L
2010F B IN12.2% = A R #60185,4048 7T

i 7% ) kb 2 F20104F /91,9815 T % £20114F
791,791 - R2011F 128318  AEBEHF &
B R R A1 E63.7% (2010%F 1 42.4% )
(FREBHEREEARTERREMEER
FHEESERZRFARESHBAZRAE) -t B
BLEEH LAFZERABMEFEOHER
RARAT LR TREMSY - RITEES
FENBEERFRNAE FEENHERARR
WA EEE g B RE-

MBEER

FR AEEMBREFRKARBARKSE78E
JC 82010F EFFARKSE2,851& L R E
e AT B AR £ 58 A A RHE31E5,054
BT B2010F LA AR B2E1, 1468 T

Yuzhou Central Coast
Bille PRGE
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CURRENCY RISK

The proportions of bank borrowings, bonds, senior notes balance
and cash balance of the Group in terms of currencies were as
follows:

BHMBERDERAA
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EIEE 25w R
E¥ER
AEBOBRITHER B BERERERR

SREBNEREBLLHINT

HK$ g 810,438 9,547
RMB AR 3,386,965 1,916,520
us$ X 1,359,355 29,032
SG$ o = 1,438
Total &5 5,556,758 1,956,537

Operations of the Group are almost wholly conducted in
RMB. Apart from the cash at bank, bonds and senior notes
denominated in foreign currencies, there would have no material
impact on the Group’s profit during the year and there would
result in a decrease in other components of the Group’s equity by
RMB20,630,000 (2010: RMB23,910,000) in 2011.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provides buy-back guarantees to banks, which
offered mortgages to domestic properties buyers in the Mainland
China of the Group. As at 31 December 2011, undue buy-
back guarantees amounted to RMB4,171.66 million (2010:
RMB3,205.72 million).

RETURN ON EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2011, return on equity
represented profit attributable to shareholders divided by the
average of equity attributable to shareholders of the Company
at beginning and end of the year. Return on equity in 2011 was
19%.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE BERER

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit —EIXEREFIMFTE 755 AA D BIAL R A FEY
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted — FJEFRAFAE /TR Z B INEFHEE -
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2011 2010
Profit attributable to shareholders of A EIIRER e (R FE 941,628 963,601
the Company (RMB’000) (AR®BTT)
Less: fair value gains on investment B BRIRER BRI E Y 358,635 207,012
properties, net of deferred tax N EREE
(RMB’000) (AR¥TFT)
Core profit attributable to shareholders of ZN/A & i% 5 & {65 4% 0 F B 582,993 756,589
the Company (RMB’000) (ARETIT)
Weighted average number of ordinary EEIT T BIRMNE T E 2,400,000 2,400,000
shares in issue ('000) (LAF5H)
Basic earnings per share (RMB per share) & % £ 78 2 7| 0.39 0.40
(BRAR®ET)
Core earnings per share (RMB per share) & Bz 02 F| 0.24 0.32
(BRRAR®IT)

As the warrant outstanding during the year ended 31 December ~ FHREZ2011F12 831 BFZ N H AR TEHR
2011 had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per amount,  IEIEZENFZ EH 25N ESRER DT B A5 Kk #
diluted earnings per share was the same as basic earnings per SEME - HEFREHE 2 R B GRS EAFEMAR -
share. The core profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 772 &A% 5 5 1200 F) B8 A A A 7] IR R e (5 7]
is the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company excluding IR ENIREME QN BEUKES -
fair value gains on investment properties net of deferred tax.

I g
Yuzhou Oriental Venice Phase Il

Bille RARCHT =
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COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had commitments
in respect of development expenditure on real estate of
approximately RMB1,518.50 million (approximately RMB1,393.97
million in 2010). The Group also committed to the payment of
land premium in respect of land acquisition of approximately
RMB110.70 million (approximately RMB1,698.00 million in 2010).

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group is led by an experienced and professional
management team. Since the establishment of the Group in
1994, the Group has been undergoing rapid development
and expansion under the leadership of the Board. Senior
management has on average 17 years’ experience in properties
development industry and over 10 years’ experience for most
of the senior executives. The Group has also recruited overseas
talents with professional qualifications to join our management
team. With the strong leadership and international insight of the
management as well as effective execution, together with strict
implementation of the best international practices according to
the actual situation of the Company, the Group has become one
of the strongest real estate developers in the PRC within a short
period of time.

We believed that the competence of human resources,
particularly the senior executives and professional project
management team, is of critical importance to maintaining the
strong competitive strengths of the Group. The Group aims to
achieve and exceed the international standard of outstanding
performance through compliance with the best international
practice in respect of strict management system and corporate
governance.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a total staff of 1,538.
For the year ended 31 December 2011, the total staff costs
(including directors’ fees) amounted to RMB42.86 million
(RMB30.99 million in 2010).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE & Wm R0

iR

R2011F12A31 8 A& B EHERER
A HE #) A R #515181,8508 7T (2010F 49 A
R¥13189,3978 7T) - AL E AR ik
BIAHTERSOARK1E0708 T
(2010F 49 A R #16189,8008 1) °

ANER
AEEREREENEXEEERREE &
Fo g AEBER1994F K LA R —HHEER
SEREERRIAE SREEENYERRE
TEFEBITFER - KBS BRITBAE
RULITEFHHEERBIBI0F LR - REE I E
BAIEERNEGNESMABTERK @B
EEE® M A N EGEIRR AR5 A R B
WIT UREE QR ERIBEREZENEITEER
SEEM AREEREREAKATE&A
BEONEHERERZ —-

BPREARENANEREN LEEER
TBRABRBXEBEBEER SHERAE
BB ARFEEIFEE - AEEHERB
BREENEEEARGEEANBERRES
{5 DA S B B BR B RIB AR F -

MR2011F12A31H - A& E £ F1,538% E
B o F2011F12A318 I FEEEBKRA
(BREZBE)R/AREL2868E T (20105
ARHE3,0008 T) °
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LOCATIONS OFPROJECTS
JE H 7 i B

Tianjin Shanghai Fuzhou Xiamen Quanzhou
N J:¢ =W M
Yuzhou Palace Yuzhou Skyline Yuzhou Land Dream Yuzhou Gushan Yuzhou World Trade Center ~ Yuzhou City Plaza
Country " s Ml 2 2 No. One Bl o B Phase |
Bl o B e [ - BMlegrl—gr  (AUESHOY gy mg
) Yuzhou City Plaza fﬁ)ﬂ] . é%f;&t e ’
S« 1 e e Yuzhou Oriental uzhou Castle above City
BM MRS onice B o B8

. Yuzhou Sunshine Garden

BMeRITEEH  mh v mwien
Yuzhou Golf
Bl e BAX
Yuzhou Shoreline
Bl e B
Yuzhou Central Coast
B o R
Yuzhou Riverside City Town
Bl o R
Yuzhou Cloud Top
International
il « ETEEI
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EX)
Saleable GFA of Land Reserves (sq.m.)
T RENTHEEEERSE (FHXK)
As at 31 December 2011
»20114128318
Area &
Region = (sg.m. F77K)
West Strait Economic Zone BARBRE
Xiamen = F] 2,220,669
Fuzhou = 334,345
Quanzhou S 491,800
Sub-total INET 3,046,814
Yangtze River Delta Region REZAREBRE
Shanghai & 597,200
Hefei ahe 1,142,308
Sub-total INET 1,739,508
Bohai Rim Region RBREERE
Tianjin KE 499,198
Sub-total INEE 499,198
Total BEt 5,285,520
Primary Land Development Qualification (sq.m.)
— R HBAREE (FHK)
As at 31 December 2011
R2011F12H31H
Area H &
Region = (sg.m. 75 K)
West Strait Economic Zone BARKBE
Quanzhou RN 1,746,200
Bohai Rim Region RHesREERE
Beijing Bl 1,946,676
Total #ET 3,692,876
* It represents the aggregate GFA agreed under the framework agreement
* I BIEE R E B EEEE
** It represents the site area under the framework agreement

- I AR HE 2R 155 H) R b N AR
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XIAMEN YUZHOU WORLD TRADE CENTER EF9 & e th- & h s
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 19,454 sgq.m. and 182,640 sqg.m. respectively.
ARG TEIAR19,454°F 750K - 42 7] & 2L E 15182,640°F 7 K

Project description

E=R=] by

It comprises the World Trade Center of 66,000 sg.m. and two 43-storey high-rise buildings, being the
first city complex project and the highest landmark of commercial and residential complex in Xiamen.
H6.68 T A REtE ZE ik MiE43E e BREENK  REME —EMmasa8IEE b2 B AERM
BRIt EERE-

It is adjacent to the train station and BRT of Xiamen, embracing the perfect geographical advantages of
pouring crowds and flourishing logistics.

EMEFINEHMEFMTREARLE (HREENMIEMLE - ARVIRME -

The World Trade Center is the first mega shopping mall in Xiamen with an annual turnover of almost
RMB1 billion.

HEEREEMTE —EAEBYH L FEXBOARBEHETLE -
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XIAMEN YUZHOU UNIVERSITY CITY EFS &M o K21
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AERE

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 90,750 sg.m. and 467,112 sg.m. respectively.
A TE AR /90,750 50K - 48 ] B R EEE AR 467,112 F 7K

Project description

H B @&

o It is situated at the center of Huandong with well-established living facilities and embraced by green
mountains and a golf club.

o WURRREBEZOMBR -BEETHE BENEEREE BXALRERZRLUERMN IRSERLSHE
M BERREEML-

o [t comprises 7 blocks of high-rises and shopping malls.
e HEHRTREEEERESGHEK-

o There are two phases: Phase | and Phase Il have completed and delivered.
o HORMHE: —HR-_HEXTIVRETE-
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XIAMEN YUZHOU CASTLE ABOVE CITY EFS &M o 3 _E
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N N N e e O i

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 52,715 sg.m. and 182,833 sq.m. respectively.
AR I8 /352,715F 50K - MR EZE M) /3182,833F J5 K

H B @&

o It is located at a transportation hub at the administration center of Huli District, Xiamen; a perfect mix of
convenience and nature.

e MUREFVHEERITHEPLOR EFBRAEEMER SRAEMNETEGARRRTENR —-

o [t comprises 10 low-rise residential buildings, shops, and office buildings.
e HEHHAIMENSERE BHEkETEARK-

o Phase | has been sold out in the first half year of 2011. Phase Il was launched in December 2011. As of
31 December 2011, Phase |l recorded sales of RMB100 million with accumulated GFA of 5,570 sg.m..
Contracted ASP is RMB18,000/sg.m..

o  IHE —HIR2011F LEFEE ZHR2011F12A#E  HI1E2011F12A318  —HRFAHEBAR
#1.0018 7T+ REFE & HI5,570F 772K A 4198 AR ¥18,0007T, F 75K °

° Awards received: “Award For Atrium Design”; “Best Room-type Design Award”.

o EBITEEMRE] RIHEFIRE] -
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XIAMEN YUZHOU SUNSHINE GARDEN EF9 &M o 5 Yt fE

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 22,868 sg.m. and 58,535 sqg.m. respectively.
B E R /22,868 5 0K - 48 1] B S E 1K £58,535F 5 Ko

15 B /s
o [t comprises 9 blocks of residential buildings, dominated by small and medium sized units ranging from

42.52 to 102.46 sg.m..
o HOREFEE S BRI E - AR B A42.528102.465F K A/ NBRFE AT o

o The complex is planned to include basketball courts and other facilities. The atmosphere will be
conducive to active, delightful and warm community lives, particularly for the young and the middle-

aged.
e HEABRIEGEEMSERE BEELAMEN FRB BBOHREZT - URBTSFEEXRTH
RE o

o The project was launched in July 2011. As of 31 December 2011, it recorded sales of RMB289 million
with accumulated GFA of 42,314 sg.m.. Contracted ASP is RMB6,835 /sq.m. and sell-through rate is
72%.

e IHEB20MF7ARBLANR  #1E20116128310 - 1HE RS AHE B ARK2.80ET ' REHEH
HEEER42,314F 5K - & RHE B R6,8357T,/ T K E{LEE72% o
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XIAMEN YUZHOU GOLF Eff &wMe ==k

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 55,986 sg.m. and 104,245 sg.m. respectively.
B B TE R55,986F 5K B EEEEIEA104,245F 7 Ko

15 B /s
° It is located adjacent to Xiamen Orient Golf Club, conveniently access to the best natural resources; well-

located next to the Local Municipal Government with well-established living and commercial facilities. It is
a unique set of golf villas with a panoramic view of 194km coastline in West Strait Economic Zone.

e ZENEMRISMRELE EZEALBNERER - BRARAEHERR  BAEENEHER
mEE FRNEESAKERE —FMEIMAEREFESBN B AAE-

° It comprises 4 blocks of high-rises with 508 apartments, and 41 blocks of 105 villas, and a club house.
o IRHM4ARE08ERE AT 41RI105ERIE R GMAEMK -

o The project was launched in August 2011. As of 31 December 2011, it recorded sales of RMB66 million
with accumulated GFA of 5,750 sg.m.. Contracted ASP is RMB11,524/sg.m..

e JEHB201158AME B IL2011F12A31H R HE LB ARK0.66(8 7T - R &t 3HE HIES5,750F
FKHEHBAARK11,5247T F Ko

° Crowned as “2010 Asia’s International Green Living Environment”

o 2010FERMemMAE [MBIREETABRTE] FK-
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XIAMEN YUZHOU SHORELINE EF5 =M e &G

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 107,622 sg.m. and 436,526 sq.m. respectively.
ItI8 B 85 E1E107,622F /5 0K - 48 7] & R 5L 15436,526F 75 K ©

Project description

HE BN
° It is located at the heart of Xiamen Haicang CBD, offering a panoramic view of ocean, lake and forestry.

Its design took good advantage of the ocean view and the lake view, creating a magnificent landscape.
e ([UREFPIERCBDF L& ¥ BE=XEBER -BEERERT L ROF ARG HE R
B R REBEERAE-

° With a plot ratio of 2.796 and greenery coverage of 41%, the project will be developed into low-density
residential units, high-rise and commercial buildings and a kindergarten.

o THEXRER28 FME4% HBERIBEREEE SE BERHDERMEX-

o The project was launched in October 2011. As of 31 December 2011, it recorded contracted sale of
RMB210 million with accumulated GFA of 16,375 sg.m..

e  H2011F10H FAR AR - #1201 12H31H - IBBE & AIHE EIR16,375 T Kk - G AIHE S BAA
R¥o1EmTe

o Award received: “2011 China’s Best Ten Properties with Exemplary Living Environment” .
e 20ME[FEREMETARRKEABFRFHBER -
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XIAMEN YUZHOU CENTRAL COAST EFf &M e R )EF

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 123,240 sg.m. and 535,000 sg.m. respectively.
ARG TEI AR A5123,240F 50K - 48 7] & 32 58 TH 8 /535,000 5 oK

Project description

HE BN

o It is located right at the transportation hub with well-established network of education institutes, banks,
hospitals, thus with unlimited appreciation potential.

o [URRBRATL FAEHE R1T BREFLEARESZ AEENER-

o It is located at the seafront of Xiamen Jimei, and it comprises high-rise residential, commmercial and
SOHO office buildings.
e TFEHEMEE X SOHONAER —8B MENEMEEEFRE—HE-

o Since the launch on 16 December 2011, the project has been ranked as one of the three best-selling
properties in Xiamen in terms of contracted saleable GFA. Currently the ASP is RMB8,800/sg.m..

e JHBB201MF12A16FABRUR—EUEEFIERHEEN =8 (RENEEEENE) BAlHEEN
B# A ARS,8007T, FH K-

° Accredited as one of the “10 Most Desirable Properties” by members of xmhouse.com.

s EEMFMEMSBEATRO0NF [ RBETRER| Z—-
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 284,414 sg.m. and 512,600 sg.m. respectively.
A E1R284,414°F 50K - 42 7] & L E 15512,600°F 77 K

Project description

E-R=] by

o It is located at the center of northern Tong’an, north to Tong’an Movie & TV City; and surrounded by
national parks, tourist attractions and a 4-star spa hotel.

e WAREMARZRZRBIE BLBILEWRZOLAE AEB2EBFIARSE &+ EKESE - 42
AR SFOBE

o [t mainly comprises villas, garden houses and high-rises.

e HEEBNME EEFE SEABRE-

° An internal presale was started on 11 February 2012. As of 14 February 2012, 21 apartments with total
GFA of 2,143 sg.m. were subscribed with ASP of RMB11,212/sg.m., completing 70% of sales for the
first phase.

o 2012%2A11AFMBETTAIRE  B1E2012F2 A 14A RBHE21E - RTRBEE2,143F K R
BHEHERARE 11,2127 /F K TR ERTO%R HE L& -

° Awards received: “The National’s Best Living Environment” by Asian Properties Summit and the 2011
International Green Properties Selection; “Best Room-type Designed Residential Property” and “Best
Low Block Residential Property” by 2012 Xiamen Real Estate Oscar Award.

e  PTEREE: [2ERKEARREER | DNEHEESE2011BERGEHELNRTE) R [FEKER
AR RFEREREFE] (2012EMERTREEIELR)
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XIAMEN YUZHOU CLOUD TOP INTERNATIONAL * EFT &M ¢ ETAEIER

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 15,652 sg.m. and 98,486 sqg.m. respectively.
(5 H015,652°F 75 0K - 48 A & L E 1598,486F J7 K

Project description

H B @&

° It is located at the new center of Xiamen Island, being the first city integrated project linked to Bus Rapid
Transit (BRT).
e WUREMESAFHL ZREFMEEEEBEZEDNFNBRIMMETAEE RBERE AEEELE 2 -

o It will be a sleepless town comprising three high-rise residential buildings with 28 to 29 stories, and a
10,000-sg.m. GFA for commercial use.
o IHH B1E31E28 - 29/ & B £ & 10,000F 75 K& 5 F #th - F LAFT 524/ NS RS R O TR AR )& o

o Presale is expected to start in the third quarter in 2012 with target ASP of RMB20,000/sq.m. for
residential apartments.

o THAMEMBR012FE=FERHREES BHETHEHEARK20,0007T, FH K-

Previously known as Yuzhou F1 Plaza
IR BN oF1/E%
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 234,160 sg.m. and 79,923 sqg.m. respectively.
ML E AR A 2234,160°F 73 /K - 48 0] & B2 EEE 179,923 7K

Project description

H B @&

o It is situated at the mid-level of Gu Shan, the 4A National Scenic Spot. The project is located east to
Fuzhou City, south to the scenic Minjiang, west to the panoramic view of Fuzhou City and north to
several main avenues of the city, enjoying an exclusive geographical advantage.

o AMENERFLIARRE-—SLz¥ L F-HERERMNKE mEFERIL AERMNTEREE2 S L
ZIEH M EHE WEVEEEBRBE -

o It is planned to have approximately 300 detached and semi-detached villas with a plot ratio of merely
0.28 and building density of 13%.
e FHEIRKB00MREE M EPRIE - BIEEE H0.28 - BEFE13% °

o The project was launched in August 2010. As of 31 December 2011, it recorded sales of RMB863
million with accumulated GFA of 37,922 sqg.m.. Contracted ASP is RMB22,757/sg.m. and sell-through
rate is 47%.

e JHEB2010F8ARMARLAN - #1E20116 128310 - 1HE R 5 AHE B ARKS.63ETT ' Rt &4
HEMIER37,922T K &RHENE /22,7577 F K EEEZAT% °
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FUZHOU YUZHOU ORIENTAL VENICE &/ & e 85 & fE &

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 706,397 sg.m. and 355,431 sqg.m. respectively.
A E AR ) /706,397 F 70K - 4 R] B2 5L 18355,431 F oK

Project description

HAB @

° It is situated at the northern coast of Wulong River, Fuzhou, along the amazing coastline of 1,750 meters,
overlooking the Five Tiger Mountain which sits on the opposite river banks. The project is surrounded
on three sides by Wulong River and links to the protogenic water vein of Wulong River, offering a natural
environment for living.

o  HEMNBMERIILE HEE17T50RBE RIS NAKEHFNIRIL -ZEARSEIMERE
FHMBESESIEINREKK  BRImE-

o The project is being developed in three phases with a water surface area of approximately 100,000 sg.m.
upon completion. It is designed to have a total of over 20 isles and peninsulas. The water channeling in
the villa area will be streaming from the source of the Wulong River.

e IHESZHRME BREKEEELI0E T H K  HRFAH20ZENEMFS - RIERAKEE R
RABIIIIK o

o There are three phases: Phase | almost has completed and delivered; Phase Il was launched in
September 2010, and 80% was sold. Phase Il was held for future development.
s HESRRZH: —HEEARETE —HIR20105F9ARK REHESK =B FME-
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 125,000 sg.m. and 491,800 sqg.m. respectively.
ARG EI AR A) /125,000 77 0K - 48 R B 32 £L [ 18491,800F 5 oK

Project description

H B @&

° It is situated at the prime location of Huian, Quanzhou with convenient transportation network, wonderful

surrounding and well-estabilshed facilities.
o WURRMNTELZZREZME JBEN REEE RERBE -

o [t was designed into the most representative large scale city integrated project in Huian comprising
residential, commercial, office, leisure, entertainment and cultural projects.

e IEEFRARME BE PR KE RE XEEZEN 8 ERELEKNAILEEARE &A
REMM AL BT HABEE -

o The land was acquired in May 2011, construction started in July 2011 and began presale in January
2012 with the current contracted ASP of RMB4,250/sg.m.. This project is developed under primary and
secondary mode.

e AR ZABPREEIAR - LLHMIN2011F5 ARG 2011F7 ARMKIMEL - 2012F1 ARIRTAE - B Al
BRIHEEBEHNARS,2507T, F K-

51



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Business

EX

SHANGHAI YUZHOU LAND DREAM /& =i eEEE

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 7,997 sg.m. and 49,266 sqg.m. respectively.
18 B (G E R 27,9977 50K - 48 7] & 3 5L H 15 /549,266 5 oK °

Project description

E=R=] by

o It is located on Jingang Road, Jingiao, Pudong with about 4,000 sg.m. area for commercial facilities
such as western catering and other leisure businesses.

e MUNBREBER - AFNREELERELS000F K REASHmPIEXNERSE BUAHENK
FAKRE-

o [t comprises 2 blocks of 19-story and 26-story high-rises, including a SOHO-styled commercial-
residential building and service apartments, which are not affected by purchase restrictions.
e IJHEHMEIOEN26ESEAK ATXREERZEHNSOHOEEMABMBRAEEALRSE

° As of 31 December 2011, it recorded contracted sale of RMB650 million with contracted GFA of

28,166 sg.m.
o B IF2011F12831H A HHE Y AR EEG.50(E T & #IH E M IE 528,166 K o
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SHANGHAI YUZHOU CITY PLAZA £ &M e m E %

With total site area and total saleable GFA of 50,628 sg.m. and 98,494 sqg.m. respectively.
T8 B (5 18 /50,628 77 K - A 7] & R EEH 15 /398,494 F J7 0K

Project description

H B @&

o It located at Lin Gang New District of Shanghai Pudong, 10-minute walk to MTR station line 16 (to be
operated in 2013).
e BN LEHIRERBEI - Bt AR 21657 4% (20135 2/ ) R G107 EIRIZ -

o It comprises high-rise offices, service apartments, commercial units and low-rises.

e HEBESENAR BEARE TEREREEE=E-

o The project is expected to launch onto market in the third quarter in 2012 with target contracted ASP of
RMB13,000/sg.m..
e ZIEBEAEN2012FEIFTERE  BAVHEOEENERARK13,0007T, FH K-
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 446,757 sq.m. and 1,222,859 sq.m. respectively.
TR B AR ETE£446,757F 7 K - MR SE A B H151,222,859F J7 K

Project description

HE BN

o It is located at the intersection of New Municipal and Cultural Zone, Economic and Technology
Development Zone and High and New Technology Development Zone in Heifei, adjacent to the municipal
government, embracing a prime geographical advantage.

o (IREMETHBUES UL FTIE - A7 BT 5 25 [ 0 = B B il A 28 [ SR B A0 - Mt B T ISR - IR BB o

° It is an over 1,200,000 sg.m. community comprising high-rise and multi-story residential buildings with
facilities such as schools, shopping malls and street-level shops.

e BEEERBRIOETFTARNABAXME TEFZHZENGEHK BEREEER A% M
HRERERERE-

° As of 31 December 2011, the project recorded accumulated contracted sale of RMB1,440 million with
contracted GFA of 311,680 sq.m..

o FH1F2012F12A31H " IEB R 6 HEBEAHARKE14.40(8 70 B AHEETE A311,680F K °

o Awards received: “Hefei’'s Most Influential Property”; “Best Living Environment Property”
s REEEEMIZERETEENER]RIZKEABRSEER] -
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With total site area and total saleable GFA of 135,173 sg.m. and 319,748 sq.m. respectively.
(G EFE185,173F oK - A r] E B L E 18319,748F oK o

Project description

HE BN

° It is located adjacent to Tianjin South Station of Beijing-Shanghai Express railway, and next to the Tuanpo
Lake with green coverage ratio of 40% with a classical Chinese garden design.

o  [URRETRESBEARZEUWEN  BHHS BRFRE - BESIEEEDI0% SEEEPHEDNRE
BREERE -

° It comprises 34 blocks of high-rise residential buildings, with heights not higher than 100 meters.
e HEMMRSEEEENR ZXSEESETARI00K -

° The project is expected to launch onto market in the second quarter in 2012 with target contracted ASP
of RMB7,000/sg.m..

o  ZEBREFBNR012FFFERE  RAVHMANOHEHBAARKT,000TFI5K-
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GFA
Total GFA Held for
Unit Land Total GFA under Future
Project Site Area  Location Cost Address Completed Development Development
ExI
HAE EHER B BEHYE i BEZEE LEEER BASEER
(sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.) (sqm.) (sqm.) (sqm.)
(FHK) (T/FhK) (F7X) (FHK) (FHXK)
Completed Projects
BExIEH
Yuzhou Overseas City 27,703 Xiamen 830  North of the Junction of Hexiang West Road 239,627 - -
and Hubin West Road, Siming District
Bill e EEERM EF BRRREARENEAKRZ ORI
Yuzhou Shuilian Manor 12,909  Xiamen 910 West of Jinshang Road North 29,126 - -
Bl o KL EF EAclSIA Gl
Yuzhou Hai Tian Plaza 6,316  Xiamen 396  Xiagang Yongfugong, Siming District 65,104 = =
Bill e BRES EFM BHREAXES
Yuzhou Harbour City 20,089  Xiamen 761 Hubin North Road, Siming District 191,649 = =
Bill o &I EF BRENELRE
Yuzhou New City 25,610  Xiamen 647 Haotou, Dongdu, Huli District 93,4783 - -
BN EF HERRERSE
Yuzhou Garden 27,345  Xiamen 586  Jinshang Road, Huli District 92,388 - -
BMER EM MRS wE
Yuzhou Galaxy Garden 26,367  Xiamen 1,718 Fanghu, Huli District 93,925 = =
ENER EF HE R
Yuzhou New Manor 45,619  Xiamen 493 No. 414-417, Nanshan Road, Huli District 118,892 - -
BT EF R AL BE414-0175%
Yuzhou World Trade Center 19,454 Xiamen 845  No.75, Xiahe Road 204,476 = =
Bifle EM ERHET55
Yuzhou Golden Seacoast 70,793  Xiamen 1,611 West of Xinggang Road, Haicang District 245,073 — —
Bl EBEER EF by R ]
Yuzhou University City 90,750  Xiamen 932  Tongji Road, Xike Town, Tongan District 480,252 - -
Bille KB EF e REARESS
Yuzhou Gushan No. One 234,160  Fuzhou 1,831 Niushan Village, Yangli, Gushan Town, 88,287 = =
Jinan District
Bl e BRIl —5% M BRRGULEF B
Sub-total 607,115 974 1,942,772 - -
Nt
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Total Sold Saleable GFA

Total unsold Saleable GFA

RMBERNDERAE

T FFH
Busingss
%%

LNECEREER AUERERR
Sold and
Total Delivered Pre-sold Total Held for
Saleable  Total Sold Saleable Saleable Unsold Held for  Investment Land Interestin  Attributable
Total GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA Sale Only Only Reserve  the Project GFA
#uE E)E Ei5
BEEHR BEAE #EEEE CREER AREEE LAREHE BEHE BERE TibfEE ARERGL EEEEEE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) % (sq.m.)
(ERXK) (ERX) (EHXK) (EFK) (ERK) (ERK)  (FAK) (ERX) (EHXK) (ERXK)
239,627 236,745 235,644 235,644 - 1,101 - 1,101 1,101 100% 1,101
29,126 27,325 27,325 27,146 179 - - - 179 100% 179
65,104 64,575 62,507 62,507 - 2,068 1,207 861 2,068 100% 2,068
191,649 186,013 186,013 186,013 - - - - = 60% =
93,473 90,770 87,144 87,048 96 3,626 262 3,364 3,722 100% 3,722
92,888 92,119 89,964 89,684 280 2,155 463 1,692 2,435 100% 2,435
93,925 91,689 90,785 90,785 - 904 904 - 904 100% 904
118,892 118,652 118,590 118,590 - 62 62 - 62 100% 62
204,476 182,640 133,049 108,368 24,681 49,591 491 49,100 74,272 100% 74,272
245,073 223,679 178,132 172,183 5,949 45,547 13,897 31,650 51,496 100% 51,496
480,252 467,112 353,242 336,830 16,362 113,870 106,774 7,096 130,232 100% 130,232
88,287 79,923 37,922 15,041 22,881 42,001 42,001 - 64,882 60% 38,929
1,942,772 1,861,242 1,600,317 1,529,889 70,428 260,925 166,061 94,864 331,353 305,400
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ey
GFA
Total GFA Held for
Unit Land Total GFA under Future
Project Site Area  Location Cost  Address Completed Development Development
ExI
HH EHEE B BEHYE i BEZEE LEEER BASEER
(sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.) (sqm.) (sqm.) (sqm.)
(F7%) (T/FhK) (F7%) (F7%) (F7%)
Projects Under Development
ERER
Yuzhou International Hotel 60,018  Xiamen 1,176 East of Huli Avenue, South of - 125,221 -
Huandao East Road,Huli District
Bill e BIR KB E EF MERRERHE IR  HHEREUAR
Yuzhou Castle above City 52,715 Xiamen 1,609 Fanghu, Huli District 173,135 20,585 =
Bl o 38 5 EF HE R
Yuzhou Square 3,333 Xiamen 2,417 North of Minggong Building, - 60,251 -
Hubin South Road,Siming District
BillES EF BHRRMEER AT ARLA
Yuzhou Golf 55,986  Xiamen 1,490  Maging Road, Haicang District, Xiamen City = 129,187 =
Bl e mBAX EF EMmERRS SR
Yuzhou Shoreline 107,622 Xiamen 3,436  Area of 05-11, East of Xinggang Road and = 473,184 =
North of Jiaosong Road, Haicang District
Bl &5 EF BAR-11AE EARUR  AERKAL
Yuzhou Sunshine City 22,868  Xiamen 1,585  North of Wulv Road, West of Tongsheng - 59,290 -
Road, Tongan Industrial Zone
Bl oI5 K EH EF AR TEETERERILA RERAR
Yuzhou Central Coast 123,240  Xiamen 2,657 Area of 11-10, East of Xingbin Road and North - 227,564 435,973
of Xingdong Road, Jimei District
B iER EF EXB1-10RBDERRRA AREIA
Yuzhou Riverside City Town 284,414 Xiamen 1,696 Area of 12-07, North of Movie & TV City, - 24,405 488,195
(Previously known as Yuzhou South Wuxian Area,Tongan District
Pacific Creek Uptown)
Bl e ZR EF RZE12-07EER A BFRHILA
Yuzhou Jingiao International 49,738  Shanghai 1,242 No.333 Jingang Road, Pudong New Area, 164,641 69,943 -
Shanghai
Bille SHEER i FEERAE S BR3335
Yuzhou Financial Tower 6,818  Shanghai 2,616 Qiu 3/6, Qiu 2, No 9 Street, Jingiao Export - 35,907 -
Processing Zone, Pudong New Area,
Shanghai City
Bille 2 RAE L HEmERNRERLO
MIRETHI/6E 2k
Yuzhou City Plaza 50,628  Shanghai 1,444 Site A0403, College Community, = 99,860 =
(Previously known as Lingang New Town, Shanghai
Yuzhou Lin'gang Center)
Bl el ES i EBRATR SR RA403M
(RIEBM B L)
Yuzhou Skyline 446,757  Hefei 377 West of Songlin Road, Northeast of 98,232 452,851 679,176
Planning Road,Ranfang Village,
Taohua Town, Feixi County
Bille K32 &l EREHEEAT AT BRRAA - RARGE AR
Yuzhou Oriental Venice 706,397  Fuzhou 2,568  Longjiang Village, Chengmen Town, 97,452 47,502 220,558
Cangshan District
Bl e R A B H 1M RULBRSMHEEIN
Yuzhou City Plaza Phase | 125,000  Quanzhou 338 South New Zone of Huian County, Quanzhou = 162,177 329,623
B e ES —H FM RINTER GH AR
Sub-total 2,095,534 1,490 533,360 1,987,927 2,153,525
Nt
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Total Sold Saleable GFA

Total unsold Saleable GFA

RMBERNDERAE

T FFH
Busingss
E

LNECEREER AUEREAR
Sold and
Total Delivered Pre-sold Total Held for
Saleable  Total Sold Saleable Saleable Unsold Held for  Investment Land Interestin  Attributable
Total GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA Sale Only Only Reserve  the Project GFA
auE E)E Ei5
BEEHMR BEAE #EEERE CREER ARXEEE LAREEE BEHE BERE TibfEE ARERGL EEEREEE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) % (sq.m.)
(FERXK) (ERX) (EHXK) (EHK) (ERK) (ERK)  (FAK) (ERX) (EHXK) (EHXK)
125,221 102,142 - - - 102,142 - 102,142 102,142 100% 102,142
193,720 182,833 168,391 108,744 59,647 14,442 11,684 2,758 74,089 93% 72,607
60,251 57,861 - - - 57,861 - 57,861 57,861 100% 57,861
129,187 104,245 5,750 - 5,750 98,495 98,495 - 104,245 100% 104,245
473,184 436,526 16,375 - 16,375 420,151 405,751 14,400 436,526 100% 436,526
59,290 58,635 42,314 - 42314 16,221 16,221 - 58,535 100% 58,635
663,537 535,000 5,006 - 5,006 529,994 504,994 25,000 535,000 100% 535,000
512,600 512,600 - - - 512,600 432,100 80,500 512,600 51% 261,426
234,484 230,955 177,806 132,038 45,768 53,149 9,054 44,095 98,917 100% 98,917
35,907 28,670 - - - 28,670 28,670 - 28,670 100% 28,670
99,860 98,494 - - - 98,494 63,217 35,277 98,494 100% 98,494
1,230,259 1,222,859 291,006 80,551 210,455 931,853 834,553 97,300 1,142,308 100% 1,142,308
365,512 355,431 134,272 85,968 48,304 221,159 205,426 15,733 269,463 80% 215,570
491,800 491,800 - - - 491,800 491,800 - 491,800 100% 491,800
4,674,812 4,417,951 840,920 407,301 433,619 3,577,031 3,101,965 475,066 4,010,650 3,704,102
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5%
GFA
Total GFA Held for
Unit Land Total GFA under Future
Project Site Area  Location Cost Address Completed Development Development
ExI
HAE EHER B BEHYE i BEZEE LEEER BASEER
(sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.) (sqm.) (sqm.) (sqm.)
(FHK) (T/FhK) (FHK) (FHK) (FHXK)
Projects Held for Future Development
KAERRER
Yuzhou Cloud Top International 15,652  Xiamen 3,087  South of West Liangian Road,West of - - 98,067
(Previously known as Yundingzhong Road
Yuzhou F1 Plaza)
y EM EAEEEE EEREAR
Yuzhou Kangaiao 12,955  Shanghai 3,654 No 1033, Kanggiao Road, Kanggiao Town, - - 49,241
Shanghai
Bl o iR i ERBRARBRK10335%
Yuzhou Commercial Plaza 40,911 Shanghai 2,367 No 9868 Hunan Road, Nanhui Industrial = = 110,460
Park,Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Bl e ES i HERRNEHET #EERAK0868%:
Jinshan Site 174,814 Shanghai 1,324 Site 2988, North of Tingfeng Road,Zhujing = = 211,418
Town, Jinshan District,Shanghai
Eallbih ] i LEmEIlERTHSE K 1620885 1 58
Yuzhou Palace Country (Previously 135,173 Tianjin 1,064  South of Beihua Road, East of Guihua Chunxi - 320,374 -
known as Yuzhou Zunfu) Avenue,Jinghai New Town, Tianjin City
Bl e GFF RE REMFHELEREA REFEERA
Tianjin Tuanbo Site 126,027 Tianjin 896  Commercial Site 2010-48 and Residential Site - - 179,450
2010-49,Tuanbo Area, Tianjin
REE R RE KRB AR E2010-48E £ 58
2010-49/E 348
Sub-total 505,532 1,526 - 320,374 648,636
Pt
Total 3,208,181 1,362 2,476,132 2,308,301 2,802,161
Ea
Projects with Primary Land Development Qualification
BE-RLHHEREENER
Yuzhou City Plaza 781,413 Quanzhou NA  No 1 Yingbin Avenue, Chengnan Industrial Zone,
Huian
Bl el ES M TER BERREIXERIBEREIR
Yuzhou Beijing Project 1,946,676  Beijing NA  Within the Planning Area in Mafang Town,
Pinggu District, Beijing
Bifle b RIEH R TER LRTARFHEREER
Total 2,728,089 953,744
Ea
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Total Sold Saleable GFA

Total unsold Saleable GFA

RMBERNDERAE

T FFH
Busingss
%%

LNECEREER AUERERR
Sold and
Total Delivered Pre-sold Total Held for
Saleable  Total Sold Saleable Saleable Unsold Held for  Investment Land Interestin  Attributable
Total GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA GFA Sale Only Only Reserve  the Project GFA
anE E)E Ei5
BEEHR BEAE #EEEE CREER AREEE LAREHE BEHE BERE TibfEE ARERGL EEEEEE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) % (sq.m.)
(ERXK) (ERX) (EHXK) (EFK) (ERK) (ERK)  (FAK) (ERX) (EHXK) (ERXK)
98,067 73,200 - - - 73,200 73,200 - 73,200 100% 73,200
49,241 49,241 - - - 49,241 49,241 - 49,241 100% 49,241
110,460 110,460 - - - 110,460 - 110,460 110,460 100% 110,460
211,418 211,418 - - - 211,418 211,418 - 211,418 100% 211,418
320,374 319,748 - - - 319,748 319,748 - 319,748 100% 319,748
179,450 179,450 - - - 179,450 179,450 - 179,450 100% 179,450
969,010 943,517 - - - 943,517 833,057 110,460 943,517 943,517
7,586,594 7,222,710 2,441,237 1,937,190 504,047 4,781,473 4,101,083 680,390 5,285,520 4,953,019
1,746,200 1,746,200 - - - 1,746,200 1,746,200 - 1,746,200 100% 1,746,200
1,946,676 1,946,676 - - - 1,946,676 1,946,676 - 1,946,676 100% 1,946,676
3,692,876 3,692,876 - - - 3,692,876 3,692,876 - 3,692,876 3,692,876
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors consists of seven Directors, of whom four
are executive Directors and the remaining three are independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors are appointed for a term
not exceeding three years. The power and duties of our Board of
Directors include convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting
the Board’s work at shareholders’ meetings, implementing
resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings, determining our
business plans and investment plans, formulating our annual
budget and final accounts, formulating our proposals for profit
distributions and for the increase or reduction of registered capital
as well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as
conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Lung On (# 8 %), aged 47, was appointed as the
Chairman of our Board and our Executive Director on 9 October
2009. He founded our Group in December 1994. He is also a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of our Company. Since December 1994, Mr. Lam
has held positions including but not limited to chairman,
vice chairman, director and general manager in most of our
subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for formulating our
development strategies and supervising our project planning,
financing, design and marketing. He has over sixteen years
of experience in residential, commercial and hotel property
development and investment. Mr. Lam is an adjunct professor
and an executive member of the Council of Jimei University in
Xiamen. In 2006, Mr. Lam became an honorary citizen of Xiamen
accredited by the mayor of Xiamen. He has been a member
of the 9th Standing Committee of the All-China Federation of
Returned Overseas Chinese, the 9th Central Committee of
the China Democratic National Construction Association, the
7th Standing Committee of the Fujian Provincial Federation of
Returned Overseas Chinese and the Standing Committee of the
11th Xiamen Municipal Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Lam also serves as executive deputy
chairman of the 3rd Council of the China Federation of Overseas
Chinese Entrepreneurs, deputy chairman of the 14th Xiamen
Municipal Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, life honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations,
life honorary chairman of the 8th Hong-Kong Xiamen Friendship
Union and deputy chairman of the 11th Committee of the Xiamen
General Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Lam graduated from the
University of Science and Technology of China with a master’s
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degree in Engineering in November 1996. Mr. Lam is the spouse
of Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, our Executive Director, and the brother-
in-law of Mr. Lin Longzhi, our Executive Director and Mr. Lin
Conghui, our Executive Director. Mr. Lam has not held any
directorship in any other public listed companies in the past three
years. Mr. Lam worked for Xiamen Land Development Company,
a state-owned enterprise, before he founded our Group.

Kwok Ying Lan (2% B), aged 41, was appointed as
our Executive Director on 9 October 2009. She is also the
Vice Chairman of our Board. Since joining our Group in April
1997, Ms. Kwok has held positions including but not limited
to chairman, director and general manager in most of our
subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for overseeing our
Purchasing Department. Ms. Kwok has over 14 years of
experience in property development and financial management.
Ms. Kwok has been an executive director of the Xiamen
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. She is
the spouse of Mr. Lam Lung On, our Executive Director, and
the sister-in-law of Mr. Lin Longzhi and Mr. Lin Conghui, our
Executive Directors. Ms. Kwok has not held any directorship in
any other public listed companies in the past three years. Ms.
Kwok worked for China Construction Bank Xiamen Branch, a
state-owned bank, before she joined our Company.

Lin Longzhi (## &), aged 43, was appointed as our
Executive Director on 9 October 2009. Since joining our Group
in December 1997, Mr. Lin has held positions including but not
limited to chairman, director and general manager in most of
our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for the supervision
of daily operations of our Office of General Affairs, Human
Resources Department, Initial Development Department,
Customer Services Department and Legal Department. Mr. Lin
has almost 14 years of experience in property development and
investment. Mr. Lin has been a member of the 12th Xiamen
Municipal People’s Congress and an executive director of the
4th Standing Committee of the Xiamen Real Estate Association.
He also serves as a member of the Standing Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Quangang
District, Xiamen, and deputy chairman of the Xiamen Association
of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Lin is the younger
brother of Mr. Lam Lung On, our Executive Director, the brother-
in-law of Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, our Executive Director and the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lin Conghui, who is also our Executive
Director. Mr. Lin has not held any directorship in any other public
listed companies in the past three years.
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EEGN

Lin Conghui (M) , aged 41, was appointed as our Executive
Director on 9 October 2009. Since joining our Group in July 1998,
Mr. Lin has held positions including but not limited to chairman and
director in most of our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for
our Group’s quality control, budget formation, approval and review.
Mr. Lin has over 13 years of experience in project management.
He graduated from Tongji University with a diploma in Architecture
Engineering in January 2006. Mr. Lin is the brother-in-law of Mr.
Lam Lung On, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. Lin Longzhi, our
Executive Directors. Mr. Lin has not held any directorship in any
other public listed companies in the past three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Gu Jiande (Z=##1%), aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 9 October 2009. He
is also a member of the audit committee and the chairman of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of our Company. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Xiamen International Trade Group Corp., Ltd., a PRC
incorporated company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(600755), since May 2009. He has been an independent non-
executive director of Xiamen International Airport Co., Ltd.,
a PRC incorporated company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (600897), since May 2008. He was the president
of Jimei University from May 1997 to September 2009, and is
an executive member and secretary-general of the Council of
Jimei University. Mr. Gu has been awarded Special Government
Allowance by State Council of the People’s Republic of China
since October 1993 recognizing his outstanding contribution
to the national higher education; Tan Kah Kee Outstanding
Contribution Awards by Chiyu Tan Kah Kee Education Fund
in October 2002; second prize of Scientific and Technical
Development of Fujian Province and Xiamen City by Fujian
provincial People’s Government in 1992 and Xiamen Municipal
People’s Government in 1995, respectively; the second prize of
Institute of Higher Learning Scientific and Technical Achievement
by Department of Education of Fujian Province in June 1984.
Mr. Gu is the author of a number of publications and articles on
various natural science and social science publications, including
Ordinary Differential Equations (Xiamen University Press, August
1993); Systems Engineering and Forecasting of Talents Demand
(Xiamen University Press, November 1991); Forecasting of
Talents Demand in Fujian (Xiamen University Press, September
1991); Economic and Social Development and Demand for
Talents in Fujian (Xiamen University Press, April 1991); Stability
and Boundary of a Class of Generalized Continuous Hopfield
Neural Network (Dalian Maritime University Press, August 1996);
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Stability and Boundedness of a Class of Second Order Ordinary
Differential Equations (Journal of Xiamen University (Natural
Science), August 1993); The Stability of the Large Scale Systems
of a Class of Differential Equation with Delay (Theory of Ordinary
Differential Equation and its Applications, Science Press, October
1992); Estimation of Delayed Quantity of a Class of Differential
Equation with Delay (Journal of Xiamen University (Natural
Science), March 1991); and Motion Stability of Linear Large Scale
Systems (Control Theory & Applications, 2nd Phase, 1985). Mr.
Gu graduated from Peking University with an undergraduate
certificate in mathematics in August 1966.

Lam Kwong Siu (#EJK), aged 77, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 9 October 2009. He is
also a member of the audit committee of our Company. He has
more than fifty years of banking experience. In addition, Mr. Lam
has held the following positions in the banking sector:

e anon-executive director of Bank of China International Limited
(formerly known as BOCI Capital Limited) since July 2002;

e an independent non-executive director of CITIC Bank
International Limited (formerly known as CITIC Ka Wah Bank
Limited) since January 2002;

e the vice chairman of BOC International Holdings Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank of China Ltd since
October 2001; and

e an independent non-executive director of CITIC International
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as CITIC Ka
Wah Bank Limited) since 1996. CITIC International Financial
Holdings Limited is a Hong Kong incorporated company which
was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (00183) until the
withdrawal of its listing in November 2008.

Mr. Lam has served the following companies in the capacity of:

e an independent non-executive director of Xinyi Glass Holdings
Limited, a Cayman Islands incorporated company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (00868) since August 2004;

e an independent non-executive director of Fujian Holdings
Ltd., a Hong Kong incorporated company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (00181) since December 2003;

e an independent non-executive director of China Overseas
Land & Investment Ltd., a Hong Kong incorporated company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (00688) since
September 2003;

65

BN ERNBERA A
—E——FFR

Directors’ Bio raphkies
=T

B (BARENR) ) 1991638 )  (—44&
Y EA ZZGAEB T ) ( EHE R E

FEF) - 19854 F2H]) - = 5L £ A 1966F8 A
EENERKRE BEHEAREEEFEZ -

MBI 7755 FR2009F10 AR EZ T AR
P BLIERTES - RITATRREZEZE
28 - A m50F MIRTT AR o i
M ERIRTTE IBPIEE A TR

E20024F7 A LARYEE PSR B BR AR (Bl
P IREERERR AR FEMITES:

H2002F1 A A RIEEREEIEREITAR
NE (BT ERERITARAT) B
FMITES

B2001F10 7 LAZRIEE A IR BRI A% A IR
NE(RBERITIRHERATNEENE
NGIDE O =-S= M

B1996F BEEFFEEE S MIZRERA
(AP ERERTARAR —ER
BEEAMK LT BREBH I ETES
2008 F 11 A®E L AR ERMARG
RHEAR00183) KB IEFHITES

MEERIAT R REERT

H2004F8 B A RETEERBIEERER
AR (—HRRASESEMALIENEE
B 22 pr E ey 2 A - B fn AR5 /300868) HY
BYERITES

B 2003512 A AR ERBZERAR AR (—
BN E B ML N BB LR
&l R RAER00181) BB L IENITE S

E2003F9 A AR ET R BIGINERE B R
AR (—EREBTME IR EBER
FT LA A B 1D 55 A00688) 19798 3L
FHITES



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Directors’ Biographies

EEGN

e an independent non-executive director of Ananda Wing On Travel
(Holdings) Limited (now known as Wing On Travel (Holdings)
Limited), a Bermuda incorporated company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (01189), until January 2003; and

e an independent non-executive director of Lai Fung Holdings
Limited, a Cayman Islands incorporated company listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (01125), from June 1999 to July
2001.

e an independent non-executive director of Far East
Consortium International Limited, a Cayman Islands
incorporated Company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (00035), since September 2011.

Mr. Lam was awarded the HKSAR Silver Bauhinia Star in 2003.
He was a delegate of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC to the 10th National People’s Congress. He
currently serves as the honorary chairman of the Hong Kong
Federation of Fujian Associations, life honorary chairman of the
Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce, deputy chairman
of the Fujian Hong Kong Economic Co-operation, life honorary
chairman of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, adviser
of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association and the
honorary president of the Chinese Bankers Club of Hong Kong.

Wee Henny Soon Chiang (also known as Wee Toon Kian)
(=13 ), aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 October 2009. He is also the chairman
of the audit committee, and a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of our Company. He
has more than thirty years of experience in public accounting
practice. Mr. Wee was an independent non-executive director
of the then The Quaypoint Corporation Limited (now known
as China Uptown Group Company Limited), a Cayman Islands
incorporated company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(02330), from September 2001 to November 2006. He is
the founder of Henny Wee & Co., a firm of Certified Public
Accountants (Practising) registered at Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in February 1988. Mr. Wee is the
partner of Henny Wee & Co. since 1988. He worked at Glass
Radcliffe Chan & Wee as a partner. Mr. Wee received a bachelor’s
degree in Commerce from the University of Newcastle, New
South Wales, Australia, in March 1971. He became an Associate
Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants (Australia) in
July 1975, and a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the
Hong Kong Society of Accountants, now known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, since 1988.
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

Chiu Yu Kang (B8 F &), aged 34, is our Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. Chiu joined our Company
in October 2008 and is responsible for our Group’s strategic
planning, corporate finance activities, investor relations and
oversight of financial reporting procedures, company secretary
matters, internal controls and compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules with regard to financial reporting,
company secretarial and other related issues. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Chiu worked in an international C.P.A. firm. Mr.
Chiu has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Mr. Chiu graduated with a master’s
degree in Economics and a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from the University of Hong Kong. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries comprise property
development, property investment, the provision of management
services and hotel operation. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS, DIVIDENDS AND BONUS ISSUE

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 144 to 252.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK4 cents per ordinary share and a bonus issue of 2 bonus
shares for every 10 existing shares held in respect of the year to
shareholders on the register of members on 24 May 2012. This
recommendation of final dividend has been incorporated in the
financial statements as an allocation of share premium within the
equity section of the statement of financial position.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and the
prospectus of the Company dated 20 October 2009, is set out
on page 253. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s investment properties
are set out on page 254.
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SENIOR NOTES

The Company issued US$200 million senior notes (the “Notes”),
with a maturity of five years and bearing a coupon interest rate of
13.5% on 15 December 2010. The Company intends to use the
net proceeds to repay certain of the Group’s existing loans, fund
the acquisition of land for residential and commercial property
development (including through the acquisition of equity interests
in entities that own development sites or assets) and for general
corporate purposes. For the details of the senior notes of the
Company, please refer to note 27 to the financial statements.

BONDS ISSUE

The Company issued 10% bonds in an aggregate principal
value of HK$1 billion with a maturity of three years to China
Life Trustees Limited on 8 July 2010 and 8 November 2010
respectively. The purpose of the proceeds from such issue is
to provide financial support to the expansion of the Group’s
property development business. For the details of the bonds of
the Company, please refer to note 27 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands,
the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company repurchased a portion of the Notes amounting to
US$500,000 in aggregate principal amount, representing 0.25%
of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes on 4 October
2011. The repurchased Notes have been cancelled on 12
October 2011 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Notes. As a result of the event, the outstanding principal amount
of the Notes are US$199.5 million.

Apart from the above event, neither the Company, nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2011, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, amounted
to RMB1,318,407,000, of which RMB77,802,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB3,318,000 (2010: RMB9,935,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, no sales to the Group’s five largest
customers and purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for over 30% of the total sales for the year and of the
total purchases for the year, respectively.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Lung On (Chairman)

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Zhibin (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 20 January 2011 and
resigned on 31 December 2011)

Mr. Lin Longzhi

Mr. Lin Conghui

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Gu Jiande
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang
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Mr. Huang Zhibin resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 January
2012 to devote more time to his personal matters. The duty of
Chief Executive Officer has been undertaken by Mr. Lam Lung
On, the chairman of the Company, since 1 January 2012. Mr.
Huang has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the
Board and there is no matter relating to his resignation that
needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Far East Consortium International Limited
(00035) on 8 September 2011.

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang, Mr. Lin Longzhi and
Mr. Liu Conghui will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The independent non-executive
directors are appointed for periods of three years.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Messrs. Gu Jiande, Lam Kwong Siu and
Wee Henny Soon Chiang, and as at the date of this report still
considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 62 to 67
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not terminable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements, no
director had an interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2011, the interests of the directors in the share
capital of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO"), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN ORDINARY SHARES
OF THE COMPANY:
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(@ Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. Lam Lung On are married to each other.
Save as provided above, none of the directors have any

interests in the share capital of the Company or its associated
corporations.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2011, the interests of relevant persons (other
than the directors of the Company) in the share capital of the
Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of SFO, were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN ORDINARY SHARES
OF THE COMPANY:
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(a Among those shares, 504,000,000 shares were pledged to the
bonds issued to China Life Trustees Limited.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 May 2010, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
was adopted and approved by the then shareholders of
the Company for a period of 10 years commencing on the
adoption date. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its
discretion, invite any directors (including executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) and employees of any member of the Group and
any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, customers,
suppliers, agents, business partners, joint venture business
partners, service providers of any member of the Group who
the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed
or will contribute to the Group to participate in the Scheme
(“Participants”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide Participants with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, to
encourage Participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and to provide the Company with a
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to Participants.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted under the
Scheme shall not exceed 240,000,000 shares of the Company
in aggregate, representing 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report, and the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company to each Participant in
any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of shares in issue. At the time of grant of the options under
the Scheme, the Company may specify any minimum period(s)
for which the options must be held before it can be exercised.
The period within which the options under the Scheme may be
exercised will be specified by the Company at the time of grant.
This period must expire no later than 10 years from the relevant
date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The amount payable on acceptance of an option to be granted
under the Scheme is HK$1.00 and the exercise price of the
option shall be such price determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to the Participant at the time an offer of the
grant of an option is made, but in any event, shall be no less than
the higher of:

(@  the closing price of the share of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the share of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(c)  the nominal value of the share of the Company on the date
of grant.

As at the date of this report, no options had been granted since
adoption of the Scheme.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report, being the latest practicable date prior to
the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board has reviewed the accounting
policies, accounting standards and practices adopted by the
Group, discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters, and reviewed the consolidated financial statements and
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of
directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by the Company’s
auditors, Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. There has been no change of the auditors of the
Company since the listing of the Company’s shares on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on 2 November 2009.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Lam Lung On
Chairman

Hong Kong
22 March 2012
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors (‘Board”) and the management of the Company
are committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth
and enhancing shareholders’ value. The corporate governance principles
of the Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls,
and transparency and accountability to all shareholders. The Company
has applied the principles and complied with all, except A.2.1, where
applicable, of the rules of the Main Board, code provisions and, where
applicable, the recommended best practices of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (“Code on CG Practices”), which has been
renamed as Corporate Governance Code (‘CG Code”) with effect from
1 April 2012 as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2011.

slle Ao 8/
ﬁf%ﬁ??lé?# %%

ARBEER ([EF2E ) REEERNERFRIFN
CEEAERAEEF ARBARERENEEER
BEREMMER BENRFTE  KINE EREE
R EENRTT SRR - A RBMETHRE
BERRAZEEREZCERS B2 2 AREE U
REH2EERZEAEIMEE BE-_T——F
TZA=Z+—BLEER ARFECERETEHA
RZMARAT (BT @R EmRER(T LM
RAD M+ mz bEERER TR ([REERS
TR (B2 ——FOA-BRSEEEEAR
STRICTRE TR ) PR B W EEF A (1iE
A EMARR - FRMGEX R (WER) ZERES R
(1BA2ABRIN) o

Key corporate governance principles and corporate governance practices

of the Company are summarised below:

|. RULES OF THE MAIN BOARD

Rule Ref.
SERH

3.08

Listing Rules

(effectively from 1 January 2012)
LHHE
(B=EB--FE-f—-HEEX)

Duties of Directors

EZRE

The Directors must take an active interest
in the issuer’s affairs and obtain a general
understanding of its business. They must
follow up anything improper that comes
to their attention. Delegating Directors’
functions is permissible but does not
prevent them from their responsibilities or
from applying the required levels of skill,
care and diligence.

EZERBHEOETASEE LHETA
(BAEZEER BEERRENKEEEN
WRRE -BEAMBRIRRMA - Bl
BreeRbMoBEERREREE
EENHPTENAEL

Compliance
-5

el

REAZETEBLFERRAREEEREREM N

ZiN
T

. EhRAEE]

Corporate Governance Practices
LEERER

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year in which it
involves active participation by majority of the Directors, either in person or
through other electronic means of communication, for business,.
EXerHeReF 20 BRIR XBHESURS LR EBAME
FRASARE2EREEE

Communications between Directors, on one hand, and the Company
Secretary who acts as coordinator, for other business units of the Group on
the other hand, is a dynamic and interactive process to ensure that queries
raised and clarification sought by the Directors are dealt with and that further
supporting information is provided if appropriate.
EERASEREBHFACEANER BRARNERA EZLHBER
BREFHARMREKEEZ SRRGRE TERRE-SEEER
(fH@EE) o

Every Executive Director has hands-on knowledge and expertise in the areas
and operation in which he/she is in charge with.

RHTESHERANEBEBREFNRER NS RERER-

Memoranda are issued by the Company to Directors, from time to time,

on updating the legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to
Directors in the discharge of their duties.
ARTRELBETENBAEZRANEENRAEEY UREMEHE
ERTHEENEH.
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Rule Ref.
SERH

3.10A

3.28,
3.29

Listing Rules
LKA

Number of Independent Non-executive
Directors in the Board
BUYFHTESHESEAY

Independent Non-executive Directors shall
represent at least one-third of the Board.
BUFNTESREBTAEEEAUE

P=H2—

Qualifications, experience and training
of Company Secretary
ARBENER KRR

The Company Secretary shall have
academic or professional qualifications
acceptable by the Stock Exchange,
including as a Member of The Hong

Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,

a solicitor or a qualified accountant. The
Company Secretary also shall possess
“relevant experience’as required by

the Stock Exchange, including length

of employment with the issuer, training
taken, familiarity with the Listing Rules

and other relevant law and regulations
and professional qualifications in other
jurisdictions.
REMERREE MR R RAIE M
M EEER ARBEGTUERSS
8 ZM3 e thl - A AIWE MR
RAERN [EBER] SEERTET
AREE - L2MEE B (EmRAD
REREENABRE N REACAEE
ERMEREMR

The Company Secretary must take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in each financial year. As such, a
transitional arrangement for such rule shall
be provided.
RANEREBEMBEE2 M LR6
NS AR E R - YRR AR
BEZHE

Compliance

8%

Corporate Governance Practices
LEERER

The Board consists of a total of seven Directors, comprising four Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. Therefore, in the
Board composition, the number of Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeds the minimum number required under the Listing Rules. The
Company also considers that there is a sufficiently independent element

on the Board to provide the Company and its shareholders with fair and
independent advice.

EFeRtNESEN RERURTESREUBUFRITES At
ERCEREVHNTEE EABB I TRAZRERTE - ADRRA
ESECARMWAYL TARARAIRRRRELATRELCER -

Mr. Chiu Yu Kang is our Company Secretary. Mr. Chiu graduated with

a Master’s Degree in Economics and a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Hong Kong. He is a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

BFEABMORANE -BELEREREAAE SRIMGIHERRS
TENREEEETEM RARN ARG NASNEENE B
AEHES-

Mr. Chiu joined the Company in October 2008. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chiu worked in an international C.P.A. firm. Mr. Chiu has over ten years
of experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and company
secretarial practice. He is very familiar with the Listing Rules and the relevant
laws.
BEERZZZNFETAMARRE EMARARA - B EEBR—FK
B esMEh RES e MBEERRARNNEEREaBRT
FER 8 (EMRAD REBERTHRE.

Mr. Chiu has taken no less than 15 hours of professional training on company
secretarial course in each financial year. He has sufficient knowledge in
respect of the duties of a company secretary and the relevant laws.
BEEEGERBRFELNTIMSN RN R ANERENZEE - H
RARAWENRENEEEDIE R ANBH -
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Rule Ref.

SERH
13.25A

13.51

Listing Rules
LKA

Exercise of the share options of the
issuer by the Directors of subsidiaries
of an issuer
BTAMBADESTRBETANRSG H
1

Upon the exercise of the share options of
the issuer by a Director of subsidiaries,
the disclosure obligation only arises where
the event, either individually or when
aggregated with any other events, results
in increase or decrease of 5% or more

of the issuer’s share capital in the last
monthly return.

Wi B A R EF TR BT AR R
REEMEIEREEFHaEEHE
TTARAR E—1p AMKIE %A £
MER AL A

Circulate information on change of

Directorship and disclose information

on Directors (including Chief Executive

Officer)

BREZAZZIRRKEES
(BREATHER) &N

(i) The issuer requires disclosure of
remuneration of Chief Executive
Officer who is not acting as a
Director.

(i) BOARBEIFEESNTHE
HEEM-

(il It requires disclosure of information
on the retirement or removal of a
Director or supervisor.

i) ARBESAEZREIRER
&R

(i) It requires disclosure of information
on the appointment, resignation,
re-designation, retirement or
removal of Chief Executive Officer.

(i)  ARBETHEHRREE B B
B RESBERNER

(iv) It requires disclosure of Director’s
information on all civil judgments
of fraud, breach of duty, or other
misconduct involving dishonesty.

v ARBEEEFHE BREMN
HeBEAGHTETANRS
FIREVE R -

Compliance

8%

N/A
TEH

N/A
TEH

N/A
TiER

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report

CEEHRRE
Corporate Governance Practices

CEERER

o Well aware of his/her obligations under the Listing Rules to announce any

information that is considered to be price-sensitive;
. FARBHR FTRBERRERE ARUTEREEANERTNER-

. Makes reference to the “Guide on Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information
and Recent Economic Developments and the Disclosure Obligations of Listed
Issuers” issued by the Stock Exchange in 2002 and 2008 respectively;

. BIUZFAN ST _SHEMNREGFEHRERIIN_STNFER
HHERAHEEERERAR EMETANRERE-

o The Company had no event which resulted in an increase or decrease of 5%
or more of the issuer’s share capital in the last monthly return during the year.

. ARARAFEE Y EEHEIT ARSR L~ ) B RRIEBE%A LRE(F -

e The Company has no Chief Executive Officer who is not acting as a Director.
. ADAIGBIEFESOTHES

o The Board of the Company had timely disclosed on its website and Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website that Mr. Huang Zhibin had resigned as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 January 2012. Save as
above there is no change in Director and supervisor.

. ARPURBEEHERSMNBUBARREELRLER S
—H HERHERRARTTHAS B %%M%aﬁ§$&¢$mA$m
o

o Mr. Huang submits his resignation due to fact that he needs to devote

more time to his personal matters. Mr. Huang had confirmed that he had
no disagreement with the Board and there was no matter relating to his
resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company or The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The duties of
Chief Executive Officer will be undertaken by Mr. Lam Lung On, the Chairman
of the Company.

. EREMNRERSREREEASHMELFR ERERANESS
YEERDR BEFRAREMRANERRAARRABTERERIMA
BRARZEH - MTBAHNBBERAR A EEREL L ERFEE-

o The Company is not aware of any Directors’s fraud, breach of duty, or other
misconduct involving dishonesty.

. ARRAAEERENERESNGF ERAAIECARAGNIETR.
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Rule Ref.
SERH

13.51D

13.88

Listing Rules
LKA

Publication of the procedures for
election of Director
HRREESNER

The issuer must publish the procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director on its website.
BERTALE@RBERRRAAES
BERNER-

Shareholders’ approval to appoint or
remove an auditor

BRERUEZARERGLHUE

It requires shareholders’ approval at a
general meeting of any proposal to appoint
or remove an auditor before the term of his
office expires.

RERMABZERRM AT
ERAHERENERIERREAS £
ERR R o

The rule requires the issuer to send a
circular stating any written representations
from the auditor. The auditor must be
allowed to make written and/or verbal
representations at the general meeting
relating to its removal.
IRARERTAARRRTEEL &
JISRMEMEEaRR s EE
ERERARLHNRRAS HELER
%, sk OGEER o

Compliance

8%

N/A
TNEH

N/A
@R

Corporate Governance Practices
LEERER

° The Company established a Nomination Committee on 9 October 2009.
The duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board from time to time to ensure the Board
has a balanced composition of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the businesses of the Company, to identify, screen and
recommend to the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, to
oversee the process for evaluating the performance of the Board.

. ARAIRZBENETANBRIREREZE S REZEGRETREY
EFQRE ABRAK BREZCHABRATAREBMERE
BRI ATEK NE KERNESERBEESHAESEXENAR
EETTEZERAMNER-

o The Terms of Reference for the Nomination Committee are published on the
Company'’s website.

. RAZRBEEANATRL LEHABELE-

o The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director have been stated in the Articles of Association of the Company and
on its website.

. ARRBRAANBLALIRRRAAZZ2EEZNER-

o The Audit Committee recommended the Board to re-appoint Ernst & Young
as the Company’s external auditors for 2012, subject to the approval of
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

. ERZEENESLRS BETKEHMEBMEARRAIZS—ZFF
HNEZEA  ERERRENEEBTNRREFAE L1k FAEE-
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TEERR

of

13.90

|| . CODE PROVISIONS || . =SFRHEX

Ald

Publication of the constitutional
documents on website

ERUBRARERE

It requires the issuer to publish on its v/ o The Articles of Association of the Company has been published on its website
own website and on the Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Stock Exchange’s website an up to date . ARABE R ABHEEHARER -
consolidated version of its constitutional

documents. (An issuer must publish on

its own website and on the Exchange’s

website, an up to date consolidated

version of its Memorandum and Articles

of Association or equivalent constitutional

document.)

BEBRTAREBRBUREER B

WEHHBRSRIENRARARA - (%

TARAEEEAE REAR 5485 EH

FHARERAARERANHZRAAR

ERNHHEREERA )

DIRECTORS
S

THE BOARD
g

Corporate Governance Principles

The Board should assume the responsibility for leading and controlling the Company; and is collectively responsible for diirecting and supervising the
Company's affairs.

PFEERRA

BZRRAFFERERARAANEL WERRBEREREERLAEF -

Regular board meetings should be held at v/ o The Board meets regularly and holds meetings in January, March, August,
least four times a year in which it involves and December of 2011 to perform the duty of controlling the Company’s
active participation of majority of Directors, corporate governance..

either in person or through other electronic . gxerdHe N-T—F—A ZA - NARt-ABREE UET
means of communication, to perform ERRDANLERRNEL.

the duty of controlling the Company’s

corporate governance. o Detalils of Directors’ attendance records in 2011:
EzeresREEESBREA KX . EEN-Z——FHMEsLREFEMT:
BLEFHRI LR JEBEMETEA

HEBEER2E URTERARNGES

ik 0)-Rsd
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Code
Ref.
Practices Code Provisions Compliance
2%38 AKX By
A1.2 All Directors are given an opportunity to v/

include matters in the agenda for regular
board meetings.
PREERARERINNFRINES

Ao A Ay
erHeEER-

A13 - At least 14 days notice for v/

convening regular board meetings

should be given.

- BREFeTHeIRELE D
THORBA-

- Reasonable notice should be v/
given for other board meetings.

- ARAtMESEeRRELAR
B

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

Members of the Board
ESEHE

Executive Directors
HITES

Lam Lung On (Chairman)
WER (/)

Kwok Ying Lan (Vice Chairman)
HDEE (FEE)

Huang Zhibin (resigned)
BL(BRR)

Lin Longzhi

MEE

Lin Conghui

iR

Independent Non-executive Directors
BUKHTES

Gu Jiande

EXe

Lam Kwong Siu

WEK

Wee Henny Soon Chiang
=R

Note:

Attendance

HERH

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

4/4

4/4

3/4

4/4

The Directors may attend meetings in person, by telephone or through
other means of electronic communication or by their alternate Directors (if
applicable) in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

fis: READAESREL EL2ANRS BAEFAFIEMEFRALALE
% JHABEES (MER)RALRE-
o All Directors were being consulted as to whether they may want to include
any matter on the agenda before the agenda for each regular Board meeting
is issued.

. REEFEEHRRLEEN BANEESRDARRNENENS
VUMIUN-F & T4

o Regular Board meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled towards the
end of the immediately preceding year to give all Directors adequate time to
plan their schedules to attend the meetings.

. BERRCESECHE AN —FEERIAHETRE ERES
BRmEmRLEes.

o At least 14 days formal notice was given before each regular meeting.
. RERBREREENE) THRELENBA-
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Code
Ref.
Practices

$E50
Al4

A15

A1.6

Code Provisions

FRHX

All Directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that the
Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
FEESEARBARNENERNEZR
tERS BENRATRRESERFR
EERRBRROIGEGEST.

- Minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of board committees
should be kept by a duly
appointed secretary of the
meeting.

= BEAZENEENERGERE
FERABTZE SN G SR

- Such minutes should be open for
inspection at any reasonable time
upon reasonable notice by any
Director.

= ERENEZHHAEEA BA
REReRRSHEEANER
MERERH -

- Minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board committees
should record sufficient details
of the matters considered by the
Board and the decisions reached.

- EZERAETZEENEERL
B EHER T RESMERSE
REHE)RENE RS AR -

- After the Board meeting, the
draft and final versions of Board
minutes should be sent within a
reasonable period of time for all
Directors to comment and to keep
records within a reasonable time
after the Board meeting.

= EXEQRARE ERAERR
AL BeZDENIRRRETE
REXIREES TRftEsRE
BR BEERAERRZSE A -

Compliance
By

v

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governa‘n'ce* Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

Directors have access to the Company Secretary and key officers of the
Company Secretarial Department who are accountable to the Board for
ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are being followed.
ARMERDANENEIEAERRAESREER WERNEECAR
NRRESGERFRAEERRARAGILELT

Memoranda are issued to the Directors from time to time to update them with
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in the
discharge of their duties.
THEEHBETENBAEZRANEENREEY UREMEHESZR
THEEMNEH.

The Company Secretary prepares written resolutions or minutes and keeps
records of the matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board and
Board Committee meetings.
ARNEREMEESERAETZEEEREMARRIERTHE 1
e FEENSEERRRE -

The Board and Board Committee minutes/resolutions are sent to all Directors/
Board Committee members within a reasonable time (generally within 14
days) after each Board and Board Committee meeting.
BREZFEREETZE8R4RE REERRA (—RRTERA)
REEe AR T ZE SRR AR RER 2 RES/HETZEER

=
o

The Board and Board Committee minutes/resolutions are available for
inspection by Directors/Board Committee members.
EReRAE T ZE e e/ ARRIHES/HETREeNEEH-

The minutes record sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board/
Board Committees thereunder and the decisions reached.

CRNYES e/ HETZEEMERNFERERMNAEERMFAN
ke

Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board minutes.

ESAfEES R RBRRER

The final version of Board minutes is placed on record within a reasonable
time after the Board meeting.

BEZRERARR NAERRARFERCENRKERIFLE LA
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Code
Ref.
Practices

2250
A17

A1.8

Code Provisions

FRHX

HE

A procedure agreed by the v/
board to enable Directors, upon

reasonable request, to seek

independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the
company’s expense.

EReRAHTER BEERA

BER AEEZNER TERE
VEXER BERAARLN.

The board should resolve to v/
provide separate independent

professional advice to Directors

to assist the relevant Director or

Directors to discharge his/their

duties to the company.
EXCRARDIRESRES
VEXER UBHEBESRET
HHRAMEE.

If a substantial shareholder or a v/
Director has a conflict of interest

in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the
matter should be dealt with by

a board meeting (but not by a
written resolution).
ERARRAESEESZEHT
ZENEEREREZERARE
ANFIRER  FEEEENET
gz ARE (MESER
#)e

Independent Non-executive v/
Directors and his associates who

have no material interest in the

transaction should be present at

such board meeting.

ERSRAG REBEADRE
BEAFGRNBUFNTEZEZ
HEEBNESeeH-

Compliance
By

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

Directors have been advised that the Company Secretary can arrange
independent professional advice, at Company’s expense, should such advice
be considered necessary by any Director.

EFCRAN EEMEERAGUESRBUEEER RANEARA
ZH BRHARAX

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that
all Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) are aware of and
can comment, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
EEFE-RUBERBRAZARE UEL2REF (BEBUFNTE
B)EMZEMEE UHASKER (WER) % FHEZFE-

Director must declare his/her interest in the matters to be passed in the
resolution, if applicable.

BEERRASRNBRRB ZHA RN (HER) o

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter
to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and
regulations and, if appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set
up to deal with the matter.

EEARRAESEESER TERNEHTFRESERAEANFE
BR FRFERRBERNRIRRIEE TEEERATHIEEE
EMBUZEERE.
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Code
Ref.
Practices

$E50
A2

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMRE

Code Provisions Compliance  Corporate Governance Practice
AR By LEERER

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER

TRRTBAR

Corporate Governance Principle
There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company to ensure a balance of

power and authority.

BEERFH

AT RRABTREAGEMALES D EREN PR L

- Separate roles of Chairman and Explanation Despite the code provision A.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer not to be R Chief Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed
performed by the same individual. by the same individual, the Group’s current practice has deviated from the

= ITRETHESNACEERS requirement of this provision. Mr. Lam Lung On is the Chairman and also the
WA ER— ARRRE- Chief Executive Officer of the Group.

. BETFABEXA2 IR EERETHEINACEERS YT EA—AR

- Division of responsibilities Explanation ERE BAKEE A 2 BRRBLE AT MEZEERLEBZE
between the Chairman and Chief B & MR RETBRES -
Executive Officer should be clearly
established and set out in writing. o After due consideration to the unique history and development of the

- FRATRAH 2 ABRENS T Group’s own business and structure, the Board decided to maintain this
ERRREWAEESIE structure. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in real estate management

projects, is responsible for the Group’s overall strategy planning and business
management. The Board believes that the current structure gives significant
benefits to the Group as it maintains a strong and effective leadership and
ensures an efficient decision making process.

. BERZEASENBERELRAFEBRABNER E2QRTRA
HREB - MEEREEREARRSERAR AEASERERRRER
EBER -EZOHCLEREMERRRRAYGNEE BRABBN
RERF B HARSEE L

o Furthermore, the Board comprises reputable and experienced professionals
who assist in maintaining a balance of power without compromising the
consistent leadership of the Group. The Chairman, as convener and chair
person of Board meetings, has no special power which is different from that
of other Directors in the decision-making of the Board.

. A EEEHBER M ARREENEXALAN BBERENNT
EMBAREASERE, Bt -EZREAEFEGANBEANE
FA EEZERE LWRBRNEMESNRRES

o To help achieve a balance of power and authority, the Company has in
place an established management system and structure. For the Investment
Decision Committee, Tender Decision Committee, Purchasing Decision
Committee and Marketing Decision Committee, all of which comprise
certain Executive Directors and senior management, hold regular meetings
for day-to-day business management. Decisions on all material matters
will be subject to complete and stringent deliberation and decision making
procedures in order to ensure the balance of power and authority.

. RBPREENNTE ARRRY T RENHENERE AETHTES
REREBASERIRERRZES REAREZEE REAREZES
RERARZEEFHREKARER SHENER EATHYLA
TE  BRENMENRKIL 5w UHRE ) R 2 5 g
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Code

Ref.

Practices Code Provisions

2%38 AKX

A22 The Chairman should ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at board meetings.
IRERREZCRELMAESHEE
HAE A EIE

A23 The Chairman should be responsible for

ensuring that the Directors will receive
adequate information, which must be
complete and reliable, in a timely manner.
IREAERRESRERITINE
Ao mBEBERMBET AR E

Compliance
By

v

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

o With the assistance of the Executive Directors and the Company Secretary,
the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable information on a
timely basis.

. EHTEERARANERY T IRBNEREZCCE LMEEENE
EATEANEE TEAREGRARASZNE.

. In addition to regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of the Executive
Directors in 2011. Details of the attendance records of the meeting is as
follows:

. KREZeTHes) ESeTRERVIRNTESN - — ST RERE
MATERNERATRTEE - SR RFENT:

Members of the Board

EZ@HE

Executive Director

HITES

Lam Lung On (Chairman) 1/1

MR (1/E)

Attendance
HERY

Independent Non-Executive Director

BUKBTES

Gu Jiande 1/1
EXe

Lam Kwong Siu 11
WEK

Wee Henny Soon Chiang 1/1
X

Note:

The Directors may attend meetings in person, by telephone or through
other means of electronic communication or by their afternate Directors (if
applicable) in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

fisr: READAESREL EL2ANRS BFAEZAFEMEFRALALRE
% JHAREES (MER)RALRE-

o The Board papers including supporting analysis and related background
information are normally sent to the Directors at least three days before Board
meetings.

. EZQRRREREEITREBEREN —RRGABRI PR
REREF

o Communications between Independent Non-executive Directors on the one

hand, and the Company Secretary as coordinator for the other business
units of the Group on the other hand, is a dynamic and interactive process
to ensure that the queries raised and clarification sought by the Directors
are dealt with and further supporting information and/or documentation is
provided if appropriate.

. BUEATESEASERERDII2HNER BRANEHA EZE
PREY BRESFARBIELBE L FERERE  VEREE—F
EEEMR, X (HEE) -
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AR By LEERER

BOARD COMPOSITION

ESg4AM

Corporate Governance Principle

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company and should include a
balanced composition of Executive and Non-executive Directors so that independent juagment can effectively be exercised.

PREERRA

BFERREALAREMEGHENERENER EELFHTEFLIHNTEENHEEARITIE L R FIEL B 7k o

Independent Non-executive Directors v/ o The composition of the Board, by category and position of Directors including
should be expressly identified as such in the names of the Chairman, Executive Directors, and Independent Non-

all corporate communications that disclose executive Directors, is disclosed in corporate communications.

the names of Directors of the company. . ERRBNAERESEAREE (BEEE MIZERBUEHRTE
ARFESBESHEMARABAT & B)REESeMEN-

ZREHABUENTEE SR

o The Board consists of a total of seven Directors, comprising four Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. Of which, more
than one Independent Non-executive Directors have appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

. EremtUESAR BRONRTESR=UBUFATES BT
BUBUEATEZAGAEFTEER JABEENGHIBBYE
ERER

o Details of the composition of the Board are set out on page 82.

. BN ENEE

o The Directors’ biographical information and the relationships among the
Directors are set out on pages 62 to 66.

. BEEEAERRESRMBERIERNF62EF6067 °

o Review the Board composition regularly to ensure that it has a balance
of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company.

. ARAEHENEZG AN BREZSHAREAARAEBHNEE
R RERER ALHEK

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL
RE BERER

Corporate Governance Principle
There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the aopointment of new Directors and plans in place for orderly succession for
appointments to the Board. All Directors should be subject to re-election at requiar intervals.

PEERERA

EFRRNTIERN SFRZEVRFHENTEZLZLESF VEREHKFHEFELTE FEEFLERGE TRELTEE
Non-executive Directors should be v/ o All Directors (including Non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by
appointed for a specific term, subject to rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election in accordance
re-election. with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Code on CG Practices.
FRTESNREEAEEES LAE . REARAAEBMAIRCEEARRTIIAT MEES (ARFRTE
REMER. Z2)RBZERRER VAKEEER.
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H
[=]

Code Provisions

FRHX

All Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy should be subject
to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after their
appointment.

e RERGERERMHZEN
EZREEXZEANBRRE
AELEXRRER.

Every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three
years.

BREZ (ARAREEESENE
Z)RBRRE EOE=F—

S
N

Compliance
By

v

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, newly appointed Directors

are required to offer themselves for re-election at the next following general
meeting (in the case of filing a casual vacancy) or at the next following annual
general meeting (in the case of an addition to the existing Board) following
their appointment.

REARRERMA FAENMEEFHACEIZARNTRARRAG £

(NMBERERZR) A TERREFAS L (WBEFREESENR)E
BEE

The Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of new Directors and
Directors” nomination for re-election by shareholders at the general meeting of
the Company. Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board may from time to
time appoint a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any such new Director shall hold office until the next following
general mesting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) or
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of
an addition to the existing Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election at
the same general meeting.

EFR R EREZANEERRAEENALAIREAS FERRER
REARFZRAA EXSU IR EEZNERBRERIILIRE
EZEWE -MEEZZAREARATAREAS (MEEHHERZEER)
FEADAI TERRBEAEG (WREFREEFENE)RIL LEER
RE—RRAE LEEETE-

All Directors (including Non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election in accordance
with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Code on CG Practices.
READAIZRAARCEENTRTUNIAT FMEES (BEFNTE
Z2)RBZEBRER VAREEER.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed from time to
time to ensure the Board has a balanced composition of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors is assessed
according to the relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules.
THEEHEFENER ABREK BREFEHABRARAREBM
FRARER ATEK -BUFATESNB YN DER R AIEE
{691 B 3 2 1 £ 1 R AZ

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors makes an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the
terms of the guidelines.
EBEUFHTESERB TR AERRBRAFT B LI 2 BFR
REANARBABBLFATESENS LHRANBHEBLILHES 2
RE  WIREZIES R EBYLA L
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

ESEA

Corporate Governance Principle

Every Director is required to keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the operation method, business activities and
adevelopment of the Company.

PREERRA

BEEFRTHEHAERLLAEENRE UREAGNEET I FHAGRER -

- Every newly appointed Director v/ o The Company Secretary and key officers of the Company Secretarial

of the company should receive

a comprehensive, formal and

tailored-made induction on the first

occasion of his appointment, and

subsequently such briefing and o

professional development as is

necessary.

BENZAENEFURERNE

xiﬁ%# F2E EXFRFARE .
ROFERM AR TTERSH

*mﬂ%&%%%E°

To ensure that he has a proper v/

understanding of the operations

and business of the Company

and that he is fully aware of his

responsibilities under statute

and common law, Listing Rules,

applicable legal requirements and o

other regulatory requirements and

the business and governance

policies of the company.

ERMMERRNEERERS

HEEMER URTEMERY

EERRERE EHHRRER .
EEERE RAME ’ﬁiu&
RRMEBRECHE THRE -

Department liaise closely with the newly appointed Directors immediately
before and after his/her appointment to get the newly appointed Directors
acquainted with the duties and responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and the business operations of the Company.

RERCEZZREAFARRRESNBERRE ARARANERE
W AARERRAMEDEIEABRHAEZRZAANRYELREE
& HF§

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’s legal advisers setting
out such duties and responsibilities under the Listing Rules, Companies
Ordinance and other related ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements
of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed Director. A revised
information package comprising the latest developments in laws, rules and
regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities of Directors will be
forwarded to each Director from time to time for his/her information and ready
reference. Guidelines for Directors issued by the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors have been forwarded to each
Director for his/her information and ready reference.

BMEEETEY RAVARER R REMNEEER 58
LAREN ARG M&HﬁﬁﬁiW&E%ﬁW CEROITH ES

BEREE REFRTIRERE—DETER UBZREXEHEZR
AREEZEN R RRIR R EE o m%% AlEMEREEEEE
B ESHIIERTRESUHLZZRHE

Memoranda are issued from time to time to keep Directors up to date with
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in the
discharge of their duties

HEEEMEEU

Seminars are organised from time to time at which distinguished professionals
are invited to present to the Directors on subjects relating to Directors’ duties
and corporate governance, etc.

TR THEETEFENEEATRESAREBESRERCEE RS
HERRE -
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A5.3

Code Provisions

FRHX

The functions of Non-executive Directors
include:

FHTESNRERE:

- bring independent judgment
on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct at board
meetings;

- BENAEELEH HIRK
BBR - ARIRR - MER B
B EEZARBRTENSERE
FREBUNER:

- take the lead on potential conflicts
of interests;

= EERECEFRERGLBER
S EER:

= serve on the audit, remuneration,
nomination and other governance
committees, if invited; and

- ERLEELRZES FHMZE
e REZEERHMENZES
KB &

- scrutinize on the Company’s
performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives,
and monitoring the reporting of
performance.

- FABSLANRAREEIR
ERCERENAEN TERER
RARRAMEH

Every Director should ensure that he can
give sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company and should not
accept the appointment if he cannot do

S0.
FREFERREMNHRARBRBEBNU
REARNES DATERRIZE-

Compliance
By

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

o The Non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgment and advise
on the future business direction and strategic plans of the Company.
. FRTESHRRAZARER R AR KRR RHEBELRBRER -

o The Non-executive Directors review the financial information and operational
performance of the Company on a regular basis.
. FNTESTHEHARANABERNREERR

o The Independent Non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the Company.

. BUFNTESRALEANAEREE S REZEGRFMESEXK
=D

o There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings during the year. Please

refer to A.1.1 of Section Il above for details of attendance records.

. FARESEERCHRESARE - HELEFR EXFINZE AL

Jgo

o Every Executive Director has hands-on knowledge and expertise in the areas

and operations in which he/she is in charge of. Appropriate attention to the
affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as the quality of
such attention and the ability of the Directors to contribute with reference to
his/her necessary knowledge and expertise.

. RYTERHERANRB AR REMIAERNA L AEER -EFY

ARREBHEIEE BRERANER BX NRERELMZRER
fEHZERTAEE -
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A5.4

A55

Directors must comply with the
Model Code.
EZVAETIRESA

The Board should establish written
guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code for
relevant employees.

EXQ RS EHAESREEE
158 K NBEZ T LR ES A
R

Each Director should disclose

to the issuer at the time of his
appointment, and on a periodic
basis, the number and nature of
offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant
commitments, and thereafter
should disclose timely for any
change thereof, if any. The Board
should determine for itself how
frequently such disclosure should
be made.
BEESRREXZARMET
ARE (TR AR T HRE) HR
ARV AINABE TR0 E
MMEARAMERRE HEE
EEMEDERGRE -E58E
BITREERZ AL —RRE -

explanation

B

91

BHMBERGERAA
—F——FFH

~

4

Corporate Governa‘n’cke Refor
TEERWRE

~

The Company had adopted the model code for securities transactions by
Directors of listed issuers (‘Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities
transactions and was effective from 11 February 2009.

ARRBEM EDRANGTEE EHETABSTETEF X FHOEEST
Bl (MREFA) EARRRAIESEREF CRETA £HEHA-Z
ZNFZA+—R-

Confirmation has been received from all the Directors that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2011.

MEEFERR REE-Z——FT-A=T-HLEFER —HEETE
HEFRIEHRE

Written guidelines on securities transactions for employees was issued to
relevant employees.

BEERBEEF EMEICERTRENES

The Directors, when accepted the appointments, have disclosed (and
thereafter will disclose from time to time) to the Company about the number
of positions held in public companies or organisations and its nature, and
other major appointments, together with names of such public companies or
organisations.

EFREXZARERALARE (TREETREE) ERARD %A
BREBLNEA RME UREMERE TREZSARD AISAR
pEA:E
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO

INFORMATION

ERRURER

Cormporate Governance Principle
Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and of such quallty as will enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

DEERRA

EFEAHEELEENEN AVAREEREBENE L EEBENGEN YR AR ETRIEAA L EFORERAL -

= Agenda and full Board papers v/ ° Board/Board Committee papers are circulated to the Directors/Board
should be sent to all Directors and committee members not less than three days before the regular Board/Board
on time, and at least 3 days before Committee meetings to enable the Directors/Board Committee members
holding the regular Board or Board to make informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board/Board
committee meeting. Committee meetings.

- ExgrHesnaiEERe . RERES/HETZEeNENESE HETEZEGEH LRINZA
B o - HEEEERD ERIMELAT BREORESE HETZEEEH
ZOEAEABTESEIHAET ERBRATNIN=RRRES /HETEZEEME -

ZE@EHABN=RATAL -

- So far as practicable, should apply v/
to other Board meetings.
- EXQEMBRATEANTNE

RTIERAA LR

- The management has an v/ o The Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer attend all regular Board
obligation to supply to the Board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, and
and the committees thereunder accounting and financial matters, as appropriate.
with adequate information in a . ARMERNBEENLEMEESEENgE URCEER RIEE
timely manner to enable it to make Ret i BEEEERNESSREER (HEE) -
informed decisions.

- EEBERARNESERAET . Communications between Directors on the one hand, and the Company
ZESRUTEMERER ME Secretary, who acts as coordinator for the other business units of the Group
ESHNTEREEHENNER on the other hand, is a dynamic and interactive process to ensure that queries
THERRE o raised and clarification sought by the Directors are dealt with and that further

supporting information is provided if appropriate.

- The Board and each Director v . ESHEASEX BRI ANER AARWERHA - EZEDBES
should have separate and BRESHARAREREECERESEE VEREE—PEBEER
independent access to the (fHEg)

Company’s senior management
for making further enquiries where
necessary.

- EZERBRESRARTER
ARRAEEABMBUART 1A
EREZBEE—STH-

- All Directors are entitled to have / ° Please see A.6.1 and A.6.2 of Section Il above.
access to board papers and . F2REXEIH2EAD RAB2E.

related materials.
- MBESHEREHESERER
IBBEEH -

= Steps must be taken to respond /
as promptly and fully as possible
to queries raised by Directors.

= GRESRIMEE DR MERR
FRURRMELREZENEE -
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESREREBAENHH

THE LEVEL AND COMPOSITION OF
REMUNERATION AND DISCLOSURE
FMRBEMKERAR

Corporate Governance Principle

There should be a formal and transparent procedlure for setting policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration

packages for all Directors.
PREBERA

BRELHMEEFREST YT EERTEEN IR REEEEFNFHE

Establish a remuneration committee

with specific written terms of reference
comprising a majority of Independent Non-
executive Directors.
EHRABRERXEEBENFMES
2 EMEEENABIREBEABH
HoES.

v

o In accordance with the Code on CG Practices, the Company has set up a
remuneration committee (‘Remuneration Committee”) with a majority of the
members being Independent Non-executive Directors.

. BEAXERATHTA ARAERUABIKERBLFNTESLH
BZEg ([FMEEE])-

o The Company established its Remuneration Committee on 9 October 2009.

. ARRAER-_FENFTANBKUENERE-

o The Remuneration Committee comprises the Chairman of the Board, Mr.
Lam Lung On, and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Gu
Jiande (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Wee Henny Soon
Chiang.

. FMEES e EREESFe I RMER AL URMUBUINTESE
BELE (FMZEEQER) RERALE -

o Since the publication of the Company’s 2010 annual report in April 2011, a
meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held in December 2011. Details
of the attendance records of the members of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

. BT ——SNAHEARR S-S5 FHE FHEETN T ——
Ft-RERgZ FMZEEQZEZHRERHBNT:

Members of the Remuneration

Committee Attendance
FMZz5E%8 HERE
Gu Jiande (Chairman) 1/1
ERE(EE)

Lam Lung On 1/1
MER

Wee Henny Soon Chiang 11
HER

Note:  The members of the Remuneration Committee may attend meetings in
person, by telephone or through other means of electronic communication
or by their alternates (if applicable) in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws.

sk REARFZRMY FHESCZSTURS EREAIHMETH
AAEEeS IHEEEA (WER)RBHRE -
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2E38  FAKI

B.1.2 The Remuneration Committee should
consult the Chairman and/or Chief
Executive Officer about their proposals
relating to the remuneration of other
executive Directors and have access
to professional advice if considered
necessary.

FHZEeEFEMNTERNFHES
FALFER/RTRER DRREFE:

FAEMBEUERER -

Compliance
By

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

o The following is a summary of the work for the Remuneration Committee
during the said meeting:
. FMZE N Lt emm TERMT -

0 Review of the remuneration policy for 2011/2012;
(1) REZF——Z2-_T-—FENFTHEE:

) Review of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

@  BAFRTESNHH:
3 Review of the annual performance bonus policy; and
Q) BAFERREALE: &

=

Approval of remuneration packages of Executive Directors.
@  HERTEENHFIEE-

o The Remuneration Committee has consulted the Chairman and/or Group
Chief Executive Officer about the proposals relating to the remuneration
packages and other human resources issues of the Directors and senior
management, including but not limited to, the succession plan and key
personnel movements as well as the policies for recruiting and retaining
qualified personnel.

. FHEZECEHERRSRERASZEMERRAMANERAE (2
BETIBREESE SEAFEE URABRREBSERATRER)H
ALER/EEETHERNER

o The emoluments of Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement
in the Company’s affairs and the performance of each Director, together with
reference to the profitability of the Company and prevailing market conditions.

. ARAZEEME DERERIES 2 RE MBKERZEDAEH IR
ERFE T2RARBMRARTISRENERE

o To enable them to provide better advice on the Group’s future remuneration
policy and related strategies, the Remuneration Committee has been advised
of the Group’s existing remuneration policy and succession plan, such as
guidelines on designing employees’ remuneration packages and related
market trends and information.

. RERFMEE SAHMAEEARARF MBI IEARRE LREEEER
FHZEeBENARER AEMIE RETHE (N8 THEMETES
RERzTISBERER) 25

o The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that there is in place a clear system
for determining remuneration, which is reasonable and has been followed
consistently in its application.

. FHEESRAAEEEREPRIEEEAEHM YEEHATAH
GIEE
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FRHX

Terms of reference of the remuneration
committee should include:

FHREeRER BT AERRE:

= determine the specific
remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior
management.

- ERRBUNEERaREERA
ERRTEHMES:

= review and approve performance-
based remuneration and the
compensation payable on
loss or termination of office or
appointment.

- RERBERREOEEOHH
R BB ZE AR NEE:

= ensure that no Director or any
of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration.
-  EREMEZZHETHEAD
GETEEHH-
The remuneration committee should make
available its terms of reference, explaining
its role and the authority delegated to it by
the board.
FHEEeRARHERSE BEHA
BEREEEEERNEN

The remuneration committee should

be provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
FMZEeRERGTRERNETAR

Fo

Compliance
By

v

B E B H R A F
T FFH
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TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which follow

closely the requirements of the Code Provisions, including determination

of the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, have been adopted by the Board, and are posted on the
Company’s website and Stock Exchange’s website.
BRERTFRAGBENT FMEEGRELE, REET R BITE
ERRAERABRNREHNGE, CRESSRALTHANARAIRUR
4 32 P 0 48 0 o

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the
Company’s website and Stock Exchange’s website.

FHIZE e 2 A BETEHNAR R R A -

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
determining the policy and structure for the remuneration of all executive
Directors, evaluating the performance of executive Directors and senior
management, reviewing incentive schemes and Directors’ service

contracts and fixing the remuneration packages for all Directors and

senior management, and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the Independent Non-Executive Directors.

FHEE e I ERE RN TR RNTESNFMBRRER TR
TEEREEERASNTERR R AR S EHEZNRBSHN
REERBEERREERASNFMNGSE URMBYLEATESNH
HrnEselRiEs-

The Human Resources Department provides administrative support and
implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions approved by the Remuneration Committee.
ANERBEEREABIBERBTETHEE @R B R A
ANERRTE -
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
BEREZE

C.1 FINANCIAL REPORTING
BRER

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should present a balancead, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Company's performance, position and prospects.

PEEREA
BERRETE BMREAMTEALANZE ERRAR
C.141 - The management should provide v/ o Directors are provided with a review of the Group’s major business activities
sufficient explanation and and key financial information on a monthly basis.
information to the Board that . EZHROERBASE T EXBEHNEREENHBER

will enable the board to make
an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put
before the board for approval.

- EEEENEZERATH MR
BREANEHN BEZSAM
RR e MENTBRELME
# - EHBRBHTE -

- The management shall supply /
the updated information to
members of the Board on a
monthly basis, stating a fair and
easily understandable assessment
regarding the performance,
financial position and prospect of
an issuer, which shall be sufficient
to allow the Directors to fulfill the
duties as required under Rule
3.08 and Chapter XIIl of the Main
Board.

- ERERGARNESENERESE
HER HIBABTAER §
BRRRAREADERSHRERE
ML ABRRNRESRET (£
RN F3.08ERET=ZFTH
EHBE -
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C.1.2 - The Directors should acknowledge v/ o The Directors annually acknowledge in writing their responsibility for preparing
in the Corporate Governance the financial statements of the Group.
Report their responsibility for . ESSFEARRANGAASEN SRR ALEHER-
preparing the accounts.
- EERECEE RMETERY . With the assistance of the Company’s Finance and Accounting Department
MEREEEMEL- which is under the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer who is a
professional accountant, the Directors ensure the preparation of the financial
= Unless it is inappropriate to v/ statements of the Group is in accordance with the statutory requirements and
assume that the company will applicable accounting standards.
continue in business, the Directors . ARAIMBREHFHEEEXSHMEAR MBRERE EZHMH
should prepare the accounts PN ESRRARENERRNGRATEEBERRER 2 ST E
on a going concern basis, with
supporting assumptions or o The Directors also ensure the publication of the financial statements of the
qualifications as necessary Group is in a timely manner.
= BRERIATEEHBELEEH . EZWRRAEEHBRFBR T AT
WAEE: aw i%hﬁmﬁﬁ
EUARRELERER BRE . Directors are not aware of material uncertainties relating to events or
KERBUREIREER conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern as referred to in C.1.2 of the Code on CG
- When the Directors are aware of N/A Practices.
any material uncertainties relating THEE ES VA REEEATHRE R BRI EREY ERNARELEN
to events or conditions that may BN (REEERERTAE C1.2 fFTE) °
cast significant doubt upon the
company’s ability to continue as a o The statement by the auditors of the Company regarding its reporting
going concern, such uncertainties responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
should be clearly and prominently Independent Auditor's Report on pages 141 to 143.
set out and discussed at length . ARAGEMAAE BN BREAEZRRETERNERE 14125143
in the Corporate Governance BZBIGEMBER-
Report.
- FESHERERNTHRASZMSR
BRAMHEREZENR Wﬁ%m
SR BEERECEERR
/%E?g%ﬁig&i%ﬂi Bk lﬂ:#Z—
AR Z -
= There should be a statement by v/

the auditors about their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’
report on the financial statements.
BRI A B Bk 1%
e SRt th ME R A EAE
B o
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2%38 AKX BT LEERER

C.1.3 The Board’s responsibility to present v/ o The Board aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable assessment
a balanced, clear and understandable of the Group’s performance and position in all shareholder communications.
assessment extends to the annual and . EZeRMERERATR  HAKE Z B RMKRIEL N - TEHRHNE
interim reports, other price-sensitive RS-
announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing o The Board is aware of the requirements under the applicable rules and
Rules, and reports to the regulators as regulations about timely disclosure of price-sensitive information or
well as the information that are required matters regarding the Company and will authorise the publication of such
to be disclosed pursuant to the statutory announcements as and when the occasion arises. The Company Secretary
requirements. and key officers of the Company Secretarial Department work closely and in
FRESSRETE EWMRADMTER consultation with the legal advisers to review the materiality and sensitivity
ARBNET BAREERE KSR of the transactions and proposed transactions and advise the Board
& Hir iy RIRESRER 0@ E RIBE accordingly.
FHRAREATRENEMABER . EXeATAERRARANTERESREREFRENIARARES
URAEEERRNRESAZBEED HORE TR EEERRETRERL G - RANERARNMEDREEA
RERATREMNER BEZEBRERAE HRHIFERRFEANEZ L RERBIEEF

HER YBRAMESEREER-

C.2 Internal controls

A e

Corporate Governance Principle
The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the

Company's assets.
PREERRA
EFORERRANINATERZGBREZEMAFN WRERRHRERL A AHEE
C.21 - The Directors should at least v/ o The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s internal control system
conduct a review of the and is responsible for the review of its effectiveness.
effectiveness of the system of . EZEeHEENNERZRABRERE TARRABHARROMEE -

internal control of the Company
and its subsidiaries annually
and report to the shareholders
that they have done so in their
Corporate Governance Report.

- EXRZDEFFRA—ARAR
HMBARMANBELZRRE
AR L (BEERERE) PE
BB ETRE WA o
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- The review should cover all v/ o The internal control system is designed to help to achieve the business
material controls, including objectives in the following categories:
financial, operational and . N EERZGEERYEEER N N SBEREEZ:
compliance controls and risk
management functions. 0 Effectiveness and efficiency of operations which include safeguarding
- BERRNEREMEEENES group assets against unauthorized users or disposition;
FE - AERGER EEEER (1) BRREAEMNLERE ORRESEEETREARCKED
AREE ARERERE- FAskEIE :

) Reliability of financial and operational reporting; and

@ RETENMBENREERS R

3 Compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and internal policies
and procedures.
Q) ERETEREN RENABHERERF-

o The system is formulated to manage risk that may impede the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives rather than to eliminate that risk, and can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material errors,
losses or fraud. The concept of reasonable assurance recognises that the
cost of control procedure should not exceed the expected benefits.

. FHZSREEERSEREER AR MEBRRER YAREAE
(BYEBH)REGEEAER BRAGFRTR SBRENED I
ERRFHOKATERLERNNG

Internal Control System
WP EEIE R 4

o The Board has overall responsibility for monitoring the operations of the
businesses within the Group. Executive Directors and senior officials are
appointed to the boards and board committees of all significant operating
subsidiaries and associates to attend the board meetings and to oversee
the operations. The monitoring activities include the review and approval
of business strategies, budgets and plans, and setting of key performance
indicators.

. EFe A ERSBETEERENMNEE - HTEZRSRTHA
BREEMARBLEEREBNMBLARAEBERNANEEERESE
ETZE8 NLEASE e EERSRARANEE FREETER
BEHREBRE BERGE ARBTEEEBRAES.

o There are defined organisational structures and authority to operate various
business units delegated to respective management within the limits set by
the Executive Directors.

. SERNHERARNARERE ATESTERESXBENERER
BTHEEEEAERE-
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o The head office management has established operating and management
reporting standards for use by all business units. Each business unit also has
its own operating policies and procedures that are tailor-made to specific
operational environment.

. BRREERBEIRERERRE VLN YA EBENNZEET
EEBBUNMEREENEERERFTAGNEERKRER

o Individual business unit needs to prepare a one-year plan which forms the
foundation of annual budgets and plans. All these plans/budgets have to
be approved by Executive Directors. Monitoring the actual results against
the budgets is done monthly and reported at the executive and different
management meetings at the Group and business unit levels, and appropriate
actions are taken, if necessary.

. EEBBUNAEE - FHAMBREERERTENER FF3/
HERBPTEEEN ERAERNMEEREELR UBARKEREHE
BENGETELERIRREE T

o Each business unit has to perform risk assessment half-yearly where the risks
associated with achieving the business objectives are identified and analysed.
It also includes a review of the control mechanism for every risk and action
plan which is put in place to address the areas for improvement.

. EEBEUREFFETRRTE AL RAMEET X% B E0iBE
Hg R AR IAR R - AR TR R T SRR BRI R T
FE U TFAERASEERER

o The Group’s Internal Audit Department, reporting directly to the Audit
Committee and the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, performs independent
assessment of the internal control systems. Using a risk based methodology,
Internal Audit prepares its audit plan in consultation with, but independent of,
the management, and it is reviewed by the Audit Committee. The audit work
focuses on those areas of the Group'’s activities with greatest perceived risks.
Ad hoc review will also be performed on those areas of concern identified
by the Audit Committee and management. The management and individual
business unit will be informed of the areas for improvement, and Internal Audit
Department is responsible for monitoring the corrective actions.

. SENPEBAEERNELEZEERERTRAHAR TREERR
GEVBNE AFE T BERRARTLEEAERENER AR E
MBRREEIE RS AEREREE8ER B LIFLASTREE
TERNGERRBRED HUBRZSENEEERBMEINEL —
RERARANENTARERE - RESFBEURERERABTEE
HEENBE APESHNEE R RRE B AR -
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Controls on Price-sensitive Information
RESBERHER
o Regarding the procedures and internal controls for handling and

dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Group:

. BERERHNEHREGBRERNEF RABEREE £

1) is well aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules to announce
any information that is considered to be price-sensitive;

(1) ROBBERLTHRHRRERERRATEREENTRET
MEME:

2 makes reference to the “Guide on Disclosure of Price-sensitive
Information” and “Recent Economic Developments and the
Disclosure Obligations of Listed Issuers” issued by the Stock
Exchange in 2002 and 2008 respectively;

@  BTERXAR-ZE-FEAORESREHREEIRN-EE
NERBOBBIREELRBEAR EMETANKERE:

) has implemented operating policy and procedure which strictly
prohibit unauthorized use of confidential and sensitive information,
and has communicated to all staff; and

©) EiEBHEREFIRREAEREFAREIARER I
ﬂzm%ﬁalﬁkv&

@) requires that only Directors and delegated officers can act as the
Group’s spokesperson and respond to external enquiries about the
Group's affairs.

4 HERFESREERENSQABEEEEERSA UBEHR
HEEEBNER-.

Effectiveness of Internal Control System

R RB R

o The Board, through the Audit Committee of the Company, has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal control system operating
in the Group and considers it is adequate and effective. The review covers
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls,
and risk management functions. The Board is not aware of any significant
areas of concern which may affect the shareholders. The Board is satisfied
that the Group has fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls
as set forth in the Code on CG Practices.

. BEENSEASER AT EEEAENEEEE 1'$¢ BRI
Lﬂ%#ﬁﬂﬁﬁmﬁfﬁﬂﬁaﬁm L% READAIEREZ 5@%%
MERTES %vé%?%%ﬁﬁmW%wf?%E%ﬁﬁﬁo%%@
REAMMEYERRNATEHINEZSE  UEEAEENR u%&
TERECEEARRTIPSEEAANBELNTAIEX
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2E38  FAKI

C.2.2 The Board's annual review should, in

particular, consider the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and respective
budget.
EZQEFETRIE ERHNZEAR
et KUK ERBRE A ANER 8T
BEREBRRTRN UREIMERH
BIREREBRARTRR

C3 Audit Committee
ENZEE

Corporate Governance Principle

Compliance
By

v

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

o The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the appraisal performed
by the Internal Audit Department, reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget at the
Board meeting held in December 2011 and noted that the Company has
been in compliance with the Code Provisions for the year 2011. Please also
refer to the Code Provisions C.3.3 of Section |I.

. B ORERRE S RBEABEABMELTE BERZ2——F+2A
BIZEZeR IHALARSHRIBERBEAANER BTE
BREBRE RN WREIMEXNEIREREARER TR RET
et WERZB——FETEATAIG F2HEIFE CI3E-

The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal control
principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors.

PEERRA

EERERIEN HER RN BEFRA KA AR A BB E BB ERREEGRHZH

C.3.1 - Full minutes of audit committee

meetings should be kept by a

duly appointed secretary of the

meeting.

= ERZEENTREZLHER
ERAZANGENERT -

- Draft and final versions of minutes
of the audit committee meetings
should be sent to all members of
the committee for their comment
and records respectively, in both
cases within a reasonable time
after the meeting.

- ERZEgeRRBNIRRR
RERELSRE—REERH
NERERAEREESLRKE
TiREREREER KEERE
Hidtkz R

v

o Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary are circulated to the members of
the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after each meeting.
J CHLHMARNERE NEBASHR RABREANERGEERE

Be%8-

o Audit Committee meetings were held in March, August and December 2011.
Details of the attendance records of the members of the Audit Committee are
as follows:

. ERZEBEN-_T——F=R NARt-ABHE# -BEKEEEZEY
HEEFEMT:

Members of the

Audit Committee Attendance

EVEERZEE H R

Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Chairman) 3/3

HER ()

Gu Jiande 2/3

EXe

L.am Kwong Siu 2/3

wEK

Note:  The members of the Audit Committee may attend meetings in person, by
telephone or through other means of electronic communication or by their
alternates (if applicable) in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

fis: READAESREL BRZEQZEUNRS FRTFIAMESSE
AAXHESH IHEEEA (WER)RAHE-

o The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee during 2011:

. ERZRER_F—— S TFMRLT:

0 Review of 2011 interim and annual results;

() EBEH-T-—FPHEFERA:
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) Review of the findings and recommendations of the Group Internal
Audit Department on the work of various divisions/departments and
related companies;

2 EHREARESBRIEBEBFAREAARIENEZERR

=

R

3 Review of the effectiveness of the internal control system;

@  REREEERSEMREE:

@) Review of the external auditor’s audit findings;

@  ERNEZEEMNESER

) Review of the auditor’s remuneration;

6  EHREEGHE:

©6) Review of the risks of different business units and the analysis thereof
provided by the relevant business units; and

6  BETREBHMERREBEBHBIAMERBRARE O
I}

) Review of the control mechanisms for such risks and advising on
action plans for improvement of the situations.

N EHZSAREEES CAREEERR TR EE -

o After due and careful consideration of reports from management and the
internal/external auditors, the Audit Committee was of the view that no
suspected fraud or irregularities, significant internal control deficiencies, or
suspected infringement of laws, rules, or regulations had been found, and
concluded at the meeting held on 22 March 2012 that the system of internal
controls was adequate and effective.

. BEREEEHARERZERERERAS HNERYAMRINRER 7
RUELRSHRARIER BENATER RIS MEED - HAK
BOMBER YR ——F=A-T-REITNGH LELEE BRH
ERNMAZRRAMAR

o On 22 March 2012, the Audit Committee met to review the Group’s 2011
consolidated financial statements, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, in conjunction with the Company’s external
auditor. After review and discussions with the management and external
auditor, the Audit Committee endorsed the accounting treatment adopted by
the Company, and the Audit Committee had to the best of its ability assured
itself that the disclosure of the financial information in the 2011 Annual Report
complied with the applicable accounting standards and Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee therefore recommended the Board'’s
approval of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2011.

. RZB-ZF=A-+-H EZEECRTEH BRIMNERHDEDA
SR —FENRAUBRER BESERANSHRAREREL .
RENEEHERLAETRERINEGSMARE BEREECERELA
AR RE AN YERNBER-_Z——FERRBENHKEEH
HEBRANESERR EHRAMGET A2 RE Al BREZECEAE
EEHARREE T ——GFt AT ALEENGRANERE
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C3.2

C.3.3

FRHX

A former partner of the issuer’s existing
auditing firm should be prohibited from
acting as a member of the Company’s
audit committee for a period of 1 year
commencing on the date of his ceasing

to be a partner of the firm; or to have any
financial interest in the firm, whichever is
the later.
BRABEFT AR A OREA R RAME
BRAEMBERAZAREBANE
8 A BERZA RMEFE BN
BE (ABHBEERE)BH—FR T
REABRZEENKE-

The terms of reference of the audit
committee should include the following
duties:—
BRZEGNBESGERERS:

= to be responsible for making
recommendation to the board
on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to
approve the terms of engagement
of the external auditor;

= RONEREMOEEREERE
ZERMEE RIUEINEREED
COEYENFS

- to review and monitor the external
auditor's independence and the
effectiveness of the audit process;

- eGP G0 vk
BRI F AL

Compliance
By

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

o The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board the re-appointment
of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external auditor for 2012 and that the
related resolution shall be put forth for shareholders’ consideration and
approval at the 2012 annual general meeting.

. BRZEENNEF SRS ENEAKEHMEBMAARA S —Z
ERMMEGEN TERSERABR -2 FRREFAE LR
TREZERBB

o The Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2011 has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

. ERZRECENAREBE TS+ _A=t HLFREZFH-

o No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing
firm of the Company during the one year after he/she ceases to be a partner
of the auditing firm.

. BERBEEFRARARANREARMESEARRERRSZ ARG
BABBRG—FN ERFRRAEREEEZE-

o The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow closely the requirements
of the Code Provisions and have been modified from time to time and
adopted by the Board.

. BRELTARBEMH 2 ERE B eBRSED TREL BT RE
EFERM-

o The Audit Committee and external auditor met in March, August and
December 2011.
. ERZEQENEREMN —Z——4=A NART-ABMg=-
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2Z38  FAKRI BF EEERER

- to review financial information of v/
the Company;
- ZRARMEBBER:

- Monitor the Company’s financial v/
reporting system and internal
control procedures, including
the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of
staff of the issuer’s accounting
and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and
respective budget; and

= NG R G
22 BRARESHRAKE
BEEAENER B TEERE
BRELRA KB TAEXME
IIREREHREXREARRE Rk

- the audit committee must meet, at v/
least twice a year, with the external
auditors.

= BERZEQRENEGHMED
BEREMR -

C.3.4 The audit committee should make v/ o The Company formed an Audit Committee on 9 October 2009.

available its terms of reference, explaining . ARARZZTNGETANARIERZES-

its role and the authority delegated to it by

the board. o In accordance with the requirements of the Code on CG Practices, the terms

EREEeRAREBESE BEEA of reference of the Audit Committee were revised from time to time in terms

BRESSERNESN- substantially the same as the provisions set out in the Code on CG Practices.
. BECEEREATACAE BERZEE L RESGE D TRELET K

BORBHERGEERERTIZ B

J The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and review of the
relationship with the external auditor of the Company. Regular meetings have
been held by the Audit Committee since its establishment.

. BRZEG/IERAOREERERASE  MEERZR RN EE
ERRF BRASEBBER  URREADARIMNEZHRMAR -
BRZEGENUARYEERRTEE -

o The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr.
Gu Jiande and Mr. Lam Kwong Siu. The Audit Committee held three meetings
in2011.

. BRZESM-NBUFATESERRAE (BRRELER) 2EE
FE MEREEEK BREEER T ——FEBIT=REgH-

105



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Corporate Governance Report

Compliance
By
N/A

AERA

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board that, subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, Ernst &
Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for 2012,
BERZEENESERE ENEATKEHMSBEALARRAIZS—=
ERMINEZEE  HASRRNEERITNRRAFAEG L& - HAlE
Eo

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the external auditor of the Company
received approximately RMB2.5 million for annual audit services and
approximately RMBO0.4 million for other non-audit services rendered.
REBEZT——F+-A=+—RILFE RARIMNERHMBRFER%
R E AL A R%2,500,000T RIBHEMFERN BB BROARS
400,0007T °

The Audit Committee has been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice, at Company’s expenses, should the
seeking of such advice be considered necessary by the Audit Committee.
BERZECCERY EERZECRRALESKBUELER NAlW
ERRLHE ERARAR -

The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its decision and matters delegated to management.

AR —BIERGEEBIF FIBIFIEEEE (EARTH ERRREEEEATHER

TERERRSE

Code

Ref.

Practices Code Provisions

2%38 AKX

C.35 Where the board disagrees with the audit
committeg’s view regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the external auditors, the Company should
include in the Corporate Governance
Report a statement from the audit
committee explaining its recommendation
and also the reason(s) why the board has
taken a different view.
NEFETREERZECHEE %
£ BEIBREINECHMEENER
AREECEERARETIIBENZES
RilEEZENER UREZSERTAE
RERE -

C.3.6 The audit committee should be provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties.
ERZESRERETRARNBITER

D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
EZERINER

D.1 Management functions
BRI
Corporate Governance Principle
DEERRA

D.1.1 When the Board delegates the aspects

of its management and administration
functions to the management, it must

at the same time give clear directions

as to the powers of the management,

in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where the management
should report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before

making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
BEZSRHERRITRIE A EME N
ERTERER LVARSHEREMmE
N TR RS FRlRERERR
TERERNEFSERURERRAA
{E AR TE kAT (L s Al R ERG &
SERAESEEIA

v/

Executive Directors are in charge of different businesses and functional
divisions in accordance with their respective areas of expertise.

HATESRBEEREATRAMEE BN -

Please refer to the Management Structure Chart set out on page 131.

F2HIENF I ERREE-

For matters or transactions of a material nature, the same will be referred to
the Board for approval.

—HEEACFRARRGORMESEEM -

For matters or transactions of material nature that requires disclosure

under the Listing Rules or other applicable rules or regulations, appropriate
disclosure will be made and where necessary, circular will be prepared and
shareholders’ approval will be obtained in accordance with the requirements
of the applicable rules and regulations.

RE TR EMERNRALBOIMETRECEEFEAR S
SEHEEZRE TRFERREERZAIRMAOZES HBEBAR
BRERE 28tk
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D.2

D.2.1

D.2.2
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AR g3
Formalise functions reserved to the board v/

and those delegated to management

and to review those arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the company.
ARERPLRE T ESGH BRI
LERTEREN B S BIEE TR I
EHRERANARREARHRARANT
b

Zo

BOARD COMMITTEES
EZEBTHERES

Cormporate Governance Principle

Corporate Governa‘n'ce* Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the Group’s future
development directions; overall strategies and policies; evaluation of the
performance of the Group and the management; and approval of matters that
are of a material or substantial nature.

EIREET EXCEAFSERMERKR BRRHERIK L
SERERENRR URMAEERKEZSFE-

Under the leadership of the Group Chief Executive Officer, management is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group.
EEEIBAHTET EREARSENARTLE

The committees under the Board should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with the committees’ authority and

auties.
PEREREA

BERE T AZRONA VG TEERAN R ERELE BFEIAZE R REE -

Where the board committees are v/
established to deal with matters, the board

should prescribe sufficiently clear terms of

reference to enable such committees to

discharge their functions properly.
EERVEECEREEH EFCEAD
BRAIAZSZESNRIEEE BEFE
RECHBEETERE-

The terms of reference of board v/
committees should require such
committees to report back to the board
on their decisions or recommendations,
unless there are legal or regulatory
restrictions on their ability to do so (such
as a restriction on disclosure due to
regulatory requirements).

EXRE TS ZERNBERRRATX
ZECEMNEEQERAREAEZ B
FAEREGRERAEERIFRM
ELIEULTER (A0 R B 43 5 B 4%

%)

Three Board Committees, namely, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, have been established with specific
terms of reference.
EZEgRU=EETZE8 NEREES FHZEEeRREZEE &
BERFTARESE -

Board Committees report to the Board of their decisions and
recommendations at the Board meetings.

EEERETZRENEFEERNESSERANE ER -
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E. COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
HRRNER
E.1 EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION
BNEE

Corporate Governance Principle

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

The Board should be responsible to maintain an on-going dlalogue with Shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other general
meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage their participation.

PEERRE

EFRRRRARTAERIYZ LRCRRFEFABAR ML BB ZERTEBRSAMNTHEE

E.1.1 In respect of each substantially separate
issue at a general meeting, a separate
resolution should be proposed by the
chairman of that meeting. Putting different
issues into one resolution should be
avoided.
ERRAE L eRIRERBHEERE
UMEHENRERER B EMER

#%

E.1.2 - The chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting
and arrange for the chairmen
of the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees (as
appropriate) or in the absence of
the chairman of such committees,
another member of the committee
to be available to answer
questions at the annual general
meeting.

- EXgIRRLERRASAS
WRHEGEES FMEEER
REZE8g (RAEERAME)HN
IR FEASEEENTERE
KHR—2ZEERFEBFAE
£ %: 1efe

v

Explanation

iz

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings of the Company
on each substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors.

BHERBUMEE AEFARNRRAS LAERIRZERRRE A28
ERES-

In 2011, the Chairman of the Board chaired the 2011 annual general meeting
and was available to answer questions. The Chairman of the Audit Committee
attended the 2011 annual general meeting and was available to answer
questions.

RIZ——F EZFREE_T——FRRBFAGER TRNE LA
ERM -BRZEQIREHE_Z——FRRBFAEG TR LEER
o

108



Code
Ref.
Practices Code Provisions

$Z38

Compliance
AR By
= The chairman of the independent / o
board committee (if any)
should also be available to
answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a
connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject
to independent shareholders’
approval.
- EXQBETHNBUZEE (IR)
RERMEEEABEATR S
MRFEAE LRERE ABER
SHREMEMALEIIENT
5o

E1.3 The Company should arrange the notice
to shareholders to be sent, in the case of
annual general meeting, at least 20 clear o
business days before the meeting and to
be sent at least 10 clear business days in
the case of all other general meetings.
MARRRBEFAE RRREAGET
AIEPR-THARZEBMRRERBA
[ESEES D SN AR - YN
BAREL R TEEEBEXEA-

E.1.4 The board should establish a v/ .
communication policy and review it
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.
ERQEIERRBALE, LF Hwat .
IARERE AL o

BN ERNBERA A
—E——FFR

Corporate Governa‘n'ce* Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practice
LEERER

The Company establishes different communication channels with
shareholders and investors, including (i) printed copies of corporate
communications (including but not limited to annual reports, interim reports,
notices of meetings, circulars and proxy forms) required under the Listing
Rules, and shareholders can choose (or are deemed to have consented) to
receive such documents using electronic means through the Company’s
website; (i) the annual general meeting provides a forum for shareholders to
raise comments and exchange views with the Board; (iii) updated and key
information on the Group is available on the website of the Company; (iv) the
Company’s website offers a communication channel between the Company
and its shareholders and stakeholders; (v) regular press conferences and
briefing meetings with analysts are arranged from time to time to update
interested parties on the performance of the Group; (vi) the Company’s
Branch Share Registrar deals with shareholders for share registration and
related matters; and (vii) the Corporate Affairs Department of the Company
handles enquiries from shareholders, and investors generally.
ARRERRRREERUARMBASE: (R ETRARE FEARF
B (HPARETRRER HRE 2285 BARRREERR)
ENRIA - RN 2R (SRR RERE) AT HABRAR A AUKR
ZEE (RRANRRBEAG LEREZAREESTRER : ()AL A
PBUHAFEEZRTREZEN: (VAR ABE AR R AR ER
RARERZRE: VAR RATEBRFBENRE RRE/TEHAERE
BATREASESHEEER: ARAZROERIRARREE
TROHEZRABER: R VAR ACESHBRERRRREEZ R
Bille

The Company's notice to shareholders for the 2012 annual general meeting
of the Company was sent at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.
ARARBE-R——FBIZRRBFACRINEIR-_THEXAM
RREARBHEA-

The Investors Relationship Department of the Company sets up the
shareholders communication policy, for details please refer to E.1.2 of Section
II'above.

ARRINREEBEDRARRBALE, FEFLHLXEIH 2 EE1.2
o
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EiARE

E.2 VOTING BY POLL
REREAARR

Corporate Governance Principle
The Company should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

PREERRA
AR AEFRREATFARE T A KA HBES

E.2.1 The chairman of a meeting should at the v/ J At the 2011 annual general meeting, the Chairman of the meeting explained
commencement of the meeting ensure the detailed procedures for conducting a poll, and answered questions from
that an explanation is provided of the shareholders
detailed procedures for conducting a . - FREBFAESL ASXREMBUREHAETRALE
poll and then answer any questions from ,%HHEF? B B AR o
shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. J At the 2011 annual general meeting, the Chairman of the meeting exercised
AEERERRESERREEREUR his power under the Company’s Bye-laws to put each resolution set out in
EHARTRANFARRF  REEER the notice to be voted by way of a poll.
REBURSESARRNEFRR - . RIB——FRRBFAG L RGLRITEARAERMAET 2

EJEH&%}E@#(@@¢WZ%IER%§1E TRERR®

o Representatives of the Branch Share Registrar of the Company were
appointed as scrutineers to monitor and count the poll votes cast at the 2011
annual general meeting.

. ARARBBELIRLRREZARE——FERRBFAENERE
NEERERHERY-

o Al of the Company’s resolutions put to vote at the Company's general
meetings were taken by poll.

. AREMARBRAE LREZAZRIBEBERENAETRR

o Poll results were posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
. RERRAERBEHNAR AR AL
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. RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICES

A1

A1.9

A.1.10

DIRECTORS
=

THE BOARD
E=8

Corporate Governance Principle
PEEBRA

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER

Corporate Governa‘n’cke Report
TEERMRE

Il ZEREFR

The Board should assume responsibility for leading and controlling the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the

Company's affairs.

EFORRFASRERARANENL VERREREREER LAY

Arrange appropriate insurance cover

in respect of legal action against the
Directors.
HESTRHEEANEETHEBENR
REH -

Board committees should adopt, so far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements set out in A.1.1 to A.1.8.
EXEE T ZEQREENINEER
RBA 11 E A8 KPASINRE 2R
ER X

Al

Regular board meetings should be held

at least four times a year involving active
participation, either in person or through
other electronic means of communication,
of majority of Directors.
EXORHEEREFELARAEA KX
BAEEHRIHRE FEBEMETEA
HERBA -

Al2

All Directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular
board meetings.
PRESEARERLAANFAIAES
eEHeRER-

C

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability
insurance coverage for its Directors and officers since its listing in 2009.
ARRBZEENELMES HEAEZRBERHRENESREE
AfERR

The Company has an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a
Nomination Committee.

ARRREENZES FHERERELZBE

The Board should hold at least four meetings every year and most Directors
should participate in person or by other electronic means of communication.
EFETHERBFELARNR RBHESHRI LR IEBEME
FRAFTAERLEFAEE -
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A13

- Atleast 14 days notice for regular
board meetings

- BREFeTHeRRELEST0
RiBA -

- Reasonable notice for other board
meetings

- BREMEFSSAETLAER
Ao

Al4

All Directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that
board procedures, and all applicable rules
and regulations, are followed.
FEESEARBARNENERNZR
RRY BENRATRRESERRFR
EERRA KRG EGET.

A15

- Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees should
be kept by a duly appointed secretary
of the meeting.

- BEAZEMSENERAFESS
REETZE MRS

All members of the Board Committees are consulted as to whether they may
want to include any matter in the agenda before the agenda for each Board
Committee meeting is issued.

HEEEEE TR 002 R LE1EN FAMBESEE 28828
RABERLEMEN FENTIAGHZR

Regular Board Committee meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled
towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all Board
Committee members adequate time to plan their schedules to attend the
meetings.

BERMZESRGE TREeEHeRNEN —FFERIAMETRS.
FEEEEZE AR MKRRHLREE

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each Board Committee
meeting.

RERBFREZSEETZEGRANE) THREHEABA -
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

SLEE
BERR

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

Such minutes should be open

for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
HREMESEHARB EA
RERSSCSHEAEEMSRE
MR EH -

A1.6

Minutes of board meetings and
meetings of board committees
should record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the board and
decisions reached.
EXeRHETZRENEATE
FEHEE TS ESMEREHEN
HIRTE 1E 2 505 R B T 8 o

Draft and final versions of board
minutes for all Directors to comment
and to keep records within a
reasonable time after the board
meeting

ESRRSARG ERABKER
rEHeRDENIRRREERE
KEBEZ TREESRER
BRERAIEERSEZA -

A7

A procedure agreed by the board to
enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the company’s
expense.

EXeRUBTER RESRA
X AERENERATSRELE
$ER BERARAXM .

The board should resolve to provide
separate independent professional
advice to Directors to assist the
relevant Director or Directors to
discharge his/her duties to the
company.
EXQRIASINRESREBUE
(ER - ABHEHESETAHA
AMEE-

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
llE"
#¥(cl
BElE]

© .

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

Board Committee members have access to the Company Secretary and key
officers of the Company Secretarial Department who are responsible to the
Board Committees for ensuring that Board Committee procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.
ARMERARMENIEAERRAEZCE RSS2 RHUER
WENEEEE T ZE QR ENRREZCETZE8 R RAMABRAR
BB Bl R E S o

The Company Secretary prepares minutes/written resolutions and keeps
records of substantive matters discussed and decisions resolved at Board
Committee meetings.
ARNEREHEESCETRE 408/ EEAER UaHe L
EEHEEE NIl

Board Committee minutes/written resolutions are sent to all Board Committee
members within a reasonable time (generally within 14 days) after each Board
Committee meeting.
BREZCETZERRRARE NEERRA (—KRRTHRN)E£E
SEETZERRH I/ EERERARZEESCETZEEZ5.

Board Committee minutes/written resolutions are available for inspection by
Board Committee members.
EEQBE 2888 Hs / ERAERIHESEETEE8Z85H-

The minutes of the Board Committees record in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board Committees and decisions reached.
CRLHHEFEE T2 eMZERMNFERENNREFR AWML

Board Committee members are given an opportunity to comment on the draft
Board Committee minutes.

EZEETZR R RAHENESEE [ RRERICRRRERR

The final version of Board Committee minutes is placed on record within a
reasonable time after the Board Committee meeting.

EZQBETZE 093 ARG RAERRARFEZRENERERE
il gl

Board Committee members have been advised that the Company Secretary
can arrange independent professional advice, at Company’s expense, should
such advice be considered necessary by any Board Committee member.
EZEETZE 2280 BB AENESEE TR 82 ERREY
ESKBUEEER RRANEURARE BRAKRARX(.

Board Committee members must declare his/her interest in the matters to be
considered by the Board Committee, if applicable.

EXCE 2R CZEANESCE TR SN TERNSERBRTE (M4
#A) -
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TERERHRE
Comply
Recommended “c”
Best Practice Explain
Ref llE"
SLEE Recommended Best Practices #[C]  Corporate Governance Practices
kR EREERER BBIE] OLEBRER
A1.8
- Ifasubstantial shareholder or a C o In case of conflict of interests, relevant Directors will refrain from voting.
Director has a conflict of interest in a Mr. Lam Lung On, the Chairman of the Board, is also a member of the
matter to be considered by the Board Remuneration Committee. He refrained from voting at decisions made in
which the Board has determined to respect of his own remuneration package.
be material, the matter should not . RS RFRER FRESHA2AR R - ESSIRMETREBENZE
be dealt with by way of circulation or BeZ8 MAEHPRAFMIOREHT2HTR-
by a committee but a Board meeting
should be held. o If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter
- ABARRSESHESCHTER to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be
MEBREEESERREANF R material, the matter should be dealt with in accordance with applicable rules
BR BRESETEAGHELNR and regulations and brought to the Board for consideration and determination
BYSHEZECRE MEEE (Independent Non-executive Directors should be ensured to participate).
EHAZERTESEE S . ERARRAESEES R TERNEETREESERREANME
HR FHSEARBERNARRANEE TRAESE (RREBL
- Independent non-executive Directors © FRTESZRE)ZERATE
who, and whose associates, have
no material interest in the transaction
should be present at such board
meeting.
- ERGPASGREBMEAGR FE
AR BN TESEZLEE
BmEEEER.
A2 CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
TRRTBAR
Corporate Governance Principle
PEERRA
There should be a clear division of responsibilities between Chairman and Group Managing Director of the Company to ensure a balance of power
and authority.
FRAZEREETHAEHME LREEEES L ERENFRES
A2.4 - The role of the Chairman is to C o The Chairman of the Board is an executive Director, responsible for the
provide leadership for the Board. leadership and effective management of the Board.
-  IRNAERASEZE- . EZQIRRANESLAE AERERANERESY.
- The Chairman should ensure that C o The Chairman sets the overall strategic direction of the Group after consulting

the Board works effectively and
discharges its responsibilities, and
that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner.
IRERRESSFRNER B
BOEERE UREHRAEEE
MEE FRE TR

the Board and is responsible for the inspection of the management on the
macro level.
FREAAESZERIFIASEEERB AR TAERABEREEE
BEMIE-

The Board holds regular meetings and meetings were held in January, March,
August and December in 2011.
EzerfRe R_F——4%-A ZRA NARTZABRE:Z:-
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

SLEE
BERR

A25

A2.6

A27

A28

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

- The Chairman should be primarily
responsible for the drawing up
and approving of agenda for
each board meeting taking into
account, where appropriate,
any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion into the
agenda. The Chairman may
delegate such responsibility to
a designated Director or the
company secretary.

- IREIEAREEUHABLE
ZERENFE EEEBER T
EREPEG REMESREM
NSRRI EE - FE A BEE
ERERETNESIARNE

The chairman should be responsible to
ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.
IREREARRAAIGERHFNEEE
AR R RIER o

The chairman should encourage all
Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and take
the lead to ensure that the Board acts in
the best interests of the issuer.
IREZDFEEZ2IRAEZES
B UASER BREZETEFER

Al ERNE

The Chairman should at least hold one
meeting annually with Non-executive
Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors), and without the
presence of Executive Directors.
IREEVEFEFHNTES (BEBY
FRTES) BRI RBRTESFLRE

L LT

The Chairman should ensure that
appropriate steps are taken to provide
effective communication with shareholders
and that views of shareholders are
communicated to the board as a whole.
FRERRRIEE SRRFRREEN
S8 URERREERAEENREE
£

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
llE"
#¥(cl
BElE]

C

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

With the assistance of executive Directors and the company secretary, the
Chairman ensures that all Directors are being informed of all important and
applicable affairs in an appropriate and timely manner.
EHTEERARANERY T FRBNERAEESHEE WER DT
MEEEREREE:.

The company secretary prepares the agenda of every board meeting and
ensure that all matters to be discussed have been listed on the agenda (if
applicable) and all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.
AENERHERRESEZC LRI TRREEMESRENINT
HEE(WER)HEFIAGERE  LARABERRA LA EET.

All Directors and the management of the Company strive to maintain good
corporate governance practices and procedures.

ARAEREZRERERNARRINCRERERARER

For detalils please refer to A.2.4 and A.2.5 in Section Ill above.
FHEFL2HEXE IH2E A24 RA5E:

In addition to regular Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board met with
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of Executive
Directors in January 2011. All Independent Non-executive Directors were
present at the meeting.

REFeTHeR/N ESRTREABUFNTEEIRN S ——F A%
TEAMATESNERTRTER - FEBUFNTEEEFLRAR
EER

The Company establishes different communication channels with
shareholders and investors as set out in E.1.2 of Section Il above.
WMEXEN 2% E1.2 BTl AARERREREEERITRMBNE

@
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

SLEE
BERR

A29

A3

A3.2

A3.3

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

The Chairman should facilitate the effective
contribution of non-executive Directors in
particular and ensure constructive relations
between Executive and Non-executive
Directors.

IREREES (FRRFATES)H
EZeFLBNER TRARTESHR
FHTES HERRERENBR-

BOARD COMPOSITION
ESEAM

Corporate Governance Principle
PEERRA

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
HE"
#g¥(cl
#ElE]

C

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

Please refer to A.2.4 and A.2.5 of Section Ill above for the details.
HEFEZHLXE 25 A24 R A25TE-

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company and should include a
balanced composition of Executive and Non-executive Directors so that independent juagment can effectively be exercised.

EZERREAL IR BMAREENFERETNESR EEEFHTEFRINTEENHEBZRITIIE U BB AL B A6 -

- The Company should appoint
Independent Non-executive
Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board.

- ARMRENBUFHTERE
HEEEHEABEI=H—

- The list of Directors should be
published on the website of the
issuer and the website of HKEx.

- EZeNEREAERTABY
LHBERERBRSMBE LD
ffio

The Company should maintain on its
website an updated list of its Directors
identifying their role and function and
whether they are Independent Non-
executive Directors.

AREEEBY FRFRERSHINES
SHERE UHAEACMRAE UK
ARERTB U TES

C

The Board consists of a total of seven Directors, comprising four Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The Company also
considers that there is a sufficiently independent element on the Board to
provide the Company and its shareholders with fair and independent advice.
ExemtUSEANR BRONATESR=UBLIRTES ARH
RERA EZQREARMBELY TRATARRRRREDATIRBULE
8o

The list of directors has been published in the circular of the Company and
the website of HKEX.
EZeRBLECEARANBINBER ZMBE L AR

The Company maintains on its website an updated list of its directors,

and identifies whether they are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Company has also posted on its website the Terms of Reference of the Board
Committees to enable the shareholders to understand the role played by
those Independent Non-executive Directors who serve on the relevant Board
Committees.

{BURFEN EE2E URARTHER DB ERTE
S RRRNNBUEHESEETZERAHE RRIRRBHE
NTEEHEESeR TRReRAMERZ AR

The Company is of the view that Executive Directors are collectively in
charge of the overall executive functions of the Group as a team for the
purposes of efficiency and effectiveness, and hence it is neither appropriate
nor meaningful to identify on its website the role and function of its individual
Executive Directors.
RNITEFRNEGHA LR AR ARE 2 BETHEE ARARERY
"ARARARE NARRBUTIHENRTES 2 AERBEL M
MEEEEE

Bk Bk
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A43

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER

Corporate Governancke Report
TEERMRE

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
ZE ERRER

Cororate Governance Principle
PEERRA

There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors and plans in place for orderly succession for
gopointments to the Board. All Directors should be subject to re-election at reqular intervals.

EFERIEL SFRZRUAZHRNNEFZMAES VERTERFHEFR L HEEFYELEETHEETES

If an independent non-executive
Director serves more than 9
years, any further appointment of
such independent non-executive
Director should be subject to

a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.
EBUFRTESEEDBNE
EBRBEZEZEBUIERT
EFYRUNBLRBRL Ak
REZBB-

The Board should set out to
shareholders in the papers
accompanying a resolution to
elect such an independent non-
executive Director the reasons
why they believe that the individual
continues to be independent and
why he should be re-elected.
EreRaRSEEZEBUE
BITERRRARREM R X 4
ARRIIBESERAZAAL
BB L AT A Rt 1952
REENETEREFNRA -

N/A . None of the Independent Non-executive Directors have served more than 9
years.

J WEREEMBLRTEZREALREBNFER -
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Recommended
Best Practice

Ref.
bt ]
BERR

A4.4-
A48

H
[=]

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

The Company should establish a
nomination committee. A majority
of the members of the nomination
committee should be independent
non-executive Directors.
RRERIREEEE - REEER
SANBIFMITESEASE

The nomination committee should
be established with specific terms
of reference which deal clearly
with the committee’s authority and
duties.
AREEEARAEZEGAR
HEESE FEHAZEeNE
BREL.

It is recommended that the
nomination committee should
discharge the following duties:

BERAZESRBIATARL:

(@)  review the structure, size
and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board
on a regular basis and
make recommendations to
the Board regarding any
proposed changes;

@) THRAEFENERE A
YA (B IERE A
REEERAE) - WAL E R
M EPRNEFSRERE

2
=

(o) identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board
members and select or
make recommendations to
the Board in the selection
of, individuals nominated for
Directorships;

b) YEAEREARIELS
EMALT UHEREEH
ATHAESZSFHLRES
eRHEER:

(c)  assess the independence of
independent non-executive
Directors; and

© FRBUFRTEENBEY
R

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
HE"
#g¥(cl
#ElE]

C

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

The Company established a nomination committee on 9 October 2009.

The nomination committee consists of three members, comprising two of
Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Gu Jiande and Mr. Wee Henny
Soon Chiang, and one executive Director, Mr. Lam Lung On. The chairman of
the nomination committee is Mr. Gu Jiande.
ARARZEENETANBRUREZEE - REZEEH=2KEH
Ko HEAMAABUIFNTES NEREEENERALE -2 AH
TES ANER AL -ZRELAERREZEENER

The Company has terms of reference for the nomination committee.

AREREE AREREERA-

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size

and composition of the Board at lease once every year to ensure that it

has a balanced composition of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the businesses of the Company, identifying, screening and
recommending to the Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors,
overseeing the process for evaluating the performance of the Board,
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
REZECEEBE N LENEZ G B ABRER BRESE
HABRARAREBMERERERIALER NE KERNESE
EBREHNAZEEREMNAR BENCESSRANER, STRB 3
5RO 3:0p vk

The Board Committee members have been advised that the Company
Secretary can arrange independent professional advice, at Company’s
expenses, should such advice be considered necessary by any Board
Committee member.

EZCeETZECZECERA AANESCEETEZECZERAFY
ESKBVEEER RRAREURARE BRAKRARL.

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board.
The Company adopts a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new Directors. Before a prospective Director's name

is formally proposed, the opinions of the existing Directors (including the
Independent Non-executive Directors) are sought. After considering the
proposal for the appointment of a new Director, the Board as a whole will
make the final decision.
BERDAIZERAR ESgU NGRS NERBRRERIGERRE
EFERE -ARANER BEREEAE EFZANES REAR
HEZAERZNAHAREES (REBUENTES) 2 ER -E58
BERZENESNER R ESER2BELRERE
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

SLEE
BERR

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

(d)  make recommendations
to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the
appointment or re-
appointment of Directors
and succession planning
for Directors in particular
the chairman and chief
executive officer.

d HEFZAREMZEUR
B2 (LARFFERITHA
H)EEHENEREER
EZeRHES

The nomination committee

should make available its terms of
reference explaining its role and
the authority delegated to it by the
Board.
REZEREAFRERESE @
E%ﬁ@u&%%@@ﬁ%ﬁm
E o

The nomination committee

should be provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties
and seek independent professional
advice.
REZEGREMRGTR RN
BITARERSFBUEXER -

Where the Board proposes a
resolution to elect an individual as
an Independent Non-executive
Director at general meetings, it
should set out in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general
meeting why they believe the
individual should be elected and
the reasons why they consider the
individual to be independent.
FEFRRRNRRAG LRER
BREEEATRBIUFNTE
2 BHREAGBE BN
PR R A8 B /SR B R R B R
JIHESERREEAZAAL
HERBARMMRBAZEALE
BIATHRE-

Comply
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Explain
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#g¥(cl
#ElE]
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B E B H R A F
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

The Board as a whole is responsible for assessing the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors according to the relevant rules and
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
EZQ2EAER ETRAEBESI R ERBLERTES 2 B ILE
L AR ARRABBUFNTEZERE LT RABAELILES
ZHRE  WRBEZIESIGXEBLA L

Each Independent Non-executive Director who was subject to retirement by
rotation was appointed by a separate resolution in the Company’s annual
general meeting. Each Independent Non-executive Director who was eligible
for re-election at the annual general meeting had made a confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company

had expressed the view in its circular that each Independent Non-executive
Director who was eligible for re-election had met the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and was independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines. While in accordance with the recommended
best practices, the Company has to include its own recommendation in the
circular to explain why a particular candidate should be re-elected, as their
relevant credentials have been included in the circular for the shareholders’
information, the Company opines that it is more important for the
shareholders themselves to make their own independent decision on whether
to approve a particular re-election or not.
RARBZRRBERE I BUABRER 2 BUFRTESHNEY
RBRRT - BURRREFAS LEREREZBUFHTESHERR
EWRANE 313 IR TEH A B E LR  RA R R A R E B
EEZBUFNTESEET LANE 313 R BUKS| WIREZE
SIEXBBUAL BEREZERR AARNERBRAGERNESEE
ERzRRELRS AR AREEEMES  ARBRED JIHRNBRA
%g%i%@'$QE%EE%%Eﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%é%@@%%$@&ﬁ
REZ-
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Recommended
Best Practice
Ref.

SLEE
BERR

A5

A5.5

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
IIEH
Recommended Best Practices #F[C]  Corporate Governance Practices
BERERR BBIE] LEBRER
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
EEEfE
Corporate Governance Principle
PRERRA

Every Director is required to keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and

development of the Company.

GEEFRTHEHAERARAIEENRE URELANEET L RHEGRER -

Al Directors should participate in a C o
programme of continuous professional

development to develop and refresh their

knowledge and skills to help ensure that

their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant. The Company o
should be responsible for arranging

and funding a suitable development

programme.

FEERE2EREERRRAE ER .
WEHH AR A UERLEEE
ABZEEARIERENERATHES
SELER - AAEAERHSENER
ArEltREREES

The Company regularly reminds all Directors of their functions and
responsibilities. Through regular Board meetings and the circulation of written
resolutions, memoranda and board papers, each of the Directors is being
kept abreast of the objectives, business activities and development of the
Company.

ARREHENEESEWEBHRET EREFTETHEERENL
EERER ETHRESER SESGURBARAZEE At £
Va iﬁ &%E °

A package compiled and reviewed by the Company’s legal advisers setting
out the duties and responsibilities of Directors under the Listing Rules,
Companies Ordinance and other related ordinances and relevant regulatory
requirements of Hong Kong is provided to each newly appointed Director. A
revised information package comprising the latest developments in laws, rules
and regulations relating to the duties and responsibilities of Directors will be
forwarded to each Director from time to time for his/her information and ready
reference. Guidelines for Directors issued by the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors have been forwarded to each
Director for his/her information and ready reference.
BNEESHRE—HhARAERBERMNTREHNNEBER 58
EHRA RAGH AREMEBEI R ERBREERDIMTRZES
BEREA ZESRTRERE—DEITER ULZREREHRESN
BEREEED R KA RIER m%% AAMEREBESEE
B/ EZHSIBERTSESURBZRME

Memoranda are issued from time to time to keep Directors up to date with
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in the
discharge of their duties.
TREEHESSFUBNESRTNEERAEEY URANERESRE
TEEAMER

Seminars are organised from time to time at which distinguished professionals
are invited to present to the Directors on subjects relating to Directors” duties
and corporate governance, etc.
THETHEETEAENEEALNESAREBESRERCEE RS
HERE-
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Ref.
SLEE
BERR

A5.6

AS5.7

A5.8

Recommended Best Practices

BEREREH

Each Director should disclose to the
Company at the time of his appointment,
and on a periodic basis, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the
public companies or organisation and an
indication of the time involved. The Board
should determine for itself how frequently
such disclosure should be made.
BEEZEREXZARRARRE (1
REBRERRE) ARNARARISARE
B A REEAREMEARE
HEhNARERNRARNARNZREAR
ERAEEAEEBREMIRNER 25
BRETRAEERSAL—REE-

Non-executive Directors, rank pari passu
to other Board members, should give the
Board and any committees on which they
serve such as the audit, remuneration or
nomination committees the benefit of their
skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular
attendance and active participation. They
should also attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders.
FRTESEREEMESEA RSN
MEZEKE EEHLEESg AR
BRHEZEERENZEE (AINERZE
B8 FMEEeIREZEE)NERT
BR2REK NHKE FERERT
RNERRERELER FRTEST
ELERERREAE HARARRNERER
IER) AR -

Non-executive Directors should make a
positive contribution to the development
of the Company’s strategy and policies
through independent, constructive and
informed comments.
FNTESERBREB YL FRRIMR
BRENERHBITANTRE RBEE
HIEE R

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
llE"
#g¥(cl
#ElE]

C

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report

TERERRE
Corporate Governance Practices
LEERER
o The Directors have disclosed to the Company at the time of their appointment

and from time to time thereafter the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
identifying the public companies or organisations involved.

. BEENEXZEREMARAIRE (TRERTRRE) KRARA R HA
BREBMOHE ME  UREMERRE TREZSARAAISAH
P

° There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee

meetings, the meeting between Chairman and Independent Non-executive
Directors and the general meeting during the year. Please refer to A.1.1,
A2.2,B.1.1 and C.3.1 of Section Il above for details of attendance records.

. FARESRRE EXCERE0e IREBVINTESSE
BEAGZHEXHSARE - BRLECHR L HEF2HLXEIL 2 E
A11:-A22-B11 K C31Ee-

o The extent of participation and contribution should be viewed both
quantitatively and qualitatively.
. 2EEBRELERNEEREHSHESMAEETE

o There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee
meetings, the meeting between Chairman and Independent Non-executive
Directors and the general meeting during the year. Please refer to A.1.1,
A2.2,B.1.1 and C.3.1 of Section Il above for details of attendance records.

. FAREZEeE EFCRTRE0eE TREBUINOTESRSEN
BRAEZHEEHSARE - BHLELH A EF2H LXEIBE
A11-A22:B11 R C31 e
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Comply
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Explain
HEH
Recommended Best Practices #F[C]  Corporate Governance Practices
BERERR BBIE] LEERER
SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION
BREMRER
Corporate Governance Principle
PRERRA

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and of such quality that will enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

EFRARERAEENEN AVAREFERREFHFLZEFHANDER FEHRE WitBITRIEBAAAEFNRAREL

There is no recommended best practice under Section A.6 in the Code on CG practices.
PEERTHTIE A AN ERERETH

B.1

B.1.6

B.1.7

B.1.8

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREBRABNHH

THE LEVEL AND COMPOSITION OF REMUNERATION AND DISCLOSURE
FHRBRENKERAR

Corporate Governance Principle
E //3 /? Al /
There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration
packages for all Directors.
R B ERMEEGROERT UATERRTEEHN B ERETEEFRFMATE

A significant proportion of the Executive C o A significant proportion of the Executive Directors’ remuneration has been
Directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link the rewards to corporate and individual performance
structured so as to link the rewards to in 2011. After the duly implementation of new performance management
corporate and individual performance. system in 2012, the performance of Executive Directors is regularly evaluated
BOESNETHERET BEEEATHH based on financial performance, management performance, customer service
BHED R REAARRHE - rating, learning and growth score, etc by using objective criteria. The bonus

of Executive Directors is linked to the results of performance appraisal and
market situation.

. RIZ——F HITESNHFHEBETEAB ) BMEEARRBAARE
B MERERHIER S ——FEARTE RUBRE ERRHR
XERBIS BERRANESHE EHREBNEERTERNTES
WRE HEABERERERNTISRLHE -

The Company should disclose detalils of E o The overall remuneration payable to senior management represents only

any remuneration payable to each of the a small portion of the turnover or profits of the Company. As a matter
members of the senior management and of practice, disclosing details of the remuneration payable to senior

to list their names in the annual reports management on an individual basis does not bring any significant benefits or
and accounts. provide useful information to the shareholders.

AREEHFERERKE N REEAR . BRERABNERTMHAA TZ“%%&@W 5 R EJ%W 1%
REBASNME WILGERRER EEFGRERASTFMERRMSUREASS AEEEER
ABHE -

Where the Board resolves to approve N/A o The Board has never approved any remuneration or compensation

any remuneration or compensation AER arrangements which have previously been rejected by the Remuneration
arrangements in which the remuneration Committee.

committee has previously resolved not . EZeWRBRAMEREETHEZE BRI MER-

to approve, the Board must disclose the
reasons for its approval in its next annual
report.
REZEZABBNTHAMS THAH
MEEELABERTTRAE B84
ET—HERPREARBZARENR
o
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B.1.9

The Board should assess its own
performance on a periodic basis.

EZERHNREAGHNRS

BHMBERGERAA
—F——FFH

Corporate Governancke Report
TEERMRE

The Board shall review the functions and responsibilities of each Director at
regular Board meetings and formulate the improvement plan regarding the
deficiencies in the system and its implementation in a timely manner.
EEBNESeTHEESNBENE LR RHHE LNER LD
PREEHETRESR

There is satisfactory attendance at Board meetings during the year. Please
refer to A1.1, A.2.2, B.1.1 and C.3.1 of Section Il above for detalils of
attendance records.

FRAEESGEIZHREARE HREEHZFBEFL2H EXEIH
% A11A22:B11 K C31E"

Every Executive Director has hands-on knowledge and expertise in the areas
and operations in which he/she is in charge. Appropriate attention to the
affairs of the Company is measured in terms of time as well as the quality of
such attention and the ability of the Directors to contribute with reference to
his/her necessary knowledge and expertise.
ERTEEHEARNEBEBEREFIFER MBS RERER -EFY
ADREBHBIRE BRARANEHE B URAEEAZRER
B2 BRI T LA
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SLEE Recommended Best Practices #F[C]  Corporate Governance Practices
¥R BERERR BBIE] LEBRER
C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
BEREZE
C.1 FINANCIAL REPORTING
HBER
Corporate Governance Principle
PEERERA

The Board should present a balancead), clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.

EFERTE FHREENTFEARANKE BEARAR

Cil4- - The Company should announce E o The Company issued the half-yearly financial results within 2 months after

C.1.5 and publish quarterly financial the end of the relevant period, and the annual financial results within 3
results within 45 days after the months after the end of the relevant year. In addition, all significant and price-
end of the relevant quarter, sensitive transactions have been announced and disclosed in accordance
disclosing such information as with the Listing Rules during the year. The shareholders of the Company are
would enable shareholders to therefore able to assess the performance, financial position and prospects of
assess the performance, financial the Company. The Company does not consider it necessary, nor it is in the
position and prospects of the interests of the Company and its shareholders, to issue quarterly financial
Company. Any such quarterly results. This would result incurring costs that are disproportionate to any
financial reports should be additional benefits to the shareholders.
prepared using the accounting . ARBERNEBNEE . —EARNTIZRLEENBES URERFER
policies applicable to the ZZERNTEFEMBES N FEEERREFRRZERE LT
Company's half-year and annual RARERELEAGRERE B ARARRUARA DA EBRE B
accounts. B RERARELTE - ARDRBHEZEXEEVIELE  MUAH

- RRAEREBEFEARGETE BADAIRERR 2z R AR BHERS T EEZ KA

RARBRNEZERBEE @
FIREERE R WRRE SR RAT
BRRMRR BB RAR
ARBRBEALSZENBRE
B EEABLERNELERR

EEREMEATIE-
- Once the Company has decided E o Please refer to C.1.4 of Section Ill above for the detalls.
to announce and publish its . HEFLH EXENH 2 FECALE

quarterly financial results, it should
continue to adopt quarterly
reporting for each of the third

and ninth month period of
subsequent financial years. Where
the Company decides not to
announce and publish its financial
results for a particular quarter, it
should publish an announcement
immediately to explain the
reason(s) for such decision.

- RA-BREAGRIBEZFEHS
BB - AR E R 08 B
BESEZE=FARENEA
WEEEB - ERARENDMHR
HEX-ZENMEEE  ET
BRE BESERENRA -
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BEREREH

INTERNAL CONTROLS
REEE

Corporate Governance Principle

PEERFA

Comply
ﬂc”
Explain
HE"
#g¥(cl
#ElE]

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Corporate Governance Report
TEERMRE

Corporate Governance Practices

TEERER

The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the

Company’s assets.

EFORERALANANERZRERZEMAEN URERRIRERARAIHEE -

The Board's annual review should, in
particular, consider:
EZeBERINFEESIEETIE
15 :

= the changes since the last annual
review in respect of the nature and
extent of significant risks, and the
Company’s ability to respond to
the changes in its business and
the external environment;

- B FEE  EXREROEER
BREREMNEL ARAREMNE
AREERIMEREBE N

- the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the
system of internal control, and
where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other
providers of assurance;

- aﬁﬁ%fﬁgﬂ B R D B

ZONTFEBREE &k (NE
) RE ST 8 R E MR E R 4
EHTIE:

- the extent and frequency of the
communication of the monitoring
results to the Board (or its board
committee(s)) which enables the
Board to build up a cumulative
assessment of the state of
control in the Company and the
effectiveness with which the risk is
being managed;

-  MNEFE(RETZER)EEE
TERNFREE RRE BBA
Wﬁk,§$@ NGl

BRKEREENERRERY
ZROTEER:

In the review of the effectiveness of the internal control system, the Board, through the
Audit Committee, shall consider:
EXeRaERE R HAREAREEARNKAETFRERT UZE:

J the changes in the significant risks since the last review, and the Company’s
ability to respond to the changes in its business and the external environment;
. B ERBH% EXRRNES  RAARESEXBEIMIREEEN

ab
Ae

o the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and the internal control
system, and the work of the internal audit function;
. EREREERRBRABEERS URABEBOIIE:

o the communication of the monitoring results to the Board that enables it to
build up a cumulative assessment of the state of control in the Company and
the effectiveness of risk management;

. MEZERRERNER RERUHARAERERRERERNER
BERURBHNNEER:

J any incident of significant control failings or weaknesses identified and the
extent to which they have caused unforeseeable outcomes or contingencies
that had or might have material impact on the Company’s financial
performance or conditions; and

. BRERBERERLRIBE URKAMSHALERNERIEZEN
MBERE MZEERIBRERR NS BERA IR B A A6

EXEEATE R

o the effectiveness of the Company’s processes relating to financial reporting
and Listing Rules compliance.

. AREBMBERRET ETRARENRFEEEM-
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- the incidence of significant control C
fallings or weakness that has been
identified at any time during the
period and the extent to which
they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that
have had, could have had, or
may in the future have, a material
impact on the Company’s financial
performance or conditions; and

- BNERREEERERRR
FERBAERBENRE KR
IEHARREANRRARZE
ROBRERE MASERAER
HARMIBRARBREES
AR EE SRR B EEN
EXFE R

- the effectiveness of the C
Company's processes relating to
financial reporting and Listing Rule

compliance.
- RABBHBRERET (TR
8) AEMBFRAER.
C.24 The Company should disclose as section In this Corporate Governance Report, the Company, in particular item C.2.1 of
of the Corporate Governance Report Section Il above, discloses
a narrative statement how they have ARRRAGEERRESR (FEREXEIFF2C21E) BE:
complied with the code provisions on
internal control during the reporting period. o the process of identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks;
The disclosures should also include the . fR I REREARRMEROER
following items:
fER (CEERRE) NBIRE DA . any additional information to assist understanding of the risk management
JEA ST R B H AN 7 3 s g T processes and internal control system;
BENBEENTFAR - BEERERND . EREHERARERERFRARERERGNBIER

tEBETIIEE:

- the process that the Company has C
applied in identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks
that it is facing;

- REBRER FERERMEY
HEARRRFERRAER

= any additional information to C
assist the understanding of the
Company’s risk management
processes and internal control
system;

-  EIEPERLFRREERRF
RABEERGHBIER
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C.25

C.2.6

- an acknowledgement by the
Board that it is responsible for the
Company’s internal control system
and is responsible to review its
effectiveness;

- EZeRRERUARAMNANE
BEGAR THRERNZHE
A M

- the process that the Company
has applied in reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control
system; and

- REABRAABEEZRHREEN
FIRIERT : &

- the process that the Company has
applied to deal with the material
internal control aspects of any
significant problems disclosed in
its annual reports and accounts.

- RAREERFEREREKAR
MRENEREENNEESE
M E AR BT AR o

The Company should ensure that their
disclosures provide meaningful information
and are not misleading.
ARERRAKENREEENER M
BRERABRENRE -

The Company without an internal audit
function should review the need for this
function on an annual basis and should
disclose the outcome of such review in
the Company’s Corporate Governance
Report.
RERBZENGENRREGERNRSE
FERDUEE ARER (REER
WE) ARBERASER

N/A
TEm

RMBERNDERAE
—T—FER

Corporate Governa‘n’cke Report
TEERMRE

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is responsible for the internal
control system and for reviewing its effectiveness;

EZERRAAANDEEZRRBAERN:

the process applied in reviewing the effectiveness of internal control system;
and

BT ARBERARKBARRNERF: R

the process applied to deal with material internal control aspects of any
significant problems disclosed in its Annual Reports and Financial Statements.

RERIIBRRAABREEARBY RNEZAPERERMRNEERE
o

The Company aims to ensure that the disclosures provide meaningful
information and do not give a misleading impression.

ARABNEFAERBEOAAZRNEN NETETARENER

Please refer to C.2.1 of Section Il above for the details
HEE2BLEXEIB2FE C21B
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Cc3

C3.7

AUDIT COMMITTEE
ERERE

Corporate Governance Principle
PREBRA

The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it wil apply the financial reporting and internal control
principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors.

EERERIESTN B ERR A BEFRE RIS B R A BT E MR (e ERRREGRHZH

The terms of reference of the audit

committee should also require the audit

committee:

ERZReNBEEETARE

to review the arrangements by
which employees of the Company
may, in confidence, raise concerns
about possible improper acts

in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. The

audit committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in
place for the fair and independent
investigation of such matters and
for appropriate follow-up action;
and

RER AR KA T %5k : ARE
SRR HEBER AP
HithhE A s ENPERTTA
REBI-EREECREREE
ERH BARHEEFHEELA
TBURNRAERERERTE: R

to act as the key representative
for overseeing the company’s
relationship with external auditors.
REAREIMNEREMz MNEE
RE BEER-_HEZENEEG.

C

The Company has established a mailbox for anti-fraudulent issues, in which it
contains the mechanism for employees to raise any questions they may have
to address to the internal audit department for any necessary action (whether
these are related to their career development or any other grievances and
complaints they may have). The Company considers such mechanism to

be sufficient to ensure that there is a channel for employees to have direct
communication with the management of the Company.
ARRIRERELBRE EHHFE I BEERNADSBREEMEE
(TRBEE IEEERAAMIRRBFEE) AFELAET DK
HeARARRUBHREARRE TRARR 2 ERBRAERER

The audit committee of the Company acts as the key representative for
overseeing the Company’s relationship with external auditors.
ARANMEHZEGRERAENEREM ANEERK ABERS
EZFERBEER
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D.2

BHMBERHERAA
—F——FER

~

’

Corporate Governa‘n’cke Refor
TEERWRE

~0

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
EzgRNER

MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS
R

Corporate Governance Principle
PEERRA
The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.

ARAEE —BIERN BT BI% FIBHIREFEFACH ERRREELEBRAENER

The Company should disclose the division C J Please refer to the Management Structure Chart set out on page 131.
of responsibility between the Board . FLHIBREI1EZ EREEE -

and the management to assist those
affected by corporate decisions to better
understand the respective accountabilities
and contributions of the Board and
management.
AREREESERERE L ANBED
I ABBBERAERRY BEERE
EXeHEREROMUHARBERE

HER e

Directors should clearly understand the E o It is not the Company’s practice to have formal letters of appointment for its

delegation arrangements that are already Directors. Nevertheless, the Directors clearly understand their duties to the

in place. To this end, the Company should Company, to which they are collectively and individually responsible for. In

have formal letters of appointment for addition, section of these duties that are related to fiduciary duties, duties of

Directors setting out the key terms and skill, care and diligence established under common law are over a long period

conditions of their relevant appointment. of time, and it is not feasible to attempt to formulate these comprehensively in

ESRERERETNENERRH A writing. To have a formal letter of appointment may also lead to inflexibility.

It ARERBERNESEREE ATHA . AARAIEZRHEAEAEUFARARZER HEFSERBRES

BZENT E BRI RARERSARRBITZEE N BRBOBERAUREER LB
PRI s Bt BERBATERA BZERENZENAZEIIH
ERAEAAT- BB EAZAE AR ABEE M -

BOARD COMMITTEES

EEBETHZES

Corporate Governance Principle

PEELRA

The board committees should be established with specific written terms of reference which clearly deal with the committees’ authority and duties.

EFEE [ AZRONA U TEERNNCRERE FHIAZRERINBE -

There is no recommended best practice under Section D.2 in the Code on CG Practices.
PEERERTAE D2 FRTEERRERR
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BERERR BBIE] LEERER
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
HRRNBE
EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION
BNEE
Corporate Governance Principle
PEERRA

The Board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other general
meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage their participation.

BERRFERTFERHE LRERRFEFABAR M B ZERTEBRSAMNTHEE

There is no recommended best practice under Section E.1 in the Code on CG Practices.
CEERERTAEEI FALRRERERH

E.2

VOTING BY POLL

UREFARR

Corporate Governance Principle

PEERERA

The Company should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.
AR AIEBRRERATARE XXM AL

There is no recommended best practice under Section E.2 in the Code on CG Practices.
AEERFRATUEE2 ANV ERESERR -

(0] Shareholder’s Rights
RRER
The issuer should disclose the information of the o In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, any shareholder
following shareholders’ rights: holding more than one-tenth of the shares shall have the right, by written
BT ANERE TRRREFI NS notice to the Secretary or the Board of the Company (the contact information
(@) the way for shareholders to convene an C of the Company is published at the website), to require the Board to convene
extraordinary general meeting; a general meeting for the respective topics, and such meeting shall be held
B RERBFABREERIASHAR: within two months after the submission of such requisition.
. READAIZEREE EMHFETH2—AERGORE  ANZEKAR
(b)  the procedures for putting forward proposals G AREMENEEE (BUBEHARNBEER) EXES e iBERE
at general meetings, together with sufficient BRRREAIAE ZEEV AR AFEMERAET
contact details; and
b EREASRLZEZNER GERRRMES . The investor relations section at the website of the Company has installed
BH) & a tool for shareholders to send enquiries and shareholders can enquire any
time.
(©) the procedures by which enquiries may be put G . AARBUAREEFEDORERRAARASHANIE KRR R
to the board, together with sufficient contact RIL&ER-
details.
© HFESERLEANEF ERTENHEE
#) o
P Investor Relations
REEBR
The issuer must disclose any significant N/A There is no significant change of articles of association of the Company during the
changes of articles of association during T year of 2011 and 2012.
the year in its corporate governance report CE NI —FAARAMNARER R LRENERZE-

EOANREACRERRENREFRA
ARERXHMNENEAZ
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BEERE
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Investor Relations

REEME

2011 marked the third year of the Company’s listing in Hong
Kong. Since its listing, the Company has gradually formed a
scientific and systematic management mechanism for investor
relations after plenty of exploration and practice, which serves
as a bridge for effective communication between the Company
and the capital market. The Company has always attached
great importance to investor relations. Adhering to the disclosure
principles of openness, fairness, transparency and multi-channel,
the Company discloses its financial and operation information
to the capital market timely. It also listens attentively to various
suggestions and proposals from the capital market with regards
to the Company’s management and operation in a proactive,
sincere and humble manner so as to improve the Company’s
management quality, enhance shareholders’ value and maximize
their interests.

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

—E—F ARABTAEBTBELTHE=
FoEHBELMUK RARBNKREEBETHE
RETHZORRNER BLHEKTHE
EGMREEREREERS RARRMENRN
MSEZEERTSRNEBRB/R - AR —H
BEERREEFETE BRI Q¥ 3
BZRENEERY AEATS RERE
RAF WS N AE &R AR
RENEERBEATSEHARKEERE L
MERMER  TEHEEARRMNLEEEK
FAPRREABRREENERBRRNNE R
KAt e

BERE

Share Price Performance in 2011
From 3 January 2011 to 30 December 2011

- —FRERR
—2-—%-A=AEZ
—®2——F£+-A=+A
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As of 31 December 2011, the total number of shares of the
Company was 2,400,000,000 with par value of HK$0.10 each.
Based on the closing price as of 30 December 2011, the
Company’s market value was about HK$4.73 billion.

SHAREHOLDER RETURNS

The Company attaches great importance to the shareholders’
views on its dividend payout. The Company determines its
dividend payout with reference to the Company’s financial
status, long-term development needs and potential investment
opportunities.

DEPLOYING INTERACTIVE MULTI-
CHANNELLED COMMUNICATION TO
REALIZE EFFECTIVE INVESTOR RELATIONS

Enhancing investor relations management
system

The Company has been committed to establishing a scientific
and systematic management system of investor relations.
In 2011, the Company further defined and improved the
procedures of major investor relations practices, including results
announcement, non-deal road shows, disclosure of material
information, etc. In 2011, the Company also further upgraded
the investor database with the support of its established
investor relations management platform, thus standardizing and
systematizing the major work on investor relations, including
investor meeting scheduling, investor information’s collection and
classification as well as investor shareholding analysis.
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Facilitating diversified and multi-channelled
investor activities

In 2011, the Company communicated its development
philosophy and strategies and its latest operation results in
the capital market in a timely manner through various investor
communication channels, including analyst briefings, non-deal
roadshows, one-on-one meetings, investor forums organized by
investment banks, telephone conferences, emails, and investors’
on-site visits as well as the Company’s website. Meanwhile,
according to the needs and styles of different analysts and
investors, the Company flexibly arranged senior managements
with different responsibilities to participate various investor
relations activities. Since the listing, the Company’s senior
managements including Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and
Chief Financial Officer have participated in plenty of investor
activities to fully communicate with the capital market, which truly
realized multi-channelled communications. In 2011, the Company
hosted two analyst presentations and two press conferences
on its annual results and interim results respectively, held one
non-deal roadshows, participated in fifteen international investor
forums held by investment banks, and conducted hundreds of
one-on-one meetings and telephone conferences in the usual
course. Throughout 2011, the Company facilitated interactive
communications with investors or analysts nearly 350 person-
time. Upon the request of investors, the Company also arranged
investor and media on-site visits in 2011 to help investors to have
a direct communication with the Company’s operating frontier,
and these activities have enhanced the investors’ understanding
on the Company’s businesses and operations.
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BEERME
Attendance Analysis of Investor Relations TE——FREHRTEAXRSW
Activities in 2011
Non-deal roadshow
IR BHE L%
Results presentation
¥ERnE 34%
Investor forum
BEEWE 24%
Meeting and
conference call
HANBEDE 22%
Site-visit
B2 EHEZE16%
List of investor relations activities of the —E-——FWEEERGEED
Company conducted in 2011 —E%
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ADHERING TO TIMELY, JUST, FAIR AND
ACCURATE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company has strictly complied with the information
disclosure requirements for listed companies and made
information disclosure in a timely, just, fair and accurate
manner so as to enhance the transparency of the Company,
established smooth communication channels, and enhanced
communications with the capital market. In 2011, the Company
published more than 25 corporate communications such as
announcements and circulars. Such publications have objectively
and comprehensively disclosed information regarding the
Company’s results, operating performance, financial information,
dividend payment, the change of important executive positions
and composition of the Board, poll results of shareholder
meetings and certain other voluntary disclosures. The Company’s
IR website (http://irxmyuzhou.com.cn) is not only a distribution
channel for relevant information dissemination as required by the
Listing Rules, it is also an important means for the capital market
to access information and contact with the Company.

In 2011, the Group published the following information on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules:
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HEARING INVESTORS COMPREHENSIVELY
AND REALIZING INTERACTIVE
COMMUNICATIONS

As the Company enhances investor communications and
information disclosure, the Company also attaches great
importance to its investors’ recommendations and opinions. With
a proactive, sincere and modest attitude, the Company collected
and filed the opinions and recommendations on the Company’s
operation and management through different channels of investor
communications. These initiatives also included the provision of
the investor relations electronic mailbox on its website and the
telephone line for investors to express their views. The Company
actively inquired investors of their recommendations on the
Company’s operation and management during investor activities
and forwarded these opinions and recommendations to the
management and supervisors at all levels on a regular and timely
basis, hence enabling a two-way interaction with the investors
and helping the Company to formulate its development strategies
and improve its operation and management.

OTHER NECESSARY INFORMATION FOR
SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to shareholding, such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, and loss of share certificates should
be addressed in writing to the Registrar:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 2508 1018

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from institutional investors and securities analysts,
please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department,
Yuzhou Properties Company Limited

Units 4905-06, 49/F, The Centre,

99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2508 1718

Facsimile: (852) 2510 0265
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= Ik

To the shareholders of Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Yuzhou Properties Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 144 to 252,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2011, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central
Hong Kong

22 March 2012

143

WIS E ()

RZERRE ZEREVBEREERES
B BERELENEEMAFLRE EAQF
£ B R20114612 8318 89 8 &5 AR
ESEHEZBLEFENNBERRER
N ERBREE R RO IREREZ AR

o

o &

TG ER AT
HEZETAD
B
FIRANEER
s KE221E
201243 H22H



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Consolidated Income Statement

R S U B AR

Year ended 31 December 2011 #{Z20114F 12531 H 1 F/&F

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR¥T AR T T
REVENUE WA 5 3,839,076 4,265,558
Cost of sales H & AR (1,954,615) (2,488,175)
Gross profit EF 1,884,461 1,777,383
Other income and gains HEA R 5 93,366 18,402
Selling and distribution costs SHE & sHA AN (116,356) (64,426)
Administrative expenses THERX (159,762) (106,225)
Other expenses HiAx (5,196) (3,789)
Fair value gains on investment BEMEQ DB R
properties 15 478,180 276,015
Finance costs BhE P A 7 (156,238) (39,187)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A0 F 5 6 2,018,455 1,858,173
Income tax expense FriS i > 10 (1,025,247) (892,868)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEFE 993,208 965,305
Attributable to: AR & 75 e 1 -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZZE N 11 941,628 963,601
Non-controlling interests FEIE i 51,580 1,704
993,208 965,305
EARNINGS PER SHARE KRB ERIEEAEMN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY BRER
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
- Basic (RMB per share) —HEX(BRARE) 0.39 0.40
— Diluted (RMB per share) —HE (ERARE) 0.39 0.40

Details of the dividend proposed for the year are disclosed in

note 12 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
SETHEHWER

Year ended 31 December 2011 #Z2011F12/31H 1 F/Z

2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®ETT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERE 993,208 965,305
Exchange difference on translation of BINETS T 2 [E N =

foreign operations 60,789 57,991
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEL2ERRERE

FOR THE YEAR 1,053,997 1,023,296
Attributable to: LATR & 75 P

Owners of the Company RKAREA A 1,008,288 1,020,806

Non-controlling interests FEFE R M 45,709 2,490

1,053,997 1,023,296
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wrE MBI R

31 December 2011 20114 12H31H

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR®BT ARBEFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% B R 14 207,190 181,388
Investment properties KEYE 15 3,444,900 2,890,747
Prepaid land lease payments FEfS LA E 16 443,874 452,730
Investment in a jointly-controlled HEE A B
entity 18 157,200 -
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 29 276,421 186,418
Total non-current assets EREEELTE 4,529,585 3,711,283
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepaid land lease payments TEf LS 16 657,946 559,955
Properties under development EEYE 19 8,345,407 3,595,735
Completed properties held for sale REHEREMR T Y 20 2,030,322 484,369
Prepayments for acquisition for land Y 8% £ 78+ X I8 52,900 2,781,641
Prepayments, deposits and other EANR - ZE Rk
receivables H b & Wk IE 21 652,376 675,165
Prepaid corporate income tax A MG 14,585 14,389
Prepaid land appreciation tax TEAT b AT 13,453 37,386
Restricted cash Z PR HI3R & 22 516,159 13,223
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 22 1,440,378 2,719,446
Total current assets M EEBT 13,723,526 10,881,309
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Receipts in advance TE W FIE 23 1,950,571 1,910,434
Trade payables B S RN FIE 24 1,918,845 914,147
Other payables and accruals H b RIa R ER & A 25 578,542 384,138
Derivative financial liabilities TESREAE 26 543 =
Interest-bearing bank and other ATERITERKEMESR
borrowings 27 1,335,211 1,038,023
Tax payable FES R I8 716,178 460,067
Provision for land appreciation tax I b IE(E R B 28 1,169,594 776,741
Total current liabilities ME B BB 7,669,484 5,483,550
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 6,054,042 5,397,759
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAER
LIABILITIES 10,583,627 9,109,042
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31 December 2011 20114F12431H

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B &E AR®T R AR®ETT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and other ATERITEREEMEER

borrowings 27 4,221,547 3,741,747
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHRIBAE 29 706,160 543,266
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EBRE 4,927,707 4,285,013
Net assets B EFRE 5,655,920 4,824,029
EQUITY R

Equity attributable to owners of A AFHEE AEEERS
the Company

Issued capital BT AR 30 211,528 211,528
Reserves E 31(a) 5,061,968 4,131,482
Proposed final dividend R R 8RR B, 12 77,802 224,394
5,351,298 4,567,404
Non-controlling interests FEZRER 304,622 256,625
Total equity Wt 4258 5,655,920 4,824,029
Lam Lung On Kwok Ying Lan
MER By |
Director Director
E2F o
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mEEmEEE

Year ended 31 December 2011 & 22011412431 H 1 F/Z
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAEEAEL
Statutory Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued Share surplus fluctuation Other Retained final controling Total
Note capital premium eserve reserve 1eserve profts dividend Total interests equity
Hifp A SHE Hik
B BEARA HE  EBER KBHE e REAE AEBRE & BRER  BEagE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARMTR ARMTn ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETz  ARETR AR¥TR
(Note 30) (Note 31(a)() (Note 31(a)(i)
(Kiz0) (GRE GEXITE
At 1 January 2010 201051 A1H 211,528 1,616,575 55,935 31,424 (16,328) 1,747,464 158,646 3,705,244 124173 3829417
Profit for the year FEAE - - - - - 963,601 - 963,601 1,704 965,305
Other comprehensive income ~ FEE A
for the year: 2ENE:
Exchange differences on ANEHAEL
tranglation of foreign EXER
operations - - - 57,205 - - - 57,206 786 57,991
Total comprehensive income R 2 EMRHAE
for the year - - - 57,206 - 963,601 - 1,020,806 2,490 1,023,296
Capital injection of non-controling FEHRIRARR 2 i &
shareholders - - - - - - - - 129,962 129,962
Final 2009 dividend declared £ 420095 KRR 8. - - - - - - (158646)  (158,646) - (15846)
Proposed final dividend REARBRE 12 - (024,304) - - - - 204,394 - - -
At 31 December 2010 R2010127A318 211,528 1,202,181 55,935* 88,629° (16,328 2,711,065* 224,394 4,567,404 256625 4,824,029
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAREAER
Statutory Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued Share surplus  fluctuation Other Retained final controlling Total
Note capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits dividend Total interests equity
o) EE HE R
M BRORA BE  BHER  RBEE  HRBE  REFME RERE f  FEREE  EREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARMTR  ARETR  AR®TR  AR¥TR  ARMTR ARMTR  ARETR
(Note 30) (Note 31(a)) Note 31(af)
(M3ks0) (3Es1(a) GESTE)
At 1 January 2011 R011E1A1R 211,528 1,292,181 55,935 88,629 (16,328) 2,711,065 224304 4,567,404 256,625 4,824,029
Profi for the year EEFE - - - - - 41628 - 041,68 51580 993,208
Other comprehensive income ~ EE £t
for the year: 2ENE:
Exchange differences on BNEHREL
tranglation of foreign ERER
operations - - - 66,660 - - - 66,660 (5,871) 60,789
Total comprehensive income ~~ £E 2 AREAE
for the year - - - 66,660 - 941,628 - 1,008,288 45,709 1,053,997
Non-controling interests arising W BEFEE &
from acquisition of netassets 2 FERRRER - - - - - - - - 2,268 2,288
Transfer from retained profits ~ B/R B e - - 6,707 - - (6,707) - - - -
Final 2010 dividend declared 20105 KBRS - - - - - - (24304 (224,394) - (22430
Proposed final dividend REARBRE 12 - (77,802) - - - - 77,802 - - -
At 31 December 2011 R2011512A318 211528 1,214,379 62,642* 155,289 (16,328)* 3,645,986 77,802 5,351,298 304,622 5,655,920

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves

of RMB5,061,968,000 (2010: RMB4,131,482,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

148

- ZERBREEES

SRR B RO AR

A A RE5,061,968,0007T (20104 : AR
#4.131,482,0007T ) °



B E B H R A F
T FFH

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHREREXR

Year ended 31 December 2011 & Z2011F 12431 H I F/E
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ff 5 AR®BF AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  R#EBHHREHKRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax TR 2,018,455 1,858,173
Adjustments for: TMATIEBfELE 3%
Finance costs &R A 7 156,238 39,187
Bank interest income RITH B WA 5 (15,022) (8,818)
Depreciation e 6 11,332 5,058
Amortisation of prepaid land TE AT - 70 5 B 8
lease payments 6 20,582 16,492
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE - BE K
property, plant and equipment FETEB M EE 6 1,911 979
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYER
properties LG 6 (37,025) (2,351)
Fair value gains on investment "EYMERRE
properties Wz 15 (478,180) (276,015)
1,678,291 1,632,705
(Increase)/decrease in properties fEZMmE (), R
under development (1,382,909) 760,988
(Increase)/decrease in completed FEHERERET
properties held for sale WE (3E) R (1,514,842) 161,845
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,  FEfT X - & & R E 4 fEIL
deposits and other receivables FIER A, (35 n) 22,789 (177,216)
Increase/(decrease) in receipts Bl RIEE N,
in advance OR) 40,137 (1,301,364)
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE ZIAE N 1,004,698 210,659
Increase in other payables and H M fE N FRIE R
accruals FEET & Mg 194,404 202,936
Cash generated from operations KEEBEENR G 42,568 1,490,553
Interest received B U F B 15,022 8,818
Interest paid EAFE (504,268) (178,267)
PRC corporate income tax paid EAFBEMSH (167,846) (187,277)
PRC land appreciation tax paid B8 3 L3R E (111,809) (45,595)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated RS (FTAR)
from operating activities EEXNBEESREFE (726,333) 1,088,232
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HERaRER (E)

Year ended 31 December 2011 #{Z20114F 12531 H 1L F/F

2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Ff 5 AR®BF ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHEEW
ACTIVITIES BeRE
Capital contribution to m—EEERESEE
a jointly-controlled entity HE (6,000) =
Advance of loan to m— A EEES T
a jointly-controlled entity BHER (151,200) =
Payment of land lease premiums STt LHEERE (424,631) (659,404)
Increase in prepayments W % - T8 A FRIE N
for acquisition of land - (1,647,605)
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BEX
plant and equipment HEEE (39,045) (20,792)
Additions of investment properties REREYZE (153,572) (150,596)
Increase in restricted cash PR 6138 & 15 00 (502,936) (11,468)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYEMSHIE
investment properties 110,723 2,775
Net cash flows used in investing REEBFTAE
activities M= /FR (1,166,661) (2,387,090)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEFHELEN
ACTIVITIES BeRE
New bank and other borrowings FrgRITREMEE 2,474,043 3,541,456
Repayment of bank and other EBREBITRAMES
borrowings (1,697,055) (990,736)
Proceeds from issue of warrants BATRIRERE AT B 543 =
Decrease in amounts due to related  J& {5t B8 28 75 A R 2>
parties - (1,787)
Dividend paid B E (224,394) (158,646)
Net cash flows from financing BEEHEAMNIRES R
activities =558 553,137 2,390,287
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE BERBRESEEY
IN CASH AND CASH R A) /#hnFEEE
EQUIVALENTS (1,339,857) 1,091,429
Cash and cash equivalents at FNReRREEEY
beginning of year 2,719,446 1,670,026
Effect of foreign exchange rate MR B E R 2% 5
changes, net 60,789 57,991
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREER
AT END OF YEAR BHEZEY 1,440,378 2,719,446
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HEeERESEZEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EER D AT
Cash and bank balances W& RARTTAEER 22 1,440,378 2,719,446
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2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M aE ARET R ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y S Rk 14 3,889 1,167
Investments in subsidiaries R B R REIEE 17 1 32,300
Total non-current assets ERBBEELT 3,890 33,467
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries NG 17 3,631,618 2,759,684
Prepayments, deposits and ERFR - ZE R
other receivables H th & Ug I8 21 860 798
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMIREZEY 22 13,635 1,336,323
Total current assets MENEEEE 3,646,113 4,096,805
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Other payables and accruals B b FE AT 58 &
fEETE 25 48,023 3,736
Derivative financial liabilities ESREsE 26 543 -
Due to subsidiaries JFE B B A B RUIA 17 112,641 38,087
Interest-bearing bank and other ATEIRITER K
borrowings HMEE 27 85,777 =
Total current liabilities ne e EEE 246,984 41,823
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 3,399,129 4,054,982
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BWEERABERE
LIABILITIES 3,403,019 4,088,449
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBERE
Interest-bearing bank and STERITERK
other borrowings HEE 27 2,021,697 2,120,347
Net assets & EFR 1,381,322 1,968,102
EQUITY s
Issued capital B BT A 30 211,528 211,528
Reserves & 31(b) 1,091,992 1,532,180
Proposed final dividend R R EA L B 12 77,802 224,394
Total equity BT 1,381,322 1,968,102

Lam Lung On
MEE=R
Director

EF
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Notes to Financial Statements
B 75 3h R M &

31 December 2011 20114 12H31H

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yuzhou Properties Company Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. During the
year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in property
development, property investment, property management
and hotel operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC” or “Mainland China”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)(which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties and
derivative financial liabilities, which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2011. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is

attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results
in a deficit balance.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1
First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Stanaards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for
First-time Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32
Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Classification

of Rights Issues
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY SRR FRBEEFTENE

AND DISCLOSURES (continued) (%)
HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK (IFRIC)- %T ( U5 EF] B4 (BRI B
Amendments Int 14 Prepayments of uﬁi “FELZET) 2
a Minimum Funding § == F1ARE T RIEE S
Requirement —2EBE14 ZEX
BT A
K (IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities 55 ( U5 UKD LA K
with Equity Instruments R =
§ EE)
—REE195%

2010F &858 % 1ERTR2010F5 A Bz
HEER ZHEEB B BREE
2E al

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs issued in May 2010

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010

BR20O10%F & B i 8 & 2E Rl 2 2 FR &,
BB ERE245 (&5 &
BB ISREERIEI  BAE G E
BIZE15% R BB ST AR SE2758 2 225N
(AT E— P RE) M R

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS
3, HKAS 1 and HKAS 27 included in /mprovements to
HKFRSs 2010, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these

financial statements. BRI BB R EEAWEEZE Y
MRELEBERFEZE-

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as KMZEEAVBREEANEELE
follows: LU

(a) HKAS 24 (REVISED) RELATED (a) BEBEFHERIFE245;

PARTY DISCLOSURES

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the
definitions of related parties. The new definitions
emphasise a symmetrical view of related party
relationships and clarify the circumstances in which
persons and key management personnel affect
related party relationships of an entity. The revised
standard also introduces an exemption from the
general related party disclosure requirements for
transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised
to reflect the changes in the definitions of related
parties under the revised standard. The adoption of
the revised standard did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group. Details
of the related party transactions, including the related
comparative information, are included in note 37 to
the financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) /mprovements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010
sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There
are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies, none
of these amendments has had a significant financial
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group. Details of the key amendments most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The
amendment clarifies that the amendments
to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that
eliminate the exemption for contingent
consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendment limits the
scope of measurement choices for non-
controlling interests. Only the components
of non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required
by another HKFRS.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY 2.2 @ETBER MR FTE EIER &
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued) (%)

(b) (Continued) (b) &)

The amendment also added explicit guidance
to clarify the accounting treatment for non-
replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based
payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis of
each component of other comprehensive
income can be presented either in the
statement of changes in equity or in the notes
to the financial statements. The Group elects
to present the analysis of each component of
other comprehensive income in the statement
of changes in equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28
and HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.

156

{ERTINANABAS $E 5] - LARDER
FEEUAC AN B BRERAC B E R AR
R RENETRET R

et EREVRGFHA
ES K fIZETI%EJEHﬁ{‘@i\EW
=m &R E DT A R B
BRIGBEREMERS - K
SEERERDZEHRZT
H At 2 Wt BRI DA ©

BB ST ERIFE275RAR S
BUHFHE (MR RS
5T B 275k (7A20084
KSR ) BE B E R EERIFE21
R BB EETERIFE28RFE
\‘%@‘ﬁ‘?ﬁ Bl 253157 AT 1B i &Y
& B 5] A1E2009F7 A1H
2 %A EFE HRE R
RrERES S ERIE275
i A o



BN ERNBERA A
—E——FFR

Notes to Financial Statemen}s
B 7% 3R R B &
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BEMEMEIL RESIHFEH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 14 & A8
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBWERANZTBEHRRERTIE
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in MR B 18] AR AR R B S B A 3R 5 2R o

these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time BEUBRE BIABRBUVBRE
Amendments Adoption of Hong Kong AERI|ZBA5R HEBE15H B X
Financial Reporting Standards — (1&7T) RN BB &
Severe Hyperinflation and ER—REE
Removal of Fixed Dates for First- BRI 5t
time Adopters' B N IR AN 2 M B
EBH
HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial EEMBRE BRI EBUBRS
Amendments Instruments: AERIZE TR HERIE7RE T
Disclosures — Transfers of (188T) A RBEEED
Financial Assets" AEE
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial BRI B BMEHRE
Instruments: HR|ETRS T
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial A FE-HEL
Assets and Financial Liabilities* BEERTHE E
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments® BB HRE ZE T AS
AERI| B O5%
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements* BEMBRE LGEHIHHEE
ZERIZE105%
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements* BB HRE & ZHE
ZERIFE1158
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other ERMBRE RAMERERKE
Entities* ZERIFE 1258
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement* ERMBRE AL EE

AEBI| 551357
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

2.3 BEMEIL RESNEEY

HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 1 BEBEE CHE e
Amendments Presentation of Financial AEBI 1SR 1557 81 7 #R 25 19 2
Statements — Presentation of (1&8%8]) #H—E = E WK
tems of Other Comprehensive IHZ 31
Income®
HKAS 12 Amendments to HKAS 12 Income BB EHEYE e
Amendments Taxes — Deferred Tax: B ZE125R 125% AT 5 B — B AL
Recovery of Underlying Assets? (158%7) /Jz IH : BB E
52
HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits* BAE LR =F s
1958
(20114 )
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements* BB ET %A VoAAvA £
FE275
(20114 )
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint BB g &R REBED A RE &P
Ventures* F285R &
(20114F)
HKAS 32 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial BB GFER EHEYCY Ll
Amendments instruments: Presentation — E325F 325RE @ T A :
Offsetting Financial Assets and (18%7) ZH-—HETHE

ERTHEE
Fe (BRME FXESLEHNF

Financial Liabilities®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine* WmERE B 54
£Z8g
— e
F205%
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July L R2011E7 A1 A A s < £ 5 5
2011 FE A 3K
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 7201241 A1 8 sk bA 18 46 2 & Z 5
2012 fE A 2K
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 8 R2012%67 A1H A& A s < & /E 5
2012 FE A 3K
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g 7201341 A1 8 sk bA 18 48 2 & /Z 5
2013 fE A 2K
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 5 R201451 A1 A& A s 2 £ 5 5
2014 FE A 3K
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January @ 7201541 A1 8 sk LA 18 B 46 2 & /Z 5

2015 fE 2
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected
to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach
for the classification and measurement of financial assets
compared with the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the
Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option (‘FVO”). For these FVO liabilities,
the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is
attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented
in other comprehensive income (‘OCI”). The remainder
of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss,
unless presentation of the fair value change in respect
of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have
been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the
Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMBMIBIRERKE L

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance in
HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of financial
assets continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2015.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies
to all entities including special purpose entities or structured
entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used
to determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the
Group to exercise significant judgement to determine which
entities are controlled, compared with the requirements
in HKAS 27 and HK (SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special
Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that addresses the accounting for consolidated financial
statements. It also includes the issues raised in HK (SIC)-Int
12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HK (SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It describes the
accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. It
addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e.,
joint operations and joint ventures, and removes the
option to account for joint ventures using proportionate
consolidation.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
structured entities that are previously included in HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, HKAS
31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates. It also introduces a number of new disclosure
requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27
and HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, and the consequential
amendments to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 from 1 January
2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the Group is
required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair
value should be applied where its use is already required
or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 January 2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. ltems that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, upon derecognition or settlement) would be
presented separately from items which will never be
reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMIBIRERBE S I

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred
tax for investment property measured at fair value. The
amendments introduce a rebuttable presumption that
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair
value should be determined on the basis that its carrying
amount will be recovered through sale. Furthermore, the
amendments incorporate the requirement previously in
HK (SIC)-Int 21 /ncome Taxes — Recovery of Revalued
Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation model
in HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 12 Amendments from 1
January 2012.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications
and re-wording. The revised standard introduces significant
changes in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans
including removing the choice to defer the recognition
of actuarial gains and losses. Other changes include
modifications to the timing of recognition for termination
benefits, the classification of short-term employee benefits
and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group
expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 January 2018.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with
HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

JOINT VENTURES

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(@)

a subsidiary, if the Group/Company has unilateral
control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group/Company
does not have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

an associate, if the Group/Company does not
have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or
indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the joint
venture’s registered capital and is in a position to
exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group/Company holds, directly
or indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor
is in a position to exercise significant influence over,
the joint venture.

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject
to joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties
having unilateral control over the economic activity of the
jointly-controlled entity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-
controlled entities is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where
the profit sharing ratio is different to the Group’s equity
interest, the share of the post-acquisition results of the
jointly-controlled entities is determined based on the
agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled entities,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities is included as
part of the Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities.

When an investment in a jointly-controlled entity is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties under development, completed properties
held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the income statement in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

167

B E B H R A F
T FFH

Notes to Financial Statements
BA 75 3R R P &E

31 December 2011 20114F12431H

24 TE@THEBE (&)

FEMEERE @

REREMEERT SFEILEEE
PR BN AR R EBENBE
ERAREDRD - HAZFHR  E&fh
AR E R ERTBLE E (BB
BROBREER EXRANETZXEE
MR UL Bl BR O A AT A B T A B
BRONSEIESENRRBTFRELE
M BEEERMEBENESNKREE
(IR EMITE, #iH) - BEREE
BREEARE ARG R HEMHZEA
BENEMGBEE K ARESERD
SRZABHEEEANBREHBER
B

BER
ETHBRT BHFBREAREE
KRB -

(@ &I REASIEFKFENIHEEZA
+

) EHIHEREGAEE:
(i) HAKBITEEAZEN X

(i) ABAEESIEJGARNEE
EIRAEBMKE



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Notes to Fingncial Statements
BT iR R M &E

31 December 2011 2011F12431H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vij a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of lease
terms and 20 years
Over the shorter of lease
terms and 5 years

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment
Motor vehicles

2 to 5 years
2 to 5 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Property under construction or development for future
use as an investment property is classified as investment
property under construction. If the fair value cannot
be reliably determined, the investment property under
construction will be measured at cost until such time as fair
value can be determined or construction is completed.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement
in the year in which they arise. Any gains or losses on
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

When the Group completes the construction or
development of a self-constructed investment property,
any difference between the fair value of the property at
the completion date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties or inventories, the deemed cost of
a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value
at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change
in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for
as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.
For a transfer from inventories to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
income statement.

LEASES

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are intended to be held for
sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and
other costs directly attributable to such properties incurred
during the development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete
beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for
sale.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of completed properties held for sale is determined
by an apportionment of total land and building costs
attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses, or by
management estimates based on the prevailing market
conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as loans and receivables. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and deposits and other
receivables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance income in the income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the income statement in finance costs for loans and in
other expenses for receivables.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired, or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus,
in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group'’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, derivative financial liabilities and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive, and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and jointly-
controlled entity, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
jointly-controlled entity, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@)

from the sale of completed properties, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
properties are transferred to the buyers, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the completed properties,
that is when the construction of the relevant
properties has been completed and the properties
have been delivered to the buyers pursuant to the
sale agreement, and the collectability of related
receivables is reasonably assured;

from the rendering of services, when the services are
rendered;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms; and

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they
have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by
the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTESTHEME (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB. The
Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. In
the opinion of the directors, as the Group’s operations are
mainly in the PRC, the use of RMB as the presentation
currency is more appropriate for the presentation of the
Group’s results and financial position. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
arising from settlement or translation of monetary items
are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of
a non-monetary item is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation differences on item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the
RMB. As at end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, and
their income statements are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Operating lease commitments - Group as
lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Classification between investment
properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under
a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to

determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Classification between investment
properties and properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
Judgement is made by management in determining
whether a property is designated as an investment property
or a property held for sale. The Group considers its
intention of holding the properties at the early development
stage of the related properties. During the course of
construction, the related properties under construction are
accounted for as properties under development included
in current assets if the properties are intended for sale after
its completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction included
in non-current assets if the properties are intended to be
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon
completion of the properties, the properties held for sale
are transferred to completed properties held for sale and
are stated at cost, while the properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to investment
properties and are subject to revaluation at each reporting
date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Valuation of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of each unit in each phase of development is
determined using the weighted average method. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price
less selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion
(if any), which are estimated based on the best available
information.

Allocation of construction cost on
properties under development

When developing properties, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs directly related
to the development of a phase are recorded as the cost
of such phase. Costs that are common to each phase are
allocated to each phase based on the saleable floor area of
each phase as a percentage of the total saleable floor area
of the entire project. The cost of the unit sold is determined
by the floor area in square meter sold during the year
multiplied by the average cost per square meter of that
particular phase of the project.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC. As a
result of the fact that certain matters relating to income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the provision for income taxes.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
of LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to its understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with the tax authorities for certain
property development projects. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the land appreciation
tax expense and the related provision in the period in which
the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties including completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market
value, existing use basis by independent professionally
qualified valuers. Such valuations were based on certain
assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties is considered and assumptions
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the
reporting date are used.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has five reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the property development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(o)  the property investment segment invests in properties
for their rental income potential and/or for capital
appreciation;

(c) the property management segment engages in the
provision of management services to properties;

(d) the hotel operation segment engages in the
development and operation of hotels; and

(e) the others segment comprises corporate income and
expense items.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/
(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before
tax except that interest income and finance costs are
excluded from such measurement.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, prepaid
corporate income tax, prepaid land appreciation tax,
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial liabilities,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, tax payable,
provision for land appreciation tax and deferred tax liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.

During the year, no revenue from transactions with a

single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the
Group’s total revenue.
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R AL A SR s
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. && D &R (@)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2011 B Z2011F12831HIEEE
Property Property Property Hotel
development investment  management operation Others Total
LIELE MERE MEER BIEEE Hith Fot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBF T ARBF T ARBF T ARBF T ARBF T
Segment revenue: DA
Sales to external customers RN ED & P fE &
HER 3,735,365 51,411 52,300 - - 3,839,076
Other revenue HA 1,065 2,333 1,796 - 1,055 6,249
Total B 3,736,430 53,744 54,096 - 1,055 3,845,325
Segment results S BER 1,670,156 518,943 9,004 (152) (38,280) 2,159,671
Reconcilation: k-
Interest income FEMA 15,022
Finance costs BEKA (156,238)
Profit before tax BB AI A 2,018,455
Tax BE (1,025,247)
Profit for the year FEFH 993,208
Segment assets AHEE 22,550,893 19,956,224 129,651 634,317 5,400,070 48,671,855
Reconcilation: ik
Elimination of intersegment s 2 5 R U R
receivables (32,679,740)
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ¥R EMAPEEE
assets 2,260,996
Total assets BELR 18,253,111
Segment liabilities SHEE 17,622,927 14,410,315 117,772 471,515 4,505,169 37,127,698
Reconciliation: Hik:
Elimination of intersegment WA HEEA R
payables (32,679,740)
Corporate and other rEREMRIEER
unallocated liabilities 8,149,233
Total liabilities BESH 12,597,191
Other segment information: HitpHEH
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 30,096 230 406 - 1,182 31,914
Capital expenditure BARRR 443,175 155,123 2,276 10,831 5,843 617,248*
Fair value gains on REMENAAE RS
investment properties - 478,180 - - - 478,180

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant
and equipment, additions to investment properties and
additions to prepaid land lease payments.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2010
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RESEER (#®)

H Z£2010F12A31B L EE

Property Property Property Hotel
development investment management operation Others Total
Lk MERE MEER B Hith Fok]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Segment revenue: WA :

Sales to external customers mNPEFIELMEER 4,198,087 33,654 33,867 - - 4,265,558

Other revenue HA 3,575 - 239 - 3,419 7,233
Total ek 4,201,612 33,654 34,106 - 3,419 4,272,791
Segment results SPEE 1,595,484 288,845 5,960 (446) (1,301) 1,888,542
Reconciliation: Hik:
Interest income FIEKA 8,818
Finance costs BB A (39,187)
Profit before tax BB A A 1,858,173
Tax HE (892,868)
Profit for the year FEFE 965,305
Segment assets ST HEE 18,234,162 3,816,173 144,209 771,491 2,724,494 25,690,529
Reconcilation: Hik:
Elimination of intersegment 188 30 e FE R

receivables (14,068,799)
Corporate and other unallocated ~ (¥R EMARDEEE

assets 2,970,862
Total assets BELH 14,592,592
Segment liabilities 2HEE 10,396,515 599,876 78,796 8,732 6,193,599 17,277,518
Reconcilation: Hik -
Elimination of intersegment WP HE AN

payables (14,068,799)
Corporate and other rEREMRAEEE

unallocated liabilities 6,559,844
Total liabilities afges 9,768,563
Other segment information: HitpHER
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 20,370 470 342 - 368 21,550
Capital expenditure BARY 751,487 155,437 193 8,026 1,348 916,491
Fair value gains on REMENDABYE

investment properties - 276,015 - - - 276,015

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant

and equipment, additions to investment properties and

additions to prepaid land lease payments.

199

* BARXBERENE BE AR
NEREMERAERMNLHES -



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Notes to Fingncial Statements
BT iR R M &E

31 December 2011 2011F12431H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. YA~ EfbUr A KW e
GAINS
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents WARAREBFEARNREERE 5%
the gross proceeds, net of business tax, from the sale ENREXEVNEMSRIBRE REY
of properties; gross rental income, net of business tax, EE R R EWAIRR S ERZEH K
received and receivable from investment properties and ARBWRERKREETEYEERE
property management fee income, net of business tax, N

received and receivable during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains A& E R WA - H A A R 5 B D AT
is as follows: HI W
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR T T
Revenue WA
Sales of properties Y HE 3,735,365 4,198,037
Rental income e WA 51,411 33,654
Property management fees MEERE 52,300 33,867
3,839,076 4,265,558
Other income and gains H Ut A R i
Bank interest income RITH B WA 15,022 8,818
Rental income from properties REFEHEMENHS WA
held for sale 8,126 3,194
Gain on disposal of investment B EREY RS
properties 37,025 2,351
Others i) 33,193 4,039
93,366 18,402
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRH AT
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBWMBRFAIFE R, (GEA)
(crediting): AT RIEREH :
2011 2010
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B E ARBTR ARBTT

Cost of properties sold EEMERA 1,917,203 2,471,694
Amortisation of prepaid land TEAT £ 4 7H & 5 55
lease payments 16 20,582 16,492
Depreciation e 14 11,332 5,058
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  WE K& HED
property, plant and equipment &8 1,911 979
Gain on disposal of investment ~ H & & & ¥ 2 Uk =5
properties (37,025) (2,351)
Minimum lease payments T REFEERE
under operating leases for H A EHEE MR
land and buildings 9,580 3,225
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S RID i B 2,500 2,125
Employee benefit expense EERAZ Y
(including directors’ (RIEEZH
remuneration (note 8)) (FFzE8) )
Wages and salaries TERTF® 38,121 28,318
Retirement benefit scheme RRAE T ET 2K
contributions 4,743 2,676
42,864 30,994
Direct operating expenses RIS E Y
(including repairs and EENEERELET T
maintenance) (BREEER
arising on rental-earning HeE)
investment properties 11,326 8,229
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERAR DT T
Group
&
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT ARBTT
Interest on bank loans wholly BARAFAZRERD
repayable within five years RITERHNFE 168,430 126,970
Interest on bank loans wholly HARNRAFEEEEED
repayable beyond five years IRITERHF E 43,789 17,001
Interest on other loans EHERFE 294,561 34,296
Total interest expense on financial NMEADEREZRF LR
liabilities not at fair value through TRABENT S HEE
profit or loss 506,780 178,267
Less: Interest capitalised W BAREF B (350,542) (139,080)
156,238 39,187
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to BEBBHERSGFAERARES LM
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock BMAN(TEmHAAL) REHB * NSRS
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and 116G ENEEFEHMAT
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as
follows:
Group
RE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFT
Fees e 498 513
Other emoluments: RN -
Salaries, allowances and e R REYER
benefits in kind 6,898 3,860
Pension scheme contributions RORRE T B30 57 46
6,955 3,906
7,453 4,419
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E=EHEM @

ZEBEEREZ2011412A318 ILFEH
N T

Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
e 2R RIKEA
ik RENER HE TN Mews
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HITESE:

Mr. Lam Lung On MER K& - 1,581 12 1,593
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan ik ot - 1,581 15 1,596

Mr. Huang Zhibin (appointed on AEH A (R20115

20 January 2011 and 1H20BEZ TR
resigned on 31 December 2011)  #2011412A31H
#HE) - 2401 - 2491
Mr. Lin Longzhi WEER L L - 733 15 748
Mr. Lin Conghui MREEIE % A& - 512 15 527
- 6,898 57 6,955
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:

Mr. Gu Jiande ERELE 166 - - 166
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEK % E 166 - - 166
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang ERBLE 166 - - 166
498 - - 498
498 6,898 57 7,453
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. = H ¥ (&)

The remuneration of each of the directors for the year BESZSNEZE2010F12H31HIEFER
ended 31 December 2010 is set out below: =T
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

Rl BINER
weE  REWERN HE Ao Hens
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTT ARBTT  ARETR

Executive directors: HITESE:
Mr. Lam Lung On MER K& - 1,600 10 1,610
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan HIESY o = 1,600 10 1,610
Mr. Lin Longzhi MEB K& - 360 13 373
Mr. Lin Conghui B L £ - 300 13 313
- 3,860 46 3,906
Independent non-executive BUEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Gu Jiande ERELE 171 - - 171
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEKEE 171 - - 171
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang ERBLE 171 - - 171
Olli8 - - 518
5138 3,860 46 4,419
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RERN BEEENEXREREEM
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. ek o
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9. AZEmESHFAL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included RERN AExmHALTEEES (2010
four (2010: four) directors, details of whose remuneration FNR)EF REFESHNEMNFEH
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of R ESCHIEES < 82 T~ —4 (20105 : — %)
the remaining one (2010: one) non-director, highest paid IEEESHCEENFEHMET
employee for the year are as follows:
Group
AEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR T T
Salaries, allowances and e R REYETR
benefits in kind 1,071 1,071
Pension scheme contributions RN AIFT B R - =
1,071 1,071

The remuneration of the non-director, highest
paid employee for the year fell within the band of
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 (2010: RMB1,000,001 to
RMB1,500,000).
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10. INCOME TAX 10. PT1S ML
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as AR A EERF AN EE BB EEEMR
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in JERBLFE - WEBAREASFEHAELD
Hong Kong during the year (2010: Nil). The income tax for B (20105 - 1) o AR B R PEAS 2 &Y
the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China is calculated at Bt /&8 1 ] B P15 B AR 3% 58 1A A FE ER A A
the applicable tax rates on the taxable profits for the year. BIERANEGE -
An analysis of the income tax charges for the year is as FEMBHRZEMNDTAT
follows:
Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Current: BVHR :
PRC corporate income tax R ERTIS R 423,761 435,243
PRC land appreciation tax o+ I E R 528,595 460,067
952,356 895,310

Deferred: IRIAE :
Current year REE 72,891 (2,442)
Total tax charge for the year FEMES L EHE 1,025,247 892,868
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

11.

10. FT1S L (&)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates for the year, are as follows:

RMBERNDERAE

—E——FFR

Notes to Financial Statements
Bt 75 3R R B &

31 December 2011 20114F12431H

FR-RKAARBALEBRZEMER
BIFFE BARE R HDRE R R AT REA RN
B B0 A A B RO AR I8 P S ELR B ER M R &
HEBIAR S EER - LARERBE (B
AEBE)BERBREREERMT

Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR ARETT

Profit before tax B A0 2,018,455 1,858,173
At the statutory income tax rate BETHEHEHE 504,614 25.0 464,543 25.0
Lower tax rate for specific provinces 5 /£ & 17 8k i 75 #é i 4

or local authority L ig i (24,476) (1.2 (55,431) (3.0)
Tax losses utilised from SHFE A £ R R

previous periods HIBEE (26,688) (1.3) (19,5086) (1.1)
Expenses not deductible for tax A HH X 86,489 43 94,550 5.1
Tax losses not recognised KERATIARRE 32,975 1.6 20,716 11
Effect on withholding tax on the BRAEERTEBAR

distributable profits of the Group’s &) 2 B FIE Mt E

PRC subsidiaries BB T2 55,887 2.8 38,359 2.1
LAT T A 528,595 26.2 460,067 24.8
Tax effect of LAT THEERREYE (132,149) (6.6) (110,430) (5.9
Tax charge at the Group’s BASEERFXRGTEN

effective rate HIBH Y 1,025,247 50.8 892,868 48.1
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 1. "R RI%AE ARG E

OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 includes
a loss of RMB288,228,000 (2010: RMB51,078,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the

Company (note 31(b)).
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12.

13.

DIVIDEND 12. I8 B
Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR T T
Proposed final — HK4 cents (2010: BRKRRE - FREBR
HK11 cents) per ordinary share B4 (20104 : 117580) 77,802 224,394

The board of directors of the Company proposed a final
dividend of HK4 cents per share and a bonus issue of 2
bonus shares for every 10 existing shares held for the year
ended 31 December 2011 being subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
for the year ended 31 December 2011 is based on the
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of RMB941,628,000 (2010: RMB963,601,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
2,400,000,000 (2010: 2,400,000,000) in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amount presented for the year ended 31 December
2011 and 2010 in respect of a dilution as the impact of
the warrants outstanding during the current year had an
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amount
presented in the current year and the Group had no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the prior
year.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. M5 BB MR

GROUP rxE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Motor  Construction

buildings improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
&
HELTH HER

kT HENERES BWAERE AE ERIB act

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

31 December 2011 2011%12A8318
At 1 January 2011: R20114F1 818
Cost [B%N 4,963 2,826 15,347 28,222 159,362 210,720
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (1,736) (1,086) (9,752) (16,758) - (29,332)
Net carrying amount BREFE 3,227 1,740 5,595 11,464 159,362 181,388
At 1 January 2011, net of R2011F1 818
accumulated depreciation Nk 2EHE 3,227 1,740 5,595 11,464 159,362 181,388
Additions RE 1,439 900 11,014 14,861 10,831 39,045
Depreciation provided during FRFHENTE
the year (443) (862) (3,963) (6,064) - (11,332
Disposal HE (582) - (1,329) - - (1,911)

At 31 December 2011, net of R2011F12A31H8

accumulated depreciation Nk 25HE 3,641 1,778 11,317 20,261 170,193 207,190
At 31 December 2011: R2011412A318

Cost BA 5,820 3,726 24,824 43,083 170,193 247,646

Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (2,179) (1,948) (13,507) (22,822) - (40,456)

Net carrying amount IREFE 3,641 1,778 11,317 20,261 170,193 207,190
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mE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% B ME&F @)

(Continued)
GROUP (Continued) REBE (@)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Motor Construction
buildings  improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
R
HELH e RER
REF hE%E BRERME g ERETRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBFT ARBTFT ARBTFT ARBTFT
31 December 2010 2010128310
At 1 January 2010 201041818 :
Cost A 4,963 1,660 13,825 19,932 151,336 191,716
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (1,445) (720) (9,009) (13,819) - (25,083)
Net carrying amount RHTE 3,518 940 4,726 6,113 151,336 166,633
At 1 January 2010, net of 20101818 *
accumulated depreciation Mk 25 E 3,518 940 4,726 6,113 151,336 166,633
Additions NE = 1,166 3,310 8,290 8,026 20,792
Depreciation provided during FRFHEOME
the year (291) (366) (1,462) (2,939) - (5,058)
Disposal HE - - (979) - - (979)

At 31 December 2010, net of 20106124318

accumulated depreciation Nk 2HE 3,227 1,740 5,595 11,464 159,362 181,388
At 31 December 2010: 120105128318 :

Cost KA 4,963 2,826 15,347 28,022 159,362 210,720

Acoumulated depreciation ZETE (1,736) (1,086) (9.752) (16,758) - (29,332)
Net carrying amount BRI %8 3,227 1,740 5,695 11,464 159,362 181,388
The Group’s leasehold land and buildings included above X FeiENAEERE T RKEFYH
are situated in Mainland China and are held under long term RIARE AR WikEHAEREA -
lease.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14, Y% - BB K& ()

(Continued)
COMPANY b /NS
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
B
HE £ER
MEEE BAZRE RE @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2011 2011%12A31H
At 1 January 2011: R2011E1 418 :
Cost AR 1,167 - - 1,167
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE - - - -
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,167 - - 1,167
At 1 January 2011, net of R2011E1 418
accumulated depreciation MR 2FHE 1,167 - - 1,167
Additions NE 89 50 3,697 3,836
Depreciation provided during FRFRMTE
the year (455) 9) (650) (1,114)
At 31 December 2011, net of R2011412A8318
accumulated depreciation MR 2FHE 801 4 3,047 3,889
At 31 December 2011: R2011512831H :
Cost A 1,256 50 3,697 5,003
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (455) ) (650) (1,114)
Net carrying amount BREFE 801 4 3,047 3,889
31 December 2010 2010%12A31H
Additions NE 1,167 - - 1,167
Depreciation provided during FRFRMTE
the year - - - -
At 31 December 2010, net of R2010512A31H
accumulated depreciation Mk R E 1,167 - - 1,167
At 31 December 2010: R2010F12A31H :
Cost A 1,167 - - 1,167
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE - - - -
Net carrying amount ARE S 1,167 - - 1,167
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. IWEWME

GROUP rE
Under
Completed construction Total
B%T T2 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T ARBEFT
Carrying amount at 1201051 518 H

1 January 2010 BRHE 2,035,300 386,770 2,422,070
Additions NS 42,150 108,446 150,596
Transfer from/(to) completed & B (&) F{E

properties held for SHEMBRTIYE

sale/properties under R

development 53,056 (10,566) 42,490
Disposal HE (424) - (424)
Transfers R 136,143 (136,143) -
Net gains from fair value RAEFERNEFE

adjustments 217,175 58,840 276,015
Carrying amount at M2010F12H31H &

31 December 2010 and 20111 A1/

1 January 2011 FREE 2,483,400 407,347 2,890,747
Additions NE 6,273 147,299 153,572
Transfer to completed EREEREHEDN

properties held for sale BT (31,111) - (31,111)
Transfer from prepaid land ~ E# A BN LA S

lease payments - 27,210 27,210
Disposal HE (73,698) - (73,698)
Transfers R 170,927 (170,927) -
Net gains from fair value RNAEFHERNEFE

adjustments 34,109 444,071 478,180
Carrying amount at R2011412A31 H K

31 December 2011 BREE 2,589,900 855,000 3,444,900
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland
China and are held under the following lease terms:

B E B H R A F
T FFH
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15. IR E W= ()

AEBENREDFEAMNFBEAE I
BTOIHBEA

Group

=3
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Long term leases RHEE 176,400 131,400
Medium term leases FREIHE 3,268,500 2,759,347
3,444,900 2,890,747

The Group’s completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction were revalued on
31 December 2011 by DTZ Debentam Tie Leung Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, on an open
market, existing use basis.

At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s completed
investment properties of RMB1,744,000,000 (2010:
RMB2,171,118,000), were pledged to banks to secure the
loans granted to the Group (note 27).

The Group’s completed investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary
details of which are included in note 35(a).
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. TAN T &

Group
~E
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx AR T T
Carrying amount at beginning of year & ]8Rk [H & 58 1,012,685 916,611
Additions during the year FARE 424,631 745,103
Amortised during the year FNEEH (20,582) (16,492)
Transfer from prepayments for B WS T TR AT R
acquisition for land 170,566 -
Transfer to properties under R ETEYE
development (458,270) (632,537)
Transfer to investment properties EEEEEREYE
under construction (27,210) -
Carrying amount at end of year FRIEM SR 1,101,820 1,012,685
Current portion BNEA =B 75 (657,946) (559,955)
Non-current portion JEBNEAER 2 443,874 452,730

The Group’s leasehold land is situated in Mainland China
and is held under the following lease terms:

AREBENEE T NP BEAKE Wi

THNEEER

Group

rE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET R ARETT
Long term leases KEEE 872,785 854,845
Medium term leases FHIRE 229,035 157,840
1,101,820 1,012,685
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. B LB L 5
(Continued)
Included in the Group’s non-current balance of prepaid AEEMEMN L wBELSIERNEHR S 2
land lease payments is a parcel of land for property E—IBEY X R IE B &) 1 b - 12011
development project in an amount of RMB443,874,000 F12A31 A& A AR 443,874,000
as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB452,730,000) in 70 (20104 : A R #452,730,0007T) ' J5
connection with which the Group has experienced delays in W R EZ T AR ERETEE  BE
commencing construction due to the uncertainty over the SE R M TERTE R EZZI
plot ratio of the land. As of the date of approval of these WA AEBERAKRBFEEBEE G
financial statements, the Group has begun the application T AR E KA ET Al &8 - 1 AN & B 37 4% (A fE
process for the permits required to commence construction B I T U B & b B £ SR P Ay (& 45
of the relevant project, and the Group has not received BHEAEBRERNEE AT HHES
from the local land bureau any warning notice or been HEI R e HRAEEERKIETREFH
subject to any penalties in the nature of idle land fees for AR E) T B RAIE B & AT Al B B
its delay in commencing construction. As the Group has REFE HEMEZZTUBREKA K
begun the application process for the permits required for NEEERABERZ T RERT
the commencement of construction of the relevant project b & B ek £ bR R B o
in accordance with the normal procedures, the directors of
the Company consider that no provision for idle land fees or
land forfeiture regarding the land is required up to the date
of approval of these financial statements.
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RINB AR E
Company
KATF
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR T T
Unlisted shares, at cost M AR TR AR - R AR 1 1
Loan to a subsidiary BTHBARNER - 32,299
1 32,300
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. R B A R E ()
(Continued)
The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in FEREEMNHEBARNSESBFA
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of ARAAWMRBEERRBDEREAR
RMBS3,600,821,000 (2010: RMB2,759,684,000) and #3,600,821,0007T (20104F : A R #&
RMB112,641,000 (2010: RMB38,087,000), respectively, 2,759,684,0007T ) & A R 112,641,000
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 7C (20104 : A R #38,087,0007T) °
The loan to a subsidiary of RMB30,797,000 (2010: ZERBAEER 2EREARE
RMB32,299,000) bears an interest rate of 6.48% per FHEE- LK THBEARMNERA
annum and will mature in 2012. R #30,797,0007T (20104 : A R #&
32,299,000) 12 FF | %6.48%=1 B R 7
2012512 2| 5 -
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRRMFHEYIEHLT
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
EMAL BETR
AR EE BERE/ NG|
DARER iopicks EfBRAEE EihER TEER
Direct Indirect
EH# EF:3
Xiamen Yaozhou Real Estate Development The PRC RMB10,800,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *(Note)
ERMENEHEREBRAR" (FizE) e AR %10,800,0007 - 100% IEE
Xiamen Gangyi Real Estate Marketing The PRC HK$5,000,000 - 100% Marketing
Agent Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EMEERELHABERA A (H) e 7:5,000,0007C - 100% 2
Xiamen Yuzhou Commercial Investment & The PRC HK$5,000,000 - 100% Property management
Management Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EMENEEREEEERAR (HH) e 7%5,000,0007T - 100% MEER
Xiamen Diyuan Bonded Storage and The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98% Property development
Distribution Co., Ltd. *(Note)
EMTETRHEERRAR" (M) e A& #20,000,0007T - 98% MERE
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RIEB AR E (&)
(Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARIMEBIIEOT : (8)
(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ BRTR
R EE BRRE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 SR AEE EfE R FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Xiamen Kim International Realty Development  The PRC US$113,600,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EMEBIREERERAR (i) el 118,600,000 70 - 100% VELEES
Xiamen Richville Development Ltd.* (Note) The PRC US$55,000,000 - 100% Property development
EMELEHEREERAR (i) hEl 55,000,000 7T - 100% MR
Xiamen Gangyi Real-Estate The PRC RMB16,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EFAREZRRAR" () el AR ¥16,000,0007C - 100% MR
Xiamen Fengzhou Real-Estate The PRC HK$18,000,000 = 60% Property development
Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EFENERFRAR" () el 718,000,007 - 60% MR
Xiamen Yuzhou Hotel Invest & Manage The PRC RMB400,000,000 = 100% Hotel operation
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
EFBNEEREERERA A (M) el AR #400,000,0007 - 100% EEEE
Xiamen Yuzhou Group Realty Invest The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note)
EFBNEESERERRA A" (M) el AR #1,500,000,0007C - 100% VELEE
Xiamen Skyplaz Realty & Development The PRC US$25,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note)
EFEREHEREERAR (F) H 25,000,000% 7 - 100% MERE
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RMTB R R E (#)
(Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRARMFBEIIEHLT : (&)
(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ BRTR
R EE BRRE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 SR AEE EfE R FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Hefei Yuzhou Real Estate Development The PRC US$90,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. **(Note)
RESNEHEREERAR (i) i 90,000,000% 7 - 100% VELEES
Xiamen Huagiao City Real Estate The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. **(Note)
EMERHRHEREERAR" (i) H AR #20,000,0007C - 100% MERE
Anhui Overseas City Construction & The PRC US$3,000,000 - 100% Property investment
Development Co., Ltd. *#(Note)
ZHERHRRIBRERAA" (i) i 3,000,000 7 - 100% NERE
Xiamen Yuzhou Group Ltd. *© (Note) The PRC RMB116,064,000 - 100% Property investment
EFBNEERHBRAR® (Fiz) e AR 116,064,000 - 100% NERE
Shanghai Kangtai Real Estate Development The PRC RMB30,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *® (Note)
TERREHERBEERARC (Fi) el AR #30,000,0007C - 100% MR
Shanghai Jinyue Real Estate Development The PRC RMB100,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
e BENEREERARC (Fi) el AR #100,000,0007 - 100% R
Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Investment The PRC RMB100,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co. *@ (Note)
FEBNEHEREERAR (i) el AR #100,000,0007 - 100% R
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RMTB R R E (#)
(Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRARMFBEIIEHLT : (&)
(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ BRTR
R EE BRRE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 SR AEE EfE R FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Shanghai Yanhai Real Estate Development The PRC RMBA48,450,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
HERERNERBLERREMAR" i AR #:48,450,0007C - 100% MERE
(BizE)
Shanghai Liyade Property Investment The PRC RMB42,000,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
FENEGREEZERAR (F) i AR H42,000,00070 - 100% VELES
Shanghai Yuzhou Hotel Management The PRC RMB2,000,000 = 100% Hotel management
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
HEBNBEERERAR® (i) i AR 2,000,007 - 100% BEERE
Xiamen Huagjiao City Real Estate The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Property management
Management Service Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
EMEGHNECERBERDA (i) & AK#10,000,0007C - 100% NEER
Xiamen Yuzhou Property Development The PRC RMB23,600,000 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
EFBMEEREERARC (F) i AR #23,600,00070 - 100% VELES
Fujian Yingfeng Real Estate Investment The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 80% Property investment
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
REREHEREERAAC (i) i AR H50,000,00070 - 80% NERE

219



Yuzhou Properties Company Limited
Annual Report 2011

Notes to Fingncial Statements
BT iR R M &E

31 December 2011 2011F12431H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RIEB AR E (&)
(Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWBRARMFBEIIEHLT : (&)
(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ BRTR
R EE BRRE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 SR AEE EfE R FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Fujian Big World Huaxia Real Estate The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 80% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
RREAEAEERHERRAR® (M) el AR #40,000,0007T - 80% MERE
Fujian Wanlong Property Management The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 80% Property management
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
RESENFERRBERRA® (M) el AR #5,000,00070 - 80% NEER
Hefei Ludong Real Estate Development The PRC RMB80,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
AEEREHERBEREAR A (M) & AR #:80,000,0007C - 100% VELEES
Hefei Kangli Realty Co., Ltd. *® (Note) The PRC RMB10,080,000 - 100% Property development
AETREEXBRAR® (M) el AR%10,080,0007C - 100% MERE
Shanghai San You Development The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
FEEREFERERAF @ (M) hEl AR #50,000,0007T - 100% MR
Goastal Greenland Development The PRC US$10,000,000 - 60% Property development
(Fujian) Limited ** (Note)
HEREREER (BR)BRAR® (M) @& 10,000,000% 7 - 60% MR
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. RIEB AR E (&)
(Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMBARIMEBIIEOT : (8)
(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ EETR
R EE BRRE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 TR AEE [ g FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Xiamen Shunzhou Real Estate Development The PRC RMB300,000,000 - 51% Property development
Co., Ltd. *(Note)
EfRNEHEREERAR (i) i AR #300,000,0007C - 51% MERE
Xiamen Yuzhou Seaview Property The PRC RMB1,200,000,000 - 100% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
EfsNERREEGRAR® (M) el AR 1,200,000,0007 - 100% MERE
Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Development The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
FEBNEHERBEERAR (i) el A& #100,000,0007C - 100% MERE
Shanghai Nankai Realty Development The PRC RMB90,000,000 - 100% Property development
Ltd. *@(Note)
FEEHEXERARARC (M) el AR 90,000,000 - 100% VELEES
Shanghai Kangyi Real Estate Development The PRC RMBA48,714,300 = 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
FERREHEREERAR (i) el AR 48,714,300 - 100% MERE
Yuzhou Properties (Beiing) Co., Ltd. *®(Note) The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100% Property development
BMEERERR A (M) e AK%100,000,0007 - 100% MR
Yuzhou Properties (Quanzhou) The PRC RMB150,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *® (Note)
BMEFEMERR A (M) e AR %150,000,00070 - 100% MR
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17.

(Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

N/

KRB AR MIKE (&)

7,
iy

TEMBARMFBINEINT - (F)

(Continued)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and paid up Equity interest
registration share/registered attributable to
Company name and operations capital the Company Principal activities
ZMAL/ BRTR
R EE HERE/ NG|
ARER o3t 2 SR AEE EfE R FTEER
Direct Indirect
i B
Xin Yi Fang Tian (Quanzhou) Construction The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Trading of building
Materials Co., Ltd. **(Note) materials
FHHAGIMNBEMHBRART (M)  PE AR %10,000,0007C - 100% BB
Tianjin Yuzhou Jinhai Real Estate Investment The PRC RMB200,000,000 - 100% Property development
Co., Ltd. *®(Note)
REgREERERRAR® (M) i AR #200,000,0007 - 100% NERE
Xiamen Xiang'anwan Baseball and Softball The PRC RMB150,000,000 - 76.25% Property development
Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. *® (Note)
EFAREERREXREBRAR (ML) & AR %150,000,00070 - 76.25% NERE

*

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the
PRC law.

@ Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the
PRC law.

Note: The English names of these companies represent the best
effort made by management of the Company to directly
translate their Chinese names as they did not register any
official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

222

. WIFHEE LK ERTEI AR L KR
BREQAR 2 B R AR B AR E&

#  BRETEEFEIMARIPNBELE-

@ REFEZERIMAAMEREETA
Al e

fifat : B E A R R EMHERER X E

M EAERX BB ARBERESR
NEEBEEPXAREMSS -

EXRBINESERR TEHFEXGEE
FEIEARAEBFEELTERNON

ARRMBEAR - EZRREE A

BRAAWFAENE BN TR



B E B H R A F
T FFH

Notes to Financial Statements
B 75 3R R P &E

31 December 2011 20114F12431H

18. INVESTMENT IN A 18. R— IR HIEARAIRE

JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY

Group

AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARET T

Share of net assets EEEEFRE
Loan to a jointly-controlled entity G HEEEHERNER

6,000 =
151,200 =

157,200 =

The loan to the jointly-controlled entity is unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. In the
opinion of the directors, the loan is considered as quasi-
equity investment in the jointly-controlled entity.

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

BRTHRAZHEENERREER 2
ERERETERAR EFERR ZEXK
R BRAFIEHE R EREEER
HRZEFIERHBLT

Percentage of

Particulars THREMEED K
of issued  Places of Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Company name shares held registration interest power sharing  activities
FRE &7
ARERH REGFEE  dERME FEgEE REE 6B EEER
Xiamen Vanke Maluan Bay Registered and ~ The PRC 20% 20% 20%  Property
Properties Limited *@ (Note) paid up capital of development
RMB30,000,000
EFTENSREEX aMRARRA  HE 20% 20% 20% MEHE
BARAEC (M) AEE
30,000,0007T

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

@ Registered as a domestic limited liability company under the
PRC law.

Note: The English name of the company represents the best effort
made by management of the Company to directly translate
its Chinese name as it did not register any official English
name.
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18. INVESTMENT IN A 18. R —EIHXRIEZEH BAHNKRE
JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITY (%)
(Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTAEE L FEEHBEENITEE
information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity: BHEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR¥TT

Share of the jointly-controlled entity's D £ RIEH EFREER ARG :
assets and liabilities:

Current assets mEN & E 308,400 =
Current liabilities mENBE (302,400) -
Net assets BEFR 6,000 =
During the year, the share of the jointly-controlled entity’s FRN - DM EFEIEH EAREEL TERX o

results was insignificant.
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19. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT  19. &4

Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR T T
Properties under development TEEARA DA HARR 3% T Y FE 29
expected to be completed: E
Within normal operating cycle BERRBEENATELSE
included under current assets HEEIA 8,345,407 3,595,735
Properties under development FEEIRA AT B & & B E R
expected to be completed W% T A U o] M E Y %
within normal operating cycle and
recoverable:
Within one year —FR 3,592,386 1,421,779
After one year —F & 4,753,021 2,173,956
8,345,407 3,595,735
The Group’s properties under development are situated 755 B 1 FT B AE FE ) SR 3R 1A R B A -
in Mainland China and are held under the following lease Wi THEAFFA
terms:
Group
AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT AR T T
Long term leases RHEFE A 6,364,055 2,180,480
Medium term leases R HATE A9 1,981,352 1,415,255
8,345,407 3,595,735
At 31 December 2011, certain of the Group’s properties MR2011F12A31R  AEBE TS8R
under development of RMB2,965,126,000 (2010: A R #2 965,126,0007T (20104F : AR
RMB2,979,887,000) were pledged to banks to secure the #2,979,887,0007T ) K 7E 2 ¥ 3£ B 1K 1§
loans granted to the Group (note 27). TRIT  AERETAEBNER (M=
27) e
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20. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR  20. B {EfHE L T Y2
SALE

The Group’s completed properties held for sale are located REEFREHENMARIYEDLR
in Mainland China and are held under the following lease R KRE Wi NAIFELEHA -
terms:
Group
KEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBTT
Long term leases RHEFEL 1,215,519 38,476
Medium term leases R HATE A9 814,803 445,893
2,030,322 484,369
All the properties held for sale are stated at cost. FESHE NPT B WM E IR AR
21. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 21. TaRT K e N H fth R
OTHER RECEIVABLES 1H
Group Company
rEE YN
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETRH
Prepayments AN 185,506 190,168 819 798
Deposits and other receivables Be REMEKFIER 466,870 484,997 M -
652,376 675,165 860 798
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. i EEMES RSB E BFER i
The financial assets included in the above balances relate R B & FE B Y MR B R S B A
to receivables for which there was no recent history of FEW R A o
default.
Included in the Group’s other receivables as at AEBER2011F12 431 B &Y H b fE UL K
31 December 2011 are amounts due from non- TH B 35 FE W AN &5 B Y B 2 B | SE 2 AR A%
controlling shareholders of the Group’s subsidiaries of R I A A K #14,293,0007T (2010
RMB14,293,000 (2010: RMB145,505,000). The balances & AR#145,505,0007T)  FEFERGARER
with the non-controlling shareholders are non-trade in HEREIFESHEE  EEF 2 AEE
nature, unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of EEKEH -
repayment.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. WeE NIBE&ZEEY

Group Company
PN | b

2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AREFTL ARET T ARETTT
Cash and bank balances ReRRITHES 1,956,537 2,732,669 13,635 1,336,323
Less: Restricted cash (notes) B ZBHRS () (516,159) (13,223) - -
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEED 1,440,378 2,719,446 13,635 1,336,323

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents approximate to their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to RMB1,916,520,000 (2010: RMB1,334,138,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Notes:

(@) According to relevant documents issued by the Xiamen
Municipal Land and Housing Administrative Bureau, certain
property management companies of the Group are required
to place part of their management fees received at banks
as guarantee deposits for the public maintenance fund of
the related properties. The deposits can only be used for
the maintenance of the relevant properties. At 31 December
2011, such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB3,649,000
(2010: RMB1,423,000).

(b)  According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements
signed by certain subsidiaries of the Group with their banks,
the subsidiaries are required to place at designated bank
accounts certain amounts as deposits for potential default
of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers. Such
guarantee deposits will be released after the property
ownership certificates of the relevant properties have
been passed to the bank. As at 31 December 2011, such
deposits amounted to RMB1,622,000 (2010: RMB253,000).
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

23.

24.

Notes: (Continued)

()

According to the relevant loan facility agreements signed
by certain subsidiaries of the Group with the banks, the
subsidiaries are required to place the pre-sale proceeds of
their properties at designated bank accounts. The deposits
can only be used for the payment of property development
cost incurred by the subsidiaries and the repayment of the
relevant loans. As at 31 December 2011, such deposits
amounted to RMB274,488,000 (2010: RMB11,547,000).

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are required to place
certain amounts at specific bank accounts as guarantee
deposits for the use of the loan proceeds. As at 31
December 2011, the aggregate amount of such deposits
was RMB236,400,000 (2010: Nil).

RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

Receipts in advance represented amounts received from
buyers in connection with the pre-sale of properties during
the year.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

22.

23.

24.

He MIBRESEEY @)

MizE: (%)

()

REAREEETH BRI ESRITERET
NEBERRE R SHEBRRER
BEMENEEMBSREFEREET
RITERP R - BT RIE R AEE R
BRREENMERBRAREEEN
B R R2011F12A831H  ZE R\ A
AR #274,488,0007T (20106 : AR¥E
11,547,0007T ) °

REBENE THEB AR INERIEERT
IREGAETSHEARRIZS UK
HIERFIB AR - R2011F12H31H -
Z LIRS BT A AR 236,400,0007T
(2010%F - #&)

TR K TA

BWHRBERNER RBEENEMAE
WA E) SRR ©

B 5 RN IR

REZZAH RESHEERENE
ZENFIANRE DT -

Group

AEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AR T T
Due within 1 year or on demand 1F N HER ERKEEE 1,333,536 679,738
Due within 1 to 2 years 1-2F NZAER 585,309 234,409
1,918,845 914,147

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and
unsecured. The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate to their fair values.
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. B RN RIB K ERHE
Group Company
N3] N
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TR ARET:H
Accruals BB 57,698 10,316 - -
Other payables Hio I 7E 520,844 373,822 48,023 3,736
578,542 384,138 48,023 3,736
The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals HEMEMRENRTeREE QA ENA
approximate to their fair values. H e
Included in the Group’s other payables as at 31 December AEER2011412 831 B 0y E b fE 1 X
2011 are amounts due to the non-controlling shareholders TH B 13 FE S AN &2 B Y 18 2 B B0 SE 12 AR A%
of the Group’s subsidiaries of RMB6,084,000 (2010: HEFRIAE - A AR ¥6,084,0007T (2010
RMB6,084,000). The balances with the non-controlling & A\R#6,084,0007T)  FEFE A% R 4L
shareholders are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest- HEBIEE SIS  JmEF RS HEEE
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. EIRHEE
26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 26. 1T RIAE

Group and Company

KEBRARQT
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Warrants R HERE 543 =

During the year, the Company issued 72,000,000 warrants
at a price of HK$0.01 per warrant to certain independent
third parties pursuant to a warrant placing agreement dated
27 April 2011. Each warrant carries the right to subscribe
for one ordinary share at a price of HK$2.82 per share for a
period of 12 months commencing from the date of issue.
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> =S £ I LS
27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 27. (T ERRITER K HMEE
Group
X£E
2011 2010
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BEREHN EREH
FE(%) ®A AR®TR % (%) 28R ARETT
Current ]
Bank loans - unsecured ROER-EHR 3.00-7.74 2012 243,073 5.31-584 2011 177,159
Bank loans - secured BAER-BER 5.64 - 8.31 2012 592,138 5.40-9.00 2011 860,864
Other loans - unsecured HuEHR-EHH 12.00 - 16.00 2012 200,000 =
Other loans - secured HuER-aH7 8.30 2012 300,000 -
1,335,211 1,038,023
Non-current JFEDE
Bank loans - unsecured BAER-EER 564-7.04  2013-2014 500,000 5.47 2012 142,400
Bank loans - secured BAER-FER 540-8.46  2013-2023 1,699,850 540-653  2012-2019 1,479,000
Other loans - unsecured HiER—EER 14.71 2015 1,211,259 14,71 2015 1,270,368
Other loans - secured HuER-FH7 10.00 2013 810,438 10.00 2013 849,979
4,221,547 3,741,747
5,556,758 4,779,770
Company
PG|
2011 2010
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BEREHN EREH
FIE (%) HA AR®TR 7% (%) E )= AREFT
Current B
Bank loans - unsecured BOER-EEE 3.00 2012 85,777 -
Non-current JFENE
Other loans - unsecured HibER - 85KR 14.7 2015 1,211,259 14,71 2015 1,270,368
Other loans - secured HER -5 10.00 2013 810,438 10.00 2013 849,979
2,021,697 2,120,347
2,107,474 2,120,347
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 27. T BIRTTER L EMES
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) (%)
Group Company
rEE VN
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T ARETF T ARETTT
Analysed into: AT :
Bank loans repayable: BEERITERMER :
Within one year or on demand RIENHEE K 835,211 1,038,023 85,777 =
In the second year RE2E 712,948 294,400 - -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive ~ E3E R F55
(RRBEME) 1,220,400 1,022,000 - =
Beyond five years 5F 266,502 305,000 - =
3,035,061 2,659,423 85,777 -
Other loans repayable: REBEMEFRAMAR
Within one year or on demand INEANET P 500,000 - - -
In the second year RE26E 810,438 = 810,438 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive R H3E E 554
(BREEMT) 1,211,259 2,120,347 1,211,259 2,120,347
2,521,607 2,120,347 2,021,697 2,120,347
5,556,758 4,779,770 2,107,474 2,120,347

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
secured or guaranteed by:

U

(i)

mortgages over the Group’s properties under
development with an aggregate carrying
value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB2,965,126,000 (2010:
RMB2,979,887,000);

pledges over the Group’s investment
properties with an aggregate carrying
value at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB1,744,000,000 (2010:
RMB2,171,118,000);
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(@)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are
secured or guaranteed by: (Continued)

)

(vi)

corporate guarantees executed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group to the extent of
RMB856,400,000 (2010: RMB879,000,000);

joint and several personal guarantees
executed by Mr. Lam Lung On (‘Mr. Lam”)
and Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (“Ms. Kwok”),
directors of the Company, to the extent of
RMB960,438,000 as at 31 December 2011
(2010: RMB1,299,979,000); and

a corporate guarantee executed by
Xiamen Zongheng Group Construction and
Development Company Limited (“Zongheng
Co.”), to the extent of RMB12,000,000 as at 31
December 2011 (2010: Nil). Zongheng Co. is a
company controlled by Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok.

In July 2010, the Company issued and sold
bonds with a face value of HK$700 million
(approximately RMB594,985,000) to China Life
Trustee Limited (‘China Life”). The Company
issued and sold an additional tranche of
bonds, with a face value of HK$300 million
(approximately RMB254,994,000), to China
Life in November 2010 (collectively the
“China Life Bonds”). The China Life Bonds
are guaranteed by Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok.
The China Life Bonds have a term of three
years and bear an interest rate of 10% per
annum. Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok collectively
pledged an aggregate 504,000,000 shares in
the Company held by them as security for the
punctual payment of all sums payable under
the China Life Bonds. Under the terms and
conditions of the China Life Bond, Mr. Lam and
Ms. Kwok shall collectively maintain an ultimate
beneficial shareholding of not less than 51% in
aggregate of the total issued share capital of the
Company.
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27.
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AEEETRITERMEMEER
Tyl AT ERHER: (B)

)

(vi)

AEB2EAARE
856,400,0007T (20104 : A
R #879,000,0007T ) B9 & T
WEBRARRBHNRAIER:

MK2010F12H31H &85
A R #960,438,0007T (2010
F: AR #¥1,299,979,000
TR ARRIZEZEMER L
A ([PREAE]) REBERBLZ L
(B ) EBHHRERE
BEAER: &

EMfEEEERAERR
Al ([#ERQF])R2011
FI12HINBEENESEAA
R #12,000,0007T (20104 :
E)NRRER -HELT B
—M Mk E R LT ERR
ESNEID

N FRN2010E7 A A H
BASELARAR ([#
SENBOTRHEEERESE
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(b)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with
carrying amounts of RMB3,386,965,000 (2010:
RMB2,659,423,000), RMB810,438,000 (2010:
RMB849,979,000) and RMB1,359,355,000 (2010:
RMB1,270,368,000) are denominated in RMB, Hong
Kong dollars and United States dollars, respectively.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings
approximate to their fair values.

In December 2010, the Company issued 13.5%
senior notes (the “2010 Senior Notes”) with an
aggregate principal value of US$200,000,000
(approximately RMB1,317,467,000). The net
proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs,
amounted to approximately US$191,669,000
(approximately RMB1,261,267,000). The 2010
Senior Notes will mature on 15 December 2015.
The Company, at its option, can redeem all or a
portion of the 2010 Senior Notes at any time prior to
the maturity date at the redemption price (principal
amount plus applicable premium) plus accrued and
unpaid interest up to the redemption date.
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27. FHRIBTTER L EAMEE

(%)

(b)

AEEEREBESEAARE
3,386,965,0007C (20104 = A
R #2,659,423,00070) * AR
#810,438,0007T (20104 : A
R #849,979,0007T) & A B #
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28. PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION  28. + #i 3%({E Fi 45

TAX

Group

TEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

At 1 January M1 A1H 776,741 335,597
Charged to the consolidated income & AR 4R & U a5 R 1R

statement during the year (note 10)  (Ff5E10) 528,595 460,067
Payment for the year FEMNR (135,742) (18,923)
At 31 December MW12A31H 1,169,594 776,741

According to the requirements of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT (/R # A R H£ M E £ i
18 B 1716 0) effective from 1 January 1994, and
the Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT ( R #E A R 2 FNE + 112 (E
RETIEBIE R4 B) effective from 27 January 1995, all
gains arising from the sale or transfer of state-owned land
use rights, buildings and their attached facilities in Mainland
China are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% of the appreciation value, with an exemption
provided for the sale of ordinary residential properties ( & i@
Z (=) if their appreciation values do not exceed 20%
of the sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation
a provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth
in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon completion of the property development
projects and the tax authorities might disagree with the
basis on which the provision for LAT is calculated.
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29. DEFERRED TAX 29. IREFI IR
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the RERE BTG AR 2R P R IR L 7 1 &
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: ERAEFENAT:
Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FTR ARBTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised  H&R& B TSR 3K AR FE R B

in the consolidated statement of EERIAE EF R
financial position 276,421 186,418
Deferred tax liabilities recognised RERE B TSR 3R R HEREY
in the consolidated statement of EEFIE B E
financial position (706,160) (543,266)
(429,739) (356,848)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRREEHBEERBEMNEFWOT
the year are as follows:
Revaluation
Withholding on investment Provision
tax properties of LAT Total
it
BB REWEEMR BERRE Fob
RMB'000 RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
At 1 January 2010 R201041 A18 (34,085) (401,819) 76,614 (359,290)
Credited/(charged) to the ERNRGERERIA/
consolidated income statement (k%) (FtzE10)
during the year (note 10) (38,359) (69,003) 109,804 2,442
At 31 December 2010 and 2010128318 &
1 January 2011 201141 A1 (72,444) (470,822) 186,418 (356,848)
Credited/(charged) to the FRRGERERTA/
consolidated income statement (k) (HEE10)
during the year (note 10) (55,887) (107,007) 90,003 (72,891)
At 31 December 2011 Ro011E12A31A (128,331) (577,829) 276,421 (429,739)
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29. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) TEAEFLIE (&)

The Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately
RMB263,332,000 as at 31 December 2011 (2010:
RMB238,184,000) that can be carried forward for five
years from the year in which the losses arose for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the tax entity in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward only to the extent that the realisation
of related benefits through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets on
unutilised tax losses arising in the PRC of RMB263,332,000
as at 31 December 2011 (2010: RMB238,184,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the New Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The Group did not recognise deferred tax liabilities on
withholding tax arising from undistributed profit in Mainland
China of RMB1,283,310,000 as at 31 December 2011
(2010: RMB724,440,000) as in the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute all of
the earnings in the foreseeable future.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. g7
SHARES B 5
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Authorised: VARE. §
100,000,000,000 (2010: 100,000,000,0008% (2010
100,000,000,000) ordinary shares £ : 100,000,000,0000% )
of HK$0.1 each FIREEBE0.17TH
38 8,813,679 8,813,679
Issued and fully paid: BERITRETE:
2,400,000,000 (2010: 2,400,000,000/% (20104 :
2,400,000,000) ordinary shares of 2,400,000,0000% ) &%
HK$0.1 each HEEB 01T E B 211,528 211,528

31.

There were no transactions involving the Company’s issued
ordinary share capital during the current and prior years.

RESERVES
(A) GROUP

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 148 of the financial statements.

(i) Statutory surplus reserve

Transfers from retained profits to the statutory
surplus reserve were made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC, and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.
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31. RESERVES (Continued) 31. s (®)
(A) GROUP (Continued) (A) &=EE (@)
(i) Other reserve (i) H b
Certain amount of goodwill arising on the A Lt e I 2 AR R 2 T AE A
acquisition of non-controlling interests was AETHENERERASAM
recognised as other reserve. o
(B) COMPANY (B) XA H
Exchange
Share fluctuation Retained
premium reserve profits Total
RAEE HNERBMHE REFE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR
At 1 January 2010 #2010E1A1H 1,881,451 (14) 656 1,882,093

Total comprehensive income & 2 E A &%
for the year - (74,441) (51,078) (125,519
Proposed final dividend BIERERE (224,394) - - (224,394)

At 31 December 2010 and 2010128318 &
1 January 2011 R2011E1A1H 1,657,057* (74,455) (50,422)* 1,532,180

Total comprehensive income  FE 2 A &5

for the year - (74,158) (288,228) (362,386)
Proposed final dividend BRARHR 2 (77,802) = - (77,802)
At 31 December 2011 R2011E12A831H 1,579,255 (148,613) (338,650) 1,091,992
* These reserve accounts comprise the Company’s * ZEREERERBEAQRAA

reserves available for distribution amounting to HOERMNBEEZXARK
RMB1,240,605,000 (2010: RMB1,606,635,000). 1,240,605,0007C (20105 : A R

#1,606,635,0007T ) °
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32. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

In June 2010, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement with an independent third party for the
acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Shanghai
Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.(“Shanghai
Yuzhou Real Estate Development”)(formerly Shanghai
Xiersi Merchandise Co., Ltd.) at a cash consideration
of approximately RMB261.5 million. Up to the
date of acquisition, Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate
Development has not carried out any significant
business transactions except for holding a plot of
land in Shanghai, the PRC. The acquisition was
completed in June 2010 and Shanghai Yuzhou Real
Estate Development then became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

In September 2010, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement with an independent third party for
the acquisition of a 100% equity interest in Shanghai
Kangyi Property Development Co., Ltd.(“Shanghai
Kangyi”) at a cash consideration of approximately
RMB74.9 million. Up to the date of acquisition,
Shanghai Kangyi has not carried out any significant
business transactions except for holding a plot of land
in Shanghai, the PRC. The acquisition was completed
in September 2010 and Shanghai Kangyi then
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

In September and November 2010, the Group
entered into two share transfer agreements with
two independent third parties for the acquisition of
an aggregate of a 100% equity interest in Shanghai
Nankai Realty Co., Ltd. (“Nankai”) at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB142.3 million.
Up to the date of acquisition, Nankai has not carried
out any significant business transactions except for
holding a plot of land in Shanghai, the PRC. The
acquisition was completed in December 2010 and
Nankai then became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.
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32. WEEHI B 2 A

(@)
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32. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

(d) In June 2011, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement and a supplemental share
transfer agreement with an independent third party
for the acquisition of a 76.25% equity interest in
Xiamen Xiang’anwan Baseball and Softball Industrial
Investment Co., Ltd.(“Xiang’anwan Co.”) at an
aggregate cash consideration of approximately
RMB8.8 million. Up to the date of acquisition,
Xiang’anwan Co. has not carried out any significant
business transactions. The acquisition was
completed in June 2011 and Xiang'anwan Co. then
became a subsidiary of the Group.

33. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group had the following financial guarantees as at the
end of the reporting period:

32. WHEM B A 7] (&)

d 20115 6A AEERIANER S
KB4 A K #8,800,0007T Uk B8 =
PR EERREERERRAR
(TARERT])76.25%M A2
BB E = AL RDEE R
ERBTERMDER DR BEWE
HE - RN R W EEITEMNE
RNEBRZ Sz Wi E 7201146
AR AR ERARHER AR
SEMNHEBARF -

33. B I ¥E R

7N £2 (B 7 25 B [ 4 TR PR O B A A (R 40
T

Group
£ EE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®TTT
Guarantees in respect of BAEEMENETER
the mortgage facilities provided IR I8 B R M E B B AR
to certain purchasers of
the Group’s properties 4,171,657 3,205,720

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon
default on mortgage payments by these purchasers, the
Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks.
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33.

34.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

Under the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as security on the mortgage loans.
Upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and can
realise the pledged properties through open auction. The
Group is obliged to repay the banks for the shortfall if the
proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans, and ends upon
the earlier of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership
certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be
available within one to two years after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties; and (i) the settlement
of mortgage loans between the mortgage banks and the
purchasers.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair value
of the guarantees is not significant, and in the case of
default on payments, the net realisable value of the related
properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties. Therefore, no provision for the guarantees has
been made in the financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s banks loans which are secured by
the assets of the Group, are included in note 27(a) to the
financial statements.
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 35, &£ & E L5k
(A) AS LESSOR (A) EEAEHAEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) AEBRBESEHELHHEER
under operating lease arrangements, with leases Bz (MiEE15) - MAIEE AN T
negotiated for terms ranging from one to twenty 1E20F N & - EHEMNIGRR—
years. The terms of the leases generally also require M IR E A A TR B 2 WARIE
the tenants to pay security deposits and to provide ERTISRATERRAERES -
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions.
At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future 201112 A31 8 - AEERIKE
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable EFARTZA FHIFHEAR R H AT
operating leases with its tenants falling due as AR E TR & T R U R TR
follows: HESBREWT
Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREBTT
Within one year 1FE R 26,277 37,328
(B) AS LESSEE (B) fERAMEA
The Group leases certain of its office properties AEBERBCEHETHERE T
and office equipment under operating lease WAEMHERPAERME - AHH
arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms EANT1EIETE-
ranging from one to three years.
At 31 December 2011, the Group had total future 201186128318 * REBRFERN
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 5128 HA 9 2 B B9 1 AT BSR4 = A
operating leases falling due as follows: EMENHRRE LS REN
T
Group Company
PN | PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT AR%®Tx ARETR
Within one year 1ER 3,344 4,793 2,005 2,115
In the second to fifth years, 2&5F R (BIEEE
inclusive M) 835 3,020 835 2,996
4179 7,813 2,840 5111
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36. COMMITMENTS 36. FiE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed B B _E SCHT FES5 (b)Y 48 & FH & A
in note 35(b) above, the Group had the following capital AN 2N [ 7 R 2 HA 4 2R IRy Y B AR
commitments as at the end of the reporting period: EmT
Group
rEE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR T T
Contracted, but not provided for: EHESIEE S 2F
Investment properties under construction fEZIREYERIEEE
and properties under development 1,518,497 1,393,969
Acquisition of land use rights U BE £ b {50 PR 110,700 1,698,000
1,629,197 3,091,969
At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not R E AR A RE - AR RN EEME
have any significant commitments. RAEYE -
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 7. BELTRXS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed () BEFBREREMEB D FMAMETIH
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group RS REBHIN FRANE E HEEE
had the following transactions with related parties THRZGIT °
during the year.
Group
rEH
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R ARBTT
Service fees paid to Xiamen YR TFEMMEEE
Zongheng Group Communication & % AR A &
Management Co., Ltd.("Zongheng  ([#tEE AR ])
Communication Management Co.”) ) iR7% & 1,645 4,365
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)
Note:

The service fees were incurred for the design, installation
and testing of intelligence systems provided by Zongheng
Communication Management Co. in relation to properties
held for sale, at rate determined in accordance with terms
and conditions set out in the contracts entered into between
the relevant parties. Zongheng Communication Management
Co. is a company controlled by Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok.

COMPENSATION OF KEY
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF
THE GROUP

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the
directors of the Company represented the key
management personnel of the Group and details of
the compensation of whom are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

As at the end of the reporting period, certain bank
and other borrowings of the Group in the amount of
RMB960,438,000 (2010: RMB1,299,979,000) were
guaranteed by Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok, directors of
the Company, and in the amount of RMB810,438,000
(2010: RMB849,979,000) were secured by share
charge over 504,000,000 shares in the Company
held by Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok.

As at the end of the reporting period, certain
bank borrowings of the Group in the amount of
RMB12,000,000 (2010: Nil) were guaranteed by
Zongheng Co., a company controlled by Mr. Lam and
Ms. Kwok.
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38.

39.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Other than derivative financial liabilities being classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as
disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements, all financial
assets and liabilities of the Company and the Group as at
31 December 2011 and 2010 are loans and receivables
and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s
financial instruments as at 31 December 2011 and 2010
are approximate to their fair values.

The Group and the Company uses fair values measured
based on valuation techniques for which any inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments. As at 31
December 2011, the Group’s financial instruments which
comprise derivative financial liabilities were measured at fair
value and determined as level 2 financial instruments.

The Group and the Company did not have any financial
assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2011 and

31 December 2010.

The Group and the Company did not have any financial
liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. IR EIER BIZ MR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
and other borrowings and cash and short term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade payables,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are market risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

MARKET RISK

The Group’s assets are predominantly in the form of
prepaid land lease payments, investment properties,
properties under development and completed properties
held for sale. In the event of a severe downturn in the
property market, these assets may not be readily realised.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. Other than deposits held at banks, the Group does
not have significant interest-bearing assets. Restricted
deposits were held at banks in Mainland China at the same
saving rate as unrestricted deposits throughout the year.
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and
other borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group
has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk, and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

A reasonably possible change of 50 basis point in interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, would have no
material impact on the Group’s profit during the year and
there would be no material impact on other components of
the Group’s equity.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

All of the Group’s turnover and substantially all of the
Group’s operating expenses are denominated in RMB,
which is currently not a freely convertible currency. The
PRC Government imposes controls on the convertibility
of RMB into foreign currencies and, in certain cases, the
remittance of currency out of Mainland China. Shortages in
the availability of foreign currencies may restrict the ability
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit sufficient foreign
currencies to pay dividends or other amounts to the Group.

Under the existing PRC foreign exchange regulations,
payments of current account items, including dividends,
trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions,
can be made in foreign currencies without prior approval
from the State Administration for the Foreign Exchange
Bureau by complying with certain procedural requirements.
However, approval from appropriate PRC governmental
authorities is required where RMB is to be converted into a
foreign currency and remitted out of Mainland China to pay
capital account items, such as the repayment of bank and
other borrowings denominated in foreign currencies.

Currently, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries may purchase
foreign currencies for settlement of current account
transactions, including payment of dividends to the
Company, without prior approval of the State Administration
for Foreign Exchange Bureau. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries may also retain foreign currencies in their
current accounts to satisfy foreign currency liabilities or
to pay dividends. Since foreign currency transactions
on the capital account are still subject to limitations
and require approval from the State Administration for
Foreign Exchange Bureau, this could affect the Group’s
subsidiaries’ ability to obtain required foreign exchange
through debt or equity financing, including by means of
loans or capital contributions from the Company.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities including certain
amounts due from/to related parties denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, certain short term deposits denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and certain bank and other borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars are subject to foreign currency risk. Therefore, the
fluctuations in the exchange rates of RMB against foreign
currencies could affect the Group’s results of operations.

There are limited hedging instruments available in Mainland
China to reduce the Group’s exposure to exchange rate
fluctuations between the RMB and other currencies.
To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk. While the Group may
decide to enter into hedging transactions in the future,
the availability and effectiveness of these hedges may
be limited and the Group may not be able to hedge the
Group’s exposure successfully, or at all.

A reasonably possible change of 1% in the exchange rate
between the Hong Kong dollar or United States dollars
and the Renminbi would have no material impact on the
Group’s profit during the year and this would result in an
increase/(decrease) in other components of the Group’s
equity by RMB20,627,000 (2010: RMB23,914,000) in
2011.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

It is the Group’s policy that all customers are required to
pay deposits in advance of the purchase of properties. In
addition, the Group does not have any significant credit
risk as the credit given to any individual or corporate entity
is not significant. There is no significant concentration of
credit risk within the Group.

On top of the credit risk arising from the financial
guarantees provided by the Group as detailed in note 33,
the credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
mainly comprise cash and short term deposits, other
receivables and amounts due from related parties, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
and other borrowings. In addition, banking facilities are
available for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. AR EIES B Z MR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) REBE SRR @
Group A&
At 31 December 2011
®2011E12A31A
On demand
or within In the 3to5 Beyond 5
1year second year years years Total
REX
FIFR EpL 3E5F 5FLE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR®Tn AR%TR AR¥Tn AR®Tx
Interest-bearing bank and AERTREMEE
other borrowings 1,791,143 1,861,245 2,824,695 296,795 6,773,878
Trade payables g5 ENRE 1,333,536 585,300 - - 1918845
Other payables and accruals HihERFIERENER 578,542 - - - 578,542
3,703,221 2,446,554 2,824,695 296,795 9,271,265
Financial guarantees issued: ERHERER:
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 33) = iERE 58 (Hi£33) 4,171,657 - - - 4,171,657
At 31 December 2010
201012 A31H
On demand
or within In the 3tob Beyond 5
1year  second year years years Total
FIER EPLA 3E5F 5% L @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARET:R
Interest-bearing bank and FEROTREMEE
other borrowings 1,252,156 464,419 3,374,942 335,546 5,427,063
Trade payables B SN HIE 679,738 234,409 = = 914,147
Other payables and accruals HiENRIEREFER 384,138 - - - 384,138
2,316,032 698,828 3,374,942 335,546 6,725,348
Financial guarantees issued: BEHSRMER:
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 33) = iEREE (Ki£33) 3,205,720 - - - 3205720
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40. M5 ERR EIRH B 1R MEUR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) MEE 2 B (@)
Company /N
At 31 December 2011
R2011F128318
On demand
or within In the 3to5
1year second year years Total
REXR
R1ER $2FER 3E5F @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR¥TR
Interest-bearing bank and TERITREMEER
other borrowings 330,848 1,022,585 1,531,131 2,884,564
Other payables and accruals HENFIARESER 48,023 - - 48,023
Due to subsidiaries B AR FUE 112,641 - - 112,641
491,512 1,022,585 1,531,131 3,045,228
At 31 December 2010
120106124318
On demand
or within In the 3t05
1 year second year years Total
BEX
FAFR F2ERN SE5E Bar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Other borrowings Hiof5 g 262,856 262,856 2,738,919 3,264,631
Other payables and accruals Hite N FIEREER 3,736 - = 3,736
Due to subsidiaries B A AR 38,087 - - 38,087
304,679 262,856 2,738,919 3,306,454
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

41.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total equity of the Company. Net
debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

40. M5 ERR EIRH B 1R MEUR

(&)

EXEE
AEBALERNEBEABHRRAL
B EGENED BRBROEALY
EUXERER ARABBREEREA
145 -

AEEEEEEAREYL F BB
EHHELAR REFAFAREDR
R AEEAUERABIN FERRAOK
B REEATERRIEITHR - AKE
RNRAEA SN B3 DN B A B RKPTARR
FREREANBR BRABFLE
EREE-

AEBMEREARNABLRERERN X
LR IREBFRERARNRA 2 R
BB -BERFEERFERTERR
HifEE BAREZREMASFED
MEZRHEE - RBEREERKER
BELERMT:

GROUP rEHE
2011 2010
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Interest-bearing bank and FERITRHEMEE
other borrowings 5,556,758 4,779,770
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BBHeREEEEY (1,440,378) (2,719,446)
Less: Restricted Cash WX RFIER S (516,159) (13,223)
Net debt B FER 3,600,221 2,047,101
Total equity of the Company RAFE=BRE 5,655,920 4,824,029
Gearing ratio BARBFHEE 63.7% 42.4%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2012.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and the prospectus of the Company dated 20

October 2009, is set out below:

RMBERNDERAE

—E——FFR

Five Years Financial Summary
IFHMBHRE

Year ended 31 December

AT BAREERBEERETBFERENFREAR
BE RAENMFEBERRE DEGACT
BB MR AR AR R B 8 320095
10A20B MRk ETE -

BZ12A31ALEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARET:
RESULTS E4
REVENUE WA 3,839,076 4,265,558 1,991,801 1,759,803 1,083,729
Cost of sales HEMA (1,954,615)  (2,488,175)  (1,003,672)  (1,010,236) (828,563)
Gross profit EM 1,884,461 1,777,383 988,129 749,567 255,166
Other income and gains O 93,366 18,402 5,410 6,499 329,699
Selling and distribution costs A& KD R AR (116,356) (64,426) (48,038) (42,398) (41,382)
Administrative expenses THAX (159,762) (106,225) (57,213) (61,396) (52,699)
Other expenses Hhfs (5,196) (3,789) (21,955) (24,357) (2,480)
Fair value gains on BEMEL BN
investment properties 478,180 276,015 932,094 108,088 73,396
Finance costs BB (156,238) (39,187) (1,158) (12,854) (1,299)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREE I 2,018,455 1,858,178 1,797,269 723,149 560,401
Tax W (1,025,247) (892,868) (703,237) (354,053) (182,886)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEH 993,208 965,305 1,094,032 369,096 377,515
Attributable to: A&7 A :
Owners of the Company AARIEAA 941,628 963,601 1,101,042 292,178 376,898
Non-controlling interests R ER 51,580 1,704 (7,010) 76,918 617
993,208 965,305 1,094,032 369,096 377,515
As at 31 December
®12A318
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARET:T
ASSETS, LIABILITIESAND &E - SERFERER
NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEBE 18,253,111 14502592 11,141,799 70273465 7,351,760
TOTAL LIABILITIES BERSE (12,597,191)  (9,768,563)  (7,312,382)  (6,260,225) (6,572,945
NON-CONTROLLING EERER
INTERESTS (304,622) (256,625) (124,173) (134,144) (107,494)
5,351,208 4,567,404 3,705,244 879,096 671,321
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MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

TEREME

Attributable
interest of
Project Location Use Tenure the Group
EH B R#& ik rEBEEGER
The Mall of Yuzhou World Phase | of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Commercial and Medium term 100%
Trade Center Phase | Lot No. 75, Xiahe Road, Xiamen, Fujian car parking lease
Province, the PRC space
Bl e B L —HEH HERREEMTERRETSS A RS hHHE 100%
RSN Z b —H
The Mall of Yuzhou World Trade Phase Il of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Commercial and Medium term 100%
Center Phase |l Lot No. 76, Xiahe Road, Xiamen, Fujian car parking lease
Province, the PRC space
Bl e ttBrh.L B TEEREEMMEAREOR RN BAREEL HHEE 100%
BHH=H
The Commercial Podium of Phase | of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Commercial Medium term 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International No. 333 Jingang Road, Pudong New Area, lease
Phase | Shanghai, the PRC
il SRR — M HE DEmER R & K333 B il hHHE 100%
SRER—8
The Commercial Podium of Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingjao International, Commercial Medium term 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Lane 50 Jinyu Road, Pudong New Area, lease
Phase Il Shanghai, the PRC
aille 2 BEKE - HEE TE LETRRAREREOFRMERE  BA hHEE 100%
[
The Commercial Podium of Phase IIl of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Jinyu  Commercial Medium term 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Road and Jinxian Road, Pudong New Area, lease
Phase lll Shanghai, the PRC
Bille 2R = g HEDEMERTREREEEREMNE BF RAHE 100%
BEE=H
Lot A of Yuzhou Haicang Lot A of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast, Commercial Medium term 100%
WTC Mall West of the Xinggang Road, Haicang District, lease
Xiamen, Fujian Province, the PRC
Sl /B At EEHAR TEEREEMTERREERARALE AR hHEE 100%
BNERLER
Lot B of Yuzhou Haicang Lot B of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast, West Commercial Medium term 100%
WTC Mall of the Xinggang Road, Haicang District, lease
Xiamen, Fujian Province, the PRC
Bille et ErEMBE TERREEMTMERREBEARNBLR  HA HHHEE 100%

BNERTER
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MAJOR PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
TEERME

Expected Attributable

Stage of completion interest of
Project Location Use Site area GFA  Completion date the Group
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
b 1]
EH L8 i} Rt ER BEEE RIRR BAHRIAN EiER
(F5%)  (FHK)
Yuzhou Oriental Venice Longjiang Village, Chengmen Town, Residential and 706,397 365,512 Under- December 2014 80%
Cangshan District, Fuzhou, Fujian commercial development
Province, the PRC
Bl e R 7 BB B FERRERBMTALREME EERHEA 706,397 365512 R 20145128 80%
BIH
Yuzhou International Hotel  East of Huli Avenue, South of Huandao Hotel 60,018 126,221 Under- March 2014 100%
East Road, Huli District, Xiamen, development
Fujian Province, the PRC
B o B A E TERREEMTHER i) 60,018 125221 @ 2014%3A 100%
RERBEAMAEABUR
Yuzhou Square North of Minggong Building, Hubin Office 3,333 60,251 Under- December 2013 100%
South Road, Siming District, development
Xiamen, Fujian Province, the PRC
Bl ES TERREEMTEBRNE BAE 3,333 60251 R 2013%12A 100%
HEEEAELH
Yuzhou Golf Maging Road, Haicang District, Residential and car 55,986 129,187 Under- December 2012 100%
Xiamen, Fujian Province, the PRC parking space development
BV PS TERREREMTEMTEAR EEREEN 55,986 129,187 @ 20124 12A 100%
BEH®
Yuzhou Shoreline Area of 05-11, East of Xinggang Residential and 107,622 473,184 Under- April 2014 100%
Road and North of Jiaosong Road, commercial development

Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian
Province, the PRC

B eBE HEERE BT RR05-11 EEREA 107,622 473,184 EE 2014544 100%
RE EERNE - ABKNL

Yuzhou Central Coast Area of 11-10, East of Xingbin Road Residential and 123,240 663,537  Under- May 2014 100%
and North of Xingdong Road, Jimei commercial development
District, Xiamen, Fujian Province,
the PRC

BiferiER FEREERMTRXRI1-10AE EEREA 123,240 663587 R 2014451 100%

DR BRI

Yuzhou Riverside City Area of 12-07, North of Movie & Residential and 284,414 512,600 Under- November 2013 51%
Town TV City, South Wuxian Area, commercial development
Tongan District, Xiamen,
Fujian Province, the PRC
Bl o EIR HERREENTRZE-07 EEREA 284,414 512600 EE 20135114 51%
REERERZSEHILA
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MAJOR PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

FTEERYE &)
Expected Attributable
Stage of completion interest of
Project Location Use Site area GFA  Completion date the Group
(sq.m) (sq.m.)
s 1]
A L8 i} b EE BEER RIER AHARIAH 30 3
(FAK) (FAHK)
Yuzhou Castle above City ~ Fanghu, Huli District, Xiamen, Fujian Residential and car 52,7115 193,720 Under- December 2012 98%
Province, the PRC parking space development
B o L34 HEEREEP A ZRH M EEREEN 52,715 198720 #HR 201212R 98%
Yuzhou Skyline West of Songlin Road, Northeast Residential and 446,757 1,230,269  Under- June 2015 100%
of Planning Road, Ranfang commercial development
Village, Tachua Town, Feixi County,
Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC
Biff e K5 REZBESETERSEHTEARE  ETRER 446,757 1230269 &R 2015%6A 100%
HE SR vl
Yuzhou City Plaza Phase  South New Zone of Huian County, Residential and 125,000 491,800 Under- May 2014 100%
Quanzhou, Fujian Province, the commercial development
PRC
B e M ES—H4 FERRERMNTRRENEHE EEREA 125,000 491800 EE 2014557 100%
MAJOR COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
FERFFHENRINE
Expected Attributable
Stage of completion interest of
Project Location Use Site area GFA  Completion date the Group
(sq.m.) (sa.m.)
rEE
EH g iikod Eib R BEEAE RIKR EHRIRY Eih R
(%) (FR)
Yuzhou University City Tongji Road, Xike Town, Tongan Residential and 90,750 480,252  Completed N/A 100%
District, Xiamen, Fujian Province, commercial
the PRC
Bl e KB TERREEMTRZE EEREA 90,750 480252 BRI TER 100%
RGeS
Yuzhou Gushan No. One  Niushan Village, Yangli, Gushan Town, Residential and car 234,160 88,287  Completed N/A 60%
Jinan District, Fuzhou, Fujian parking space
Province, the PRC
B e HIL—3% TERREBMNTERERLAFE AETREER 234,160 88287 BHI TER 60%

SalLif
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www.xmyuzhou.com.cn

Principal administration and
management center in the PRC
FEEETHEREEH L

39 West Hubin Road
Xiamen Fujian
People’s Republic of China

HhEE AR

Principal place of business
in Hong Kong
BETEEE I

Units 4905-06, 49th Floor
The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

BEBRIR
SR ANEF IR
FRIRA D
491£4905-06F
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